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1. INTRODUCTION

The theme for this paper is Transparency in Financial Reporting, Good Disclosure
Practices for Central Banks. While the emphasis is on transparency in the accounting
framework and disclosure practices of central banks, it is appropriate to set the broader
framework for transparency. The financial crisis in Asta convinced the IMF of the value of
transparency, which it has set out to promote under the development of the Code of Good
Practices on Transparency in Monetary and Financial Policies

The introduction of safeguard assessments for users of Fund resources has also
increased the importance of transparent reporting in compliance with internationai standards.
This paper offers practical guidance to those responsible for preparing central bank financial
statements to enable the publication of statements consistent with international standards.

The working paper is based on the papers presented to a central bank accounting
workshop held at the JVI in Vienna in April 2000. Contributors to the paper are
Ms, Janet Cosier (Bank of Canada), Mr. Freidrich Karrer {(Austrian National Bank),
Mr. Richard Perry (Reserve Bank of New Zealand), Mr. Arne Petersen (IMF) and
Mr. Kenneth Sullivan (IMF).

The paper draws heavily on the example of the 1999 Financial Statements for the
Reserve Bank of New Zealand. These statements won first prize for the annual report in their
category in the national competition run by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New
Zealand. Following the conceptual chapters, the paper presents an appendix that maps out
how International Accounting Standards are reflected in the RBNZ 1999 Financial
Statements. The final appendix is a replication of the RBNZ 1999 Financial Statements. The
chapters, where appropriate, should be read with reference to these appendices. The RBNZ
financial statements may also be viewed on the RBNZ web site at www.rbnz.govt.nz.

* Available on the IMF external web page, along with the supporting document at
www imf.org/external/np/mae/mft/index.htm.




II. TRANSPARENCY IN STRENGTHENING THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY SYSTEM AND
THE ROLE OF THE IMF

A. Introduction

The successive financial crises in different regions of the world over the past two
decades, and the more recent crises in Asia and Russia that spread across other regions in
particular, have ied to much reflection and analysis in various international bodies on ways to
strengthen the international financial system. A special G-22 Working Group on
Transparency and Accountability was formed in 1998 to focus particular attention on this
topic, and it issued a comprehensive report.

A consensus has emerged that inadequate transparency by international organizations,
national governmental units, and private sector entities was a contributing force to the serious
financial disturbances that have plagued the global economy. The conclusion was reached
that markets cannot function efficiently, and that they will continue to be highly vulnerable to
instability, in the absence of adequate, reliable, and timely information from all quarters.
Lack of accurate and timely information on economic and financial developments and
policies, particularly in an environment of economic and financial weakness, aggravates the
weakness and contributes to the emergence of crises situations.

From this discussion, the Fund produced the Code of Good Practices on Transparency
in Monetary and Financial Policies. As well, the Fund continues to develop its Special Data
Dissemination Standards (SDDS) as another avenue for enhancing international
transparency.

A number of other standard-setting bodies dealing with other financial sector-related
areas (such as accounting, auditing, banking regulation and supervision, bankruptcy,
corporate governance, insurance regulation, payment system and securities market
regulation) are also active in developing standards relevant for a better functioning financial
system. The focus of these standards typically is broader than transparency. However,
transparency and disciosure practices are covered in these standards as well, and thus have
relevance to the Fund’s Code of Good Practices on Transparency in Monetary and Financial
Policies.

3 Prepared by Mr. Arne B. Petersen and Mr. Kenneth Sullivan.



B. The Code —Its Underlying Rationale and Main Elements

What is meant by transparency? For purposes of the Code, transparency for central
banks refers to an environment in which the objectives of monetary poticy, its legal,
imstitutional, and policy framework, monetary policy decisions and their rationale, data and
itformation related to monetary policies, and the terms of central bank accountability are
provided to the public on an understandable, accessible and timely basis. Thus, the code
covers a much wider area than transparent accounting. But transparency in accounting is the
basis on which other elements rest.

The Code covers both monetary policies and financial policies (i.e., the policies
related to the regulation, supervision and oversight of banking, insurance, securities, payment
systems, and deposit insurance). These two sets of policies are interrelated and often
matually reinforcing. The full benefits to be derived from good transparency practices in the
monetary policy area cannot be achieved without complementary good transparency
practices in the financial policy area, and vice versa. This chapter focuses on the part related
to central banks.

The first part of the Code, “Good Transparency Practices for Monetary Policy by
Central Banks,” is organized into four sections, each representing an aspect of transparency
practices: (1) clarity of roles, responsibilities, and objectives of central banks; (2) the
processes for formulating and reporting monetary policy decisions; (3) public availability of
information on monetary policies; and (4) accountability and assurances of integrity by the
central bank.

The design of transparency practices for central banks in the Code rests on two
principles. First, monetary policies can be made more effective if the public knows and
understands the goals and instruments of policy and if the authorities make a credible
commitment to meeting them. Second, good govermnance calls for central banks to be
accountable, particularly where monetary authorities are granted a high degree of autonomy,
By publishing adequate information about its activities, the central bank can establish a
mechanism for strengthening its credibility by matching its actions to its public statements, It
is here that the transparency code and the accounting function intersect. Central bank
accounting and reporting systems must be set up in such a way that the central bank provides
the public with meaningful and transparent information.

Chairman Alan Greenspan of the Federal Reserve Board, at the Tercentenary
Symposium of the Bank of England in 1994, reflected on the case for transparency for central
banks in the following insightful manner:

“.... if we are going to have independent central banks then implicit in that
independence is accountability. You cannot in a democratic society have an institution which
1s fully or partly dissociated from the electoral process and which has powers that centrat



banks inherently have. So the question really amounts to how does one position the central
bank with respect to the issue of disclosure and accountability—which are related questions.

“The position that we [the Federal Reserve] take is that the burden of proof is against
the central bank: that is, we have to demonstrate that either delayed disclosure or non-
disclosure is a policy which is required for us to implement our statutory goals. We have
struggled with this, and have concluded that we should make available to the electorate what
it is we think, why we are doing what we are doing and in a general way under what
conditions we would behave differently,” ( pp. 252-253, Forest Capie, Charles Goodhart,
Stanley Fischer and Norbert Schnadt, The Future of Central Banking, Cambridge University
Press, 1994),

Transparency for central banks is not an end in itself, nor should transparency be
considered as a substitute for pursuing sound policies. Transparency and sound policies
should be seen complements.

C. Transparency in Financial Statements of Central Banks

The annval report, including the annual financial statements, is a key for central
banks t0 meet their accountability obligations. These statements reveal the results of the
central bank’s functional activities on its balance sheet as well as the use it has made of the
resources at its disposal. One does not need to look far to see examples of where the central
bank’s financial reports have been used by opposition politicians to launch criticisms of both
the government and central bank. As the ability to question performance is an essential
component of accountability, those preparing annual financial statements carry the
responsibility of presenting them so that they provide an accurate pictare of the financial
results of central bank operations in a manner that can be defended in terms of an
internationally credible framework. Such presentation will direct criticism to appropriate
areas, so reducing the possibility of the independence of the central bank being constrained
and its operational effectiveness reduced.

Experience repeatedly shows that the best defense to criticism is through open and
transparent disclosure as this removes the risk of the hugely damaging consequences that
occur when it is revealed that disclosures have been less than total. It is difficult to overstate
the importance of the role of transparency in ensuring the maintenance of central bank
independence and discharging its accountability obligations.

The importance of transparent reporting practices for central banks extend beyond
their immediate institutional interests as they make an important contribution to establishing
the credibility of a nation’s financial system. As economies evolve and seek to establish their
positions in the international market place, the national reporting framework becomes
important to an expanded group of users. Central bank financial statements may be published
or posted on the Internet where they can be read internationally. Opinions formed on the



robustness of financial reporting frameworks from reading such documents contribute to
judgements about the integrity and stability of the national financial system.

In the absence of a well-developed set of generally accepted accounting practices
(GAAP) within a country, the published reports of authoritative institutions are used to
determine what is best practice. By default, central bank disclosures make a material
contribution to what is accepted as the nation’s GAAP, as commercial banks and other
financial sector participants adopt them. Transparent central bank financial statements make
it easier for bank supervisors to demand a similar level of disclosure from the commercial
banks that they supervise. Transparent disclosures by commercial banks are an integral part
of the process of establishing and maintaining a robust framework for the commercial
banking system. In situations of emerging systems of GAAP, central banks have a valuable
role to play in advancing the level of clarity and openness of disclosure.

For most transition economies the evolution of the accounting profession and the
standard setting framework in terms of market based disclosures is still developing. This can
create potential problems for the production of internationally credible financial reports.
Those who are not market participants and who have a conflict of interest, such as
maximizing taxable revenue, may control standard setting. The chapter recognizes these
tensions and seeks to enhance understanding of the conceptual framework upon which
central banks base their reporting.

The basis of the chapter’s framework is International Accounting Standards as these
provide an agreed minimum conceptual framework for reporting. IAS evolved from demands
by the international marketplace and are gaining increasing acceptance as the foundation
from which all national standards should evolve. Given their international credibility they
provide a robust framework upon which to base and defend reporting disclosure upon.
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III. APPLYING IAS 1 AND IAS 30 10 CENTRAL BANK REPORTING?

A. Introduction

This chapter provides an overview of issues associated in applying International
Accounting Standard 1—Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1) and International
Accounting Standard 30—Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar
Financial Institutions (IAS 30) to central bank reporting. The issues discussed include:

* an overview of the external reporting model, types of information to be disciosed and the
reasons it is required in market economies;

» the role and main components of financial statements inciuding the fundamental concepts
for preparing financial statements;
users of central bank financial statements and their needs; and
issues in applying aspects of IAS 1 and IAS 30 to each of the main components of the
financaal sstatements. This excludes the Statement of Cash Flows which is subsequently
discussed.

This chapter should be considered in conjunction with the detailed requirements of
IAS 1 and IAS 30. These detailed requirements are presented in a separate chapter that has
been designed to assist central bank accountants prepare financial statements in accordance
with IAS 1 and IAS 30.°

A. Overview of the External Reporting Model

Public and private sector entities are in business for a variety of reasons such as profit
maximization or the achievement of outcomes that can benefit society. The business process
will involve each entity entering various business arrangements and transacting with one
another in the exchange and consumption of economic resources. These business transactions
can range from being relatively simple to extremely complex and can be completed in
different countries with different laws governing the business arrangements and transactions.

4 Prepared by Mr. Richard Perry.

" See Chapter VII, “International Accounting Standard 7-—Statement of Cash Flows™.

% See Appendix I, “Summary of International Accounting Standard Disclosure
Requirements—IAS 1, IAS 7, IAS 21, IAS 30, IAS 32, and IAS 39.
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Each party entering business arrangements will be concerned about the overall
financial health of the entities they undertake business with. These concerns include the
ability of the entity to pay any amounts owing to them, whether the entity will continue to
exist in the future, how successful the entity has been in generating profits and the risks the
entity has exposed itself to in various business undertakings. More specifically, external
parties will seek information about an entity’s business transactions and performance in order
1o:

make decisions about providing resources to, or do business with, the entity;
assess management’s stewardship of the resources entrusted to it;
assess the entity’s current and potential ability to generate profits and cash flows; and

assess the entity's compliance with laws and business contracts to the extent that these
impact and affect the outcomes the entity is seeking to achieve.

External parties will generally obtain the above information from the entity’s annual
report that includes general-purpose financial statements. General-purpose financial
statements are intended to provide information to users who are not in a position to demand
tailored financial reports to meet their specific information needs. This reflects that some
users are unable to extract relevant and timely information from their business partners in
order to make decisions. Hence, they must rely on the information contained in the financial
statements as their major source of financial information to assist them in their decision
making. Users that have specific custodial or transaction monitoring requirements are usually
able to contract for their specific information purposes as part of the business contract. An
example of a specific financial information need is a commercial bank that can require a
party to a loan agreement to provide specific information before the loan is provided.

The need for general-purpose financial statements is well recognized internationally.
For example, several countries will require public companies to publish regular financial
statements as a condition of company registration. This is to ensure that information is
provided:

¢ thatis useful to present and potential investors, creditors and other users in making
rational investment, credit and similar decisions;

¢ to help current and potential investors, creditors and other users in assessing amounts,
timing and uncertainty of prospective cash receipts from dividends or interest, the
proceeds from the sale, redemption or maturity of securities or loans, the entity’s capital
transactions and other factors that affect liquidity;

¢ about the economic resources of an entity, the claims to those resources and the effects of
transactions, events and circumstances that change resources and claims to those
reSOurces;

e about an entity’s financial performance given by measures of earnings and its
components in order to help in assessing the prospects of an entity;

* about how management has discharged its responsibility to shareholders for the
stewardship of the entity’s resources; and
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e that is useful to management in making decisions in the interest of shareholders.

In addition, it is important to consider the connections between developments in
financial markets and the consequences for financial reporting. It is generally accepted that,
in an efficient market, security and share prices impound all publicly available information.
Lack of timely and accurate information can distort prices and heighten uncertainty. This in
turn can lead to increases in financial contracting costs as capital providers and capital users
try to protect themselves against information uncertainties. It can also lead to increases in
costly litigation after the fact, if it may be alleged that vital information was missing or
presented an inaccurate picture of the state of the entity’s affairs. In summary, information
uncertainties can increase the cost of capital to an entity.

In order to reduce the likelihood of information uncertainties arising, common
frameworks for financial reporting have been developed both domestically and
intemationally. These frameworks are designed to facilitate the provision of consistent and
reliable financial information. Such frameworks include the International Accounting
Standards that have been developed to assist in the preparation of general-purpose financial
statements. Preparation of financial information using frameworks such as International
Accounting Standards have been specifically developed to ensure that financial information
meet the diverse needs of general users who cannot require the business entity to provide
specific information. Compliance with such frameworks may assist entities to avoid the
information uncertainties that can otherwise increase the cost of capital.

It should be noted that the coverage of International Accounting Standards is
generally limited to financial statements and that annual reports will contain additional
information in other sections of the annual report.

B. The Role and Components of Financial Statements

IAS 1 describes financial statements as a structured financial representation of the
financial position of, and the transactions undertaken by, an entity. The objective is to
. provide information about the financial position, performance and cash flows of an entity that
1s useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. Financial statements also
show the results of management’s stewardship of the resources entrusted to it. To meet this
objective financial statemenis provide information about an entity’s:

(a) Assets;

(b} Liabilities;

(©) Equity;

(d) Income and expenses, including gains and losses; and
(e) Cash flows. '
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This information, along with other information in the notes to financial statements,

assists users in predicting the entity’s future cash flows and in particular the timing and
certainty of the generation of cash and cash equivalents.

TAS 1 explains that a complete set of financial statements includes:
accounting policies;
a balance sheet;
an income statement;
a statement showing either all changes in equity or changes in equity other than those
arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners;
a cash flow statement; and
explanatory notes.

These financial statement components interrelate because they reflect different

aspects of the same transactions or other events. Although each component provides
information that is different from the others, none is likely to serve only a single purpose or
provide all the information needs for all users. Hence, the information contained in the notes
to the accounts is of equal importance as the major statements such as the balance sheet and
income staiement.

In addition, 1AS 1 outlines fundamental concepts for account preparation including:

Going concern—the assumption that the business will continue to operate into the future
(i.e., the business will not be liquidated or cease trading).

Accrual basis—transactions are recognized as they occur and reported in the periods o
which they relate. This recognizes that some cash outlays will benefit several future
periods——for example, the purchase of an asset will provide benefits to future reporting
periods and the costs of the asset are allocated to each period through capitalization and
depreciation of the asset.

Consistency—presentation and classification of items in financial statements should be
consistent between periods. Where the presentations or classifications are changed, the
comparative information should be changed to reflect the new basis.

Materiality—each material item should be presented in the financial statements and
immaterial items should be aggregated. It is important to recognize that materiality
encompasses both materiality by amount and materiality by nature. For example, entering
a low value transaction may have extremely important risk consequences for the entity
that are important to disclose to the users of the financial statements. In this context,
information is material if non-disclosure is likely to influence the economic decisions of
the financial statement users.
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C. Users of Central Bank Financial Statements and their Needs

In order to better understand what we want central bank financial statements to say,

we should identify the users of the financial statements and what information they require.
For a central bank, the users might include:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

The stakeholders including taxpayers and government. Stakeholders may be
concerned with the central bank stewardship of public monies. As central banks use
public money, they have a responsibility to display an appropriate level of care in
managing these funds and using resources efficiently to perform their functions. In
particular, these users may wish to assess the accountability of management when
deciding whether or not to reappoint or replace them. Given the increasing
independence being granted to central banks, governments may use financial
statements as a major means of applying central banks accountability. Financial
statements may also provide the basis for calculating the annual dividend to be paid (o
government.

Commercial banks. Many central banks prescribe the external reporting requirements
of commercial banks. Commercial banks may look to the central bank for examples of
appropriate and best practice disclosure.

External suppliers and lenders. The central bank may purchase goods and services,
or borrow funds from, other domestic and international suppliers who are interested in
the ability of the central bank to meet their obligations as they fall due.

Credit rating agencies and financial markets. The relative position of the central
bank may provide information to credit rating agencies and financial markets on the
resources of the central bank and the ability of the central bank to be effective in
meeting its stated policy objectives. This may impact on the overall credit rating of the
country or risk premium demanded by international financial markets. For example,
specific information may be sought on foreign reserves and the ability of the central
bank to meet exchange rate objectives.

Purchasers of central bank services. Central banks may provide certain services such
as payment system mechanisms. Customers of these services will be interested in the
extent to which the central bank provides these services on commercial terms and the
level of profit generated by such services.

The needs of these users can generally be met by providing information on the:

economic resources under control of the central bank;
legal and economic obligations of the central bank;

~ inflows and increases in economic resources and consumption or declines in economic

resources of the central bank;



- 15 -

cost information on central bank operations;

futare risks to the maintenance of the resources of the ¢entral bank;

potential obligations and resources not yet measured by the central bank and why;
level of transactions with parties related to the central bank including unconsolidated
subsidiaries; and

¢ methods used to portray and measure the actual economic resources.

This information will generally be provided through various components of the
central bank financial statements.

D. Accounting Policies

Accounting policies allow the users of central bank financial statements to understand
how the economic resources of the central bank have been measured and portrayed in the
financial statements. In particular, the accounting policies should describe the measurement
basis used in preparing the financial statementis and disclose each specific accounting policy
that is necessary for a proper understanding of the financial statements.

It is suggested that the accounting policies should be the first component of the
financial statements to be presented. This recognizes that the accounting polices will
determine how the financial statements measure and portray the position and performance of
the central bank. On this basis, they can be considered as the “window” through which the
financial statements portray and interpret the actual events and transactions of the central
bank.

In deciding whether a specific accounting policy should be disclosed, consideration
should be given as to whether disclosure would assist users in understanding the way in
which transactions and events are reflected in the reported performance and financiat
position. For example, it is important to understand the basis on which assets are valued and
how both realized and unrealized gains and losses are treated in the income statement and
balance sheet.

An objective for central bank accountants is to select accounting policies so that the
financial statements comply with all the requirements of each applicable International
Accounting Standard and Interpretations. Where there is no specific requirement, accounting
policies should ensure that the financial statements provide information that is relevant to the
decision-making needs of users and are reliable in that they:

faithfully represent the results and financial position of the central bank;
reflect the economic substance of events and transactions;

are neutral, that is free from bias;

are prudent; and

are complete in all material respects.
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Specific issues to consider in disclosing accounting policies include:

(a)

(b)

©

Financial instruments. Financial instuments will often comprise a significant
proportion of a central bank’s resources and account for a significant amount of the
overall financial performance. Financial instruments can be subject to various
measurement practices (such as historic cost or market value) or may not even be
recorded within the financial statements (i.e., they are off balance sheet). Consideration
should be given to including detailed disclosure in the accounting polices of the way in
which these financial instruments are accounted for including the measurement base
used and how they are recognized in the financial statements. This detailed disclosure
may provide an appropriate example for commercial bank disclosure as information on
financial instrument recognition and measurement is an integral part to understanding
the profitability and health of commercial banks.

Changes in accounting policies. Accounting policies should also include an
explanation on whether or not there have been changes made in any specific accounting
policies. Where changes have been made, the reason should be disclosed and the
impact on the current and prior periods should be explained.

Disclosure of supplementary information. The accounting polices are a useful
component of the financial statements for disclosing information required by the
International Accounting Standards, including the entity’s name, legal status, the
reporting group, whether the financial statements comply with International
Accounting Standards and whether the fundamental accounting assumptions such as
accrual accounting and going concern have been applied.

E. Balance Sheet

The balance sheet reflects the economic resources under the control of the central

bank and the legal and economic obligations of the central bank. This provides information
on the financial structure, liquidity and solvency of the central bank.

The applicaﬁon of IAS 1 and IAS 30 to central bank balance sheets raises several

issues including disclosure:

of current and long-term categories of assets and liabilities versus disclosure in broad
order of liquidity;

in the face of the balance sheet or notes to accounts; and

of equity and reserves.
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Current/non-current versus order of liquidity

TAS 1 requires an entity to determine, based on the nature of its operations, whether
or not to present current and non-current assets and current and non-current liabilities as
separate classifications on the face of the balance sheet. When an entity chooses not to make
this classification, assets and liabilities shouid be presented broadly in order of their liquidity.
However, TIAS 30 suggests banks should present a balance sheet that groups assets and
liabilities by nature and lists them in an order that reflects their relative liquidity.

Central banks will usually have significant levels of financial assets and liabilities.
Hence, it is likely that presentation will be most appropriately made in broad order of
liquidity, as many assets and liabilities will be able to be realized or settled in the near future.

Face of balance sheet versus notes to the accounts

Both IAS 1 and TAS 30 detail several items that should be considered for disclosure
in the face of the balance sheet. In determining the appropriate presentation on the face of the
balance sheet, consideration should be given to how the presentation could best reflect the
underlying business operations of the central bank. The objective would be for a user of the
financial statements to be able to understand the significant economic resources and
obligations of the central bank by reviewing the balance sheet.

For example, the Reserve Bank of New Zealand (RBNZ) applies a distinction
between local and foreign currency assets and liabilities. This reflects that the RBNZ holds
foreign currency assets primarily for the purpose of managing New Zealand’s foreign
reserves. Local currency assets and liabilities arise from monetary policy implementation,
banking operations and provision of circulating currency. Within the local and foreign
currency splits, assets and liabilities are presented in broad order of liquidity and any specific
items required to be disclosed by accounting standards are included either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the notes to the accounts.

In addition, the RBNZ approach has been to identify a common set of balance sheet
asset and liability definitions that are adopted throughout the notes to the accounts.
Specificaily, this allows disclosure relating to balance sheet risks (such as credit risk, interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk) to be presented by a common set of balance sheet
classifications. The conceptual rationale is that the same elements of the balance sheet can be
considered in light of the different risks that arise. This allows users who seek information on
specific risks, such as the RBNZ exposure to credit risk, to relate the balance sheet amounts
to credit risk arising on those amounts.

It should be also noted that the RBNZ has deliberately attempted to increase
transparency of balance sheet presentation through disclosure of summarized explanation of
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major balance sheet changes and references to the notes to the accounts for further
information.

Equity and reserves

IAS 1 details several disclosures required in the balance sheet with respect to share
capital. These disclosures may not be applicable to central bank circomstances given that
central banks are not always funded through share capital.

Disclosure of reserve information is very important in central bank circumstances to
allow users to understand the reasons why reserves are maintained. This disclosure should be
accompanied by a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve class.

F. Income Statement

The income statement provides information concerning the performance of the central
bank and in particular its profitability. This information can assist understanding how
economic resources have been increased and consumed by the central bank. The reporting of
central bank profitability may be useful in those business circumstances where profit
objectives exist. For example, the RBNZ provides security registry and transfer services on
commexcial terms with profit objectives. Profit information allows users to understand the
extent to which profit objectives have been achieved.

In addition, central banks may charge for the provision of certain services (such as
banking services to the public sector and government). Profit information allows users to
understand the extent to which the profit generated from these activities is excessive or
comparable to the profits generated by commercial suppliers of similar services.

However, the disclosure of central bank profit is often an inappropriate measure of
central bank performance. This is relevant where central bank profit largely arises from the
consequences of implementing monetary policy and from the monopoly provision of
currency. The profit generated in these circumstances will usuatly arise as a consequence of
the monetary policy actions of the central bank. The central bank may influence interest rates
in order to achieve inflation objectives and the profit the central bank earns as a consequence
of the monetary policy actions is secondary to achieving the inflation objectives. A better
measure of performance in these circumstances is information that explains the inflation
objectives and the success of the central bank in meeting the inflation objectives. The more
important financial information is the operating costs the central bank has incurred in
achieving these inflation objectives.

The disclosure of cost information is usually a better indicator of financial
performance as it demonstrates whether the central bank has been efficient in achieving its
policy objectives. For example, has central bank spending been excessive in trying to meet
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the policy objectives. Disclosure of cost information allows users to review the central bank
stewardship of public resources. This disclosure of cost information can be used to
demonstrate that the central bank has been efficient and responsible in using public
resources. This can enhance the central bank’s creditability and reduce the potential for
political interference. Hence, the disclosure of central bank cost information can contribute (o
obtaining and preserving greater central bank independence.

Consideration can be given to complimenting the traditional income statement with a
statement that discloses financial performance by reference to the material business
operations of the central bank. This approach can refer to the “outputs” or goods and services
that the central bank produces. This approach may satisfy the functional presentation
requirements suggested by IAS 1, but is not a specific requirement of IAS 1 or IAS 30. The
RBNZ presents two income statements, one in the traditional fashion and one by reference to
the outputs of the RBNZ. These statements include performance relative to budget and
explain any significant budget variances to enhance transparency.

IAS 1 and IAS 30 prescribe certain information to be included on the face of the
income statement or in the notes to the accounts. The IAS 30 classifications are more
appropriate to central bank circumstances, as the TAS 1 approach is the more traditional
approach designed for businesses that make and sell physical goods. The IAS 1 approach
uses a “gross profit” concept where informaiion is provided on income generated by sales of
goods less the cost of purchasing or making those goods. The net of this income and cost is
the “gross profit” of the entity that is available to meet operating costs before profit is
calculated.

However, the actual application of the IAS 30 approach should be carefully
considered as it facilitates analysis of profitability from a commercial bank perspective. In
particular, the approach has been designed to allow analysis of commercial banks’ interest
rate margin (i.e., the margin eamed through the lending and borrowing money in the banking
process), commercial bank trading activities and fee income. These profit categories are
usuaily not as relevant to central bank circumstances given the non-profit objectives of
central banks. Hence, the application of the IAS 30 approach should be tailored to the
specific circumstances of the central bank.

G. Changes in Equity and Reserves

This statement explains the changes in the central bank’s equity and reserves,
including distributions to stakeholders, increases of equity (by way of retained earnings or
contributions by stakeholders) and changes in various reserves. It should be noted that there
are currently proposals to combine this statement with the income statement in order to
present a single staternent dealing with comprehensive income.”’

7 See the Ga+1 position paper “Reporting Financial Performance: Proposals For Change”,
published by the G4+1 working group of accounting standard setters in August 1999. This is
{continued)
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H. Explanatory Notes to the Accounts

The financial statements also contain notes, supplementary schedules, and other
information that is relevant to the needs of users. This will include information concerning
future risks to the maintenance of the resources of the central bank, potential obligations and
resources not recognized in the financial statements of the central bank, and the reasons why
these potential obligations are not recognized.

Information that is not included on the face of the balance sheet or income statement
should be included in the notes to the accounts. Each item on the face of the balance sheet
should be cross-referenced to any related information in the notes.

IAS 30 contains specific disclosures to be included in the notes to the accounts. While
these disclosures may not be as relevant for central banks as commercial banks, careful
consideration should be given to setting an appropriate example for commercial banks where
relevant. The specific disclosures include:

(a) Contingencies and commitments (IAS 30, para. 26). This is to report any obligations
not recognized in the financial statements. This provides information concerning off
balance sheet transactions, potential obligations that may impact on liquidity and
solvency, and potential losses that are not recognized. This informnation is extremely
important as it allows users to understand any potential obligations of the central bank
that are not currently recognized in the financial statements. These potential obligations
may impact on future central bank finances and it is very important that comprehensive
and detailed information is provided so users can assess the probability and impact of
the potential obligations. For example, a central bank may be subject to a legal claim
that could have a material impact on the central bank if it was successful. Even if the
likelihood of the claim being proved was considered very low, the financial statements
should refer to the existence of the situation to alert users to the existence and the
potential impact of the legal claim. This provides the central bank with some defense to
critics in the event that a claim was proved that substantially reduced a future dividend
payment to government.

(b) In addition, central banks should carefully consider the rationale for recognizing
transactions off balance sheet as this may not be an appropriate exarple to commercial
banks.

available in the “exposure draft” section of “services” on the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of New Zealand’s website—www.icanz.co.nz.
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Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (IAS 30, para. 30). This information
allows users to assess the ability of the entity to meet obligations as they fall due and
understand the overall liquidity of the entity.

Concentrations of assets and liabilities (IAS 30, para. 40). Disclosure of significant
concentrations by geography and industry assists users 10 assess the degree of exposure
the entity has to any one sector. This 1s important to understand the risks the
organization may face if a particular region/country or industry experiences financial
difficulties. In addition, there is a requirement to disclose significant net foreign
currency disclosures to provide information regarding the degree of foreign currency
risk the entity faces. A significant net foreign currency concentration exposes an entity
to the risk arising from changes in foreign currency rates.

Losses on loans and advances (IAS 30, para. 43). This allows users to assess the
effectiveness of the entity in managing and providing for loan losses and in recovering
outstanding loans to customers.

General banking risks (IAS 30, para. 50). This information provides users with an
understanding of items such as general provisions for loan losses.

Assets pledged as security (IAS 30, para. 53). Banks will often pledge assets as
collateral for borrowing money. A common example is repurchase agreements where
money is advanced to external parties after an entity passes legal title of the assets
(usually marketable securities) to the counterparty. The purpose of this disclosure is to
allow readers to determine the value of assets available to creditors and the ability of
the entity to dispose of assets to meet liquidity requirements.

I. Summary

This chapter has provided an overview of issues associated in applying IAS 1 and

IAS 30 to central bank financial statements. Further disclosures conceming financial
instruments are presented in the chapter for Chapter IV that discusses IAS 32.
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IV. INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD 32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
DISCLOSURE AND PRESENTATION——CASE STIéDY OF THE. RESERVE BANK OF NEW
ZEALAND

B. Introduction

This chapter discusses issues for central banks in applying International Accounting

Standard 32 - Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (IAS 32). In addition, the
chapter considers the broader issue of appropriate financial instrument risk disclosures for
central banks. The issues discussed include:

the importance of financial instrament risk disclosures including an overview of key risks
associated with financial instruments; _

qualitative disclosures including disclosure of risk management policies and nature and
extent of activities;

quantitative risk disclosures including interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk,
Liquidity risk and fair values; and

offsetting financial assets and liabilities in balance sheet presentation.

The Reserve Bank of New Zealand’s (RBNZ’s) 199899 financial statements,

included as Appendix II, are used as a case study for various disclosures. However, it should
be noted that:

The RBNZ'’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of
New Zealand accounting standards. New Zealand accounting standards and disclosures
reflect requirements considered appropriate to the New Zealand legal and economic
situation and are not necessarily the same as the requirements of International Accounting
Standards.

New Zealand accounting standards have generally followed the developments of the
Anglo-American standards with their sirict standards of disclosures to provide relevant

- information for financial statement users. As such, they provide less room for discretion

on the part of the preparer of financial statements than International Accounting
Standards. New Zealand is an active participant in the development of International
Accounting Standards through membership of the G4+1 group of standard setters and

8 Prepared by Mr. Richard Perry.
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involvement in various working groups of the International Accounting Standards
Committee.”

e The New Zealand disclosures have been developed to refiect the specific economic
circumstances of the RBNZ operating under New Zealand laws. Laws and circumstances
may be different for other central banks and different methods of disclosure may be
appropriate. The objective should be to represent the underlying legal and economic
substance of the central bank within the local laws and circumstances.

A. Importance of Financial Instrument Risk Disclosures

Financial risk management has evolved substantially during recent years. This
reflects that the successful management of financial risks in a global economy has become a
complex activity. An entity can substantially change its financial risks very quickly by
entering into financial transactions including derivative instruments. For example, derivatives
may be used to modify a particular financial risk, to reduce or even eliminate exposure to it.
Alternatively, derivatives may be used as speculative tools to multiply the effects of changes
in interest rates, foreign currency rates or security prices.

The potential for large losses resulting from the use of financial instruments,
including derivatives, has been well demonstrated. For example, the use of derivative
transactions, combined with a poor risk management framework, contributed to the collapse
of Barings Bank PLC. The failure of Barings and other similar situations have heightened
public concern about the way in which the risks associated with financial instruments are
managed, measured and controlled. The resutlt is an increased demand for publicly available
information on the way entities manage and control the risks associated with their holdings of
financial instruments.

As previously discussed, relevant, reliable and timely financial mformatlon is of
crucial importance to the efficient operation of modern capital markets.!" Tnformation
uncertainties can increase the cost of capital to an entity. Accounting standard setters have

® The G4+1 consists of standard-setters from Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the United
Kingdom, the United States, and the IASC. The G4+1 is actively involved in seeking and
developing common solutions to financial reporting issues.

191t is noted that central banks do not typically enter into derivative instruments primarily for
speculative purposes. Central bank objectives tend to be more policy orientated rather than
profit orientated and derivative instruments are generally used to assist in the risk
management of financial assets and liabilities held for policy purposes.

1 See Chapter III, “Applying IAS 1 and IAS 30 to Central Bank Reporting”
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sought to reduce information uncertainties arising from involvement in financial instruments
by developing specific standards (including TAS 32) that detail disclosure requirements for
financial instruments. The importance of disclosure concerning financial instruments is
reinforced by a recent survey of trading and derivative disclosures published by the Basle
Committee and International Organization of Securities Commissions (FOSCO). These two
groups consider transparency of banks’ and securities firms’ activities and risks to be a key
element of an effectively supervised financial system as follows:

“Transparency, based on meaningful public disclosure, plays an important role in
reinforcing the efforts of supervisors in encouraging sound risk management practices and
fostering financial market stability”.”

This report suggests that financial institutions should:

¢ Provide financial statement users with a clear picture of their trading and derivatives
activities. They should disclose meaningful summary information, both qualitative and
quantitative, on the scope and nature of their trading and derivatives activities and
illustrate how these activities contribute to their earnings profile. They should also
disclose information on the major risks associated with their trading and derivatives
activities and their performance in managing these risks.

¢ Disclose information produced by their internal risk measurement and management
systems on their risk exposures and their actual performance in managing these exposures.
Linking public disclosure to internal risk management processes helps ensure that
disclosure keeps pace with innovations in risk measurement and management techniques.

While these recommendations are for derivative instrument disclosures, they are
equally relevant to disclosures concerning financial instruments in general.

The importance of disclosures concerning financial instruments is reflected in the
requirements of IAS 32. The objective of IAS 32 is to enhance financial statement users’
understanding of the significance of financial instruments to an entity’s financial position,
performance and cash flows. In particular, IAS 32 assists users-to understand the risks
associated with financial instruments including price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Each
of these risk types is defined as foliows:

(a) Pricerisk. IAS 32 identifies three types of price risk as foliows:

2 See “Recommendations for public disclosure of trading and derivatives activities of banks
and securities firms”, consultative paper issued jointly by the Basle Committee on Banking
Supervision and Technical Committee of [OSCO, February 1999, Internet address
WWW.108€0.01g.
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. Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rates.

e  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

. Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market.

(b) Credit risk. The risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing
to discharge 1ts obligations.

(¢) Liquidity risk. The risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an
inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

Financial statement nsers can generally obtain the information they require on the
risks arising from involvement in financial instruments through two types of disclosure:

o Narrative or qualitative disclosures. These explain the risks the entity 1s exposed 10;
how the entity evaluates these risks; how the entity uses financial instruments to manage
financial risks and major polices adopted to limit and control risk, This information will
allow financial statement users to understand why financial instruments are used and how
the risks arising from financial instruments are identified and managed.

« Quantitative disclosures. This information is used for evaluating the extent to which the
entity is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk or liquidity risk.
This information will allow the financial statement users to understand how much risk the
entity is exposed to.

Central banks will typically hold financial instruments as part of their operations.
Hence, central banks face financial risks in their own operations, so they need to be aware of
these risks and be able to identify and control them. Users of central bank financial
statements will be concerned with the extent to which the central bank is using financial
instruments in appropriate circumstances and that the central bank 1s appropriately managing
the risks that arise from involvement in financial instruments. Disclosures that demonstrate
the central bank is appropriately managing financial risks is important as the central bank is
managing public resources. The central bank can use these disclosures to demonstrate that
appropriate care and responsibility is being taken to manage these public resources.

Transparent qualitative and quantitative disclosure can demonstrate that the central
bank is aware of the risks associated with financial instruments and that these risks are being
appropriately managed. Even if the central bank deliberately chooses not to manage specific
risks arising from involvement in financial instruments, the disclosure of this information
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may enhance the credibility of the central bank. For example, a central bank could explain
the reasons why exposure to foreign currency risk is not managed in order to avoid external
criticism in the event the central bank incurs large unrealized foreign currency gains or
losses.

In addition, many central banks have a responsibitity for supervision of commercial
banks within their countries including the regulation of commercial bank disclosures. This
provides central banks with an opportunity to promote best practice in disclosure and
transparency concerning financial instruments in areas they have in common with
comumercial banks.

Similarly, the RBNZ is responsible for the supervision of commercial banks in New
Zealand. The New Zealand approach to supervision is based around public disclosures of
information. The failure of traditional supervisory approaches to prevent substantial bank
failures and the risk of moral hazard has caused the RBNZ to adopt a public disclosure
regime for commercial banks. As a result, commercial banks have, in some situations, looked
to the RBNZ practices to gain illustrations of best practice disclosure. Therefore, the RBNZ
has committed to preparing its financial statements according to best practice accounting and
disclosure requirements as applicable to a central bank. In pursuing this objective, the RBNZ
attempts (o set an example for commercial banks to follow {(where appropriate).

B. Narrative and Qualitative Disclosures

Qualitative disclosures provide management with an opportunity to explain the risk
management objectives of the central bank and how these objectives fit into the overall
central bank objectives. This can include information on the nature and extent of involvement
in financial instruments, risk management policies in general, specific risk management
policies for each of the major risk categories (i.e., the policies used for managing interest rate
risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk) and the accounting policies for
financial instruments.

Nature and extent of activities

TAS 32 requires disclosure of information about the nature and extent of the
mvolvement in financial instruments. Information on the nature and extent of involvement in
financial instruments allows the financial statement vsers to understand the central bank’s
business reasons for using financial instruments. For example, the central bank may explain
that financial instruments are used for specific policy purposes such as the implementation of
monetary policy. Alternatively, the central bank may use derivative financial instruments,
such as forward foreign exchange contacts, as a tool to reduce exposure to foreign currency
risk. Disclosure of this type of information can assist financial statement users to understand
the reasons why the central bank uses financial instraments and provide a better
understanding of the overall risk taking philosophy of the central bank.
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The approach taken by the RBNZ is to present this information as the first note to the
financial statements. The disclosures provide specific information concerning:

(a) the RBNZ’s foreign currency activities (note 1(a)) providing an overview of financial
instruments arising from the RBNZ’s management of New Zealand’s foreign reserve
portfolio, the funding for these financial instruments and the management of these
financial instruments;

(b) departures from risk neutral positions (note 1{b}) outlining the RBNZ risk taking
philosophy used in foreign reserves management;

(c) significant events that impacted on the RBNZ’s involvement in different types of
foreign currency financial instruments during 1998-99 (note 1(c));

(d) overview of the RBNZ’s involvement in derivative instruments (note 1@

(e} overview of the involvement in a securities lending program (note 1(¢)) including the
amount lent out under the program at balance date;'

(f)  discussion of the RBNZ’s involvement in financial instruments arising from local
activities including monetary policy implementation (note 1(f));

(g) disclosure of legal restrictions on assets (note 1(g)). The purpose of this disclosure is to
allow readers to determine whether any assets that are recorded in the balance sheet
have legal restrictions against them. For example, a central bank may have assets that
have been pledged as security in repurchase transactions.' This disclosure is also
required by TIAS 30 (para. 60); and

% The RBNZ has only limited involvement in derivative instruments. Foreign currency
swaps are used to manage exposure to foreign currency risk and as a tool for implementing
monetary policy. In addition, the RBNZ has entered into a cross currency swap in order to
increase the long-term return of the foreign reserve assets.

'* Under the securities lending program, the RBNZ contracts an external agent to lend out a
portion of the RBNZ’s foreign currency securities. The agent will lend these securities to
financial market counterparties in order to generate income. This lending arrangement is
completed in accordance with pre-defined terms and conditions designed to minimize the
risks of the arrangements. The external agent and the RBNZ share the income earned throngh
this program.

' Under a repurchase transaction, the central bank may borrow cash and pledge financial
securities as security to the borrowing arrangement. The typical accounting treatment results
in the financial securities that have been pledged as security continuing to be recorded as
assets in the central bank’s balance sheet.
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(h) concentrations of funding (note 1 (h)) explaining the major sources of funding for the
RBNZ’s financial assets. This disclosure meets the requirement of IAS 30 (para. 40).

Risk management policies

IAS 32 requires an entity to describe its financial risk management objectives and
policies. This discussion may include information on the principal internal control procedures
in place such as the existence of a centralized risk management committee, a summary of any
involvement in new financial instruments and the risks associated with new financial
instruments. For example, a central bank may have specifically authorized procedures and
policies governing the use of financial instruments. Summary disclosure of this information
can be used to demonstrate that appropriate risk management processes and controls exist for
each of the major financial risks that the central bank is exposed to. This disclosure
demonstrates that the central bank has an appropriate risk management structure. This
information is important in central bank circumstances as the central bank is managing public
resources and can demonstrate that appropriate systems are in place to minimize financial
risks. It is suggested that central banks specifically discuss:

Risks and management controls includes an overview of the key aspects of the
organizational structure used in the risk management and control process. The discussion
may explain the existence of a centralized risk management commitiee and whether separate
divisions of the central bank are responsible for measuring and monitoring central bank
financial risk. The disclosure can include a description of each major risk the central bank is
exposed to, how these risks arise, and the methods used to manage and measure the risks.

For example, the RBNZ provides an overview of the RBNZ risk management
structure in Note 12. Notes 13 to 16 then discuss the background to how the risks arise for
interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency and liquidity risk. The techniques used to
manage each of these risks are specifically considered including the major internal control
processes.

Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. This reflects that changes in the level of
interest rates will change the present value of financial instruments. Where financial
instruments are accounted for on the basis of market values, changes in value will be
recognized in the income statement of the central bank. Disclosure can summarize the
policies used for measuring and managing interest rate risk and how the central bank reviews
its effectiveness in managing interest rate risk. This allows the financial statement users to
know that the central bank is aware of exposure to interest rate risk and that appropriate steps
have been taken to manage exposure to changes in interest rates.

The RBNZ discloses the policies used for measuring and managing interest rate risk
in note 13. This risk arises from the RBNZ’s management of foreign reserves. The disclosure
includes an overview of the “Funds at Risk™ model that is used to manage the RBNZ’s
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exposure to interest rate risk. “Funds at Risk” is a statistical model that predicts the losses
that would arise on the RBNZ’s foreign currency assets from a change in the level of interest
rates. The loss prediction is calculated by statistically modeling historical interest rate
movements and using these movements to predict exposure to future losses. This model is
similar to the “Value at Risk” models developed by organizations such as JP Morgan. 16
These types of “Value at Risk” models are often used by commercial banks to manage
commercial bank interest rate risk.

The RBNZ disclosure includes the “Funds at Risk” model parameters and major
model assumptions. This information is provided to facilitate an understanding of the
effectiveness of the RBNZ model in managing interest rate risk.

Credit risk is the risk of 1oss arising from counterparty default. Qualitative credit risk
disclosures can summarize the central bank policies for identifying, measuring and managing
credit risk. The discussion might address the structure of the credit/loan review function (i.e.,
how does the central bank assess the creditworthiness of their counterparties), internal
controls, risk limits and limit monitoring. Risk timits and limit monitoring refers to the risk
management process of limiting the total assets held with any single counterparty. The
process of limiting the total assets held with a single counterparty is only effective if it is
supported by regular reporting of actual exposures compared to limits.

The qualitative credit risk disclosures should also discuss any mechanisms used to
reduce credit exposure, including the use of collateral and any netting agreements. Central
banks may require collateral before they are prepared to provide funding in sitvations such as
the implementation of domestic monetary policy implementation,

The RBNZ credit risk management approach is outlined in note 14(a). This provides
an overview of the credit risk management framework and limit framework. The analysis is
extended to include a discussion of the collateral that is accepted by the RBNZ in the
operation of New Zealand’s real time gross settlement system.

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss arising from changes i the level of foreign
currency rates. The narrative disclosure for foreign currency risk can explain the extent to
which the central bank has exposure to foreign currency risk and whether any methods are
used to manage and monitor foreign currency risk.

The RBNZ gualitative disclosure on foreign currency risk in note 15 explains how the
RBNZ is not exposed to significant risk in this area and provides an overview of the daily
reporting and monitoring of foreign currency positions. This daily reporting and monitoring
is used to control and manage exposure to foreign currency risk.

18 For further information on the JP Morgan “Value at Risk™ model refer to the JP Morgan
“Riskmetrics” Internet web site at www.jpm.com.
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Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity may not be able to meet obligations as they
fall due. Disclosure can include how liquidity risk arises and practices undertaken to manage
liquidity risk.

The RBNZ management of liquidity risk of foreign currency assets is explained in
note 16. However, given the nature of the New Zealand central bank operations, the RBNZ is
not subject to local currency liquidity risk.

Accounting policies

For each class of financial asset and Liability, IAS 32 requires disclosure of the
accounting policies. This includes valuation methods adopted, and the criteria used for
recognizing gains and losses in the income statement.

Disclosures about accounting policies assist users to understand any important
distinctions that exist in the accounting treatment of various types of financial instruments.
International Accounting Standards permit a variety of methods to account for financial
instruments.'” The accounting policies used for financial instruments will impact on how
gains and losses are recognized in the income statement. For example, a mark-to-market
method of accounting will immediately recognize any changes in the market value of
financial assets and liabilities in the income statement. Conversely, historic cost accounting
will only recognize interest paid and received on financial instruments in the income
statement. Where financial instruments are marked-to-market, the disclosure should explain
the basis used for calculating market values such as use of external market prices or internal
valuation models. Because the accounting practices for derivatives are not always consistent
across countries or between institutions, it is particularly important that the central bank
describes the accounting treatment of derivative instruments.

The RBNZ’s 1998-99 financial statements were significantly changed to enhance the
disclosure of accounting policies for financial instruments. Previously, the majority of the
accounting policies were concerned with the measurement of non-financial assets and
liabilities. More detailed accounting policies were provided for ali significant categories of
financial instruments. This detail included information on the balance sheet presentation,
income recognition and valuation basis. Expanded information on financial instruments was
seen as an opportunity to promote transparency of disclosures of accounting policies for
commercial banks. Accounting polices for financial instruments will have a significant
impact on the presentation and measurement of assets and liabilities and commercial bank
profitability.

1 This is further discussed in the session concerning TAS 39; Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Instruments, Chapter V.
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Fair value disclosures

Fair value disclosures allow the users to understand whether the financial instruments
can be sold at more or less than the carrying balance in the balance sheet. The qualitative
disclosures of fair values may discuss the methods used to determine the fair value of
financial instruments. In the case of instrument categories for which there are no external
market prices, the discussion should highlight the methods and assumptions used to estimate
market vaiue.

A specific fair value issue unique to central bank circumstances is the method used to
assess the fair value of cwrrency in circulation. This is typically calculated as the face value
of currency issued.

The RBNZ discusses the methods used to calculate the fair vatue disclosures for each
class of financial instrument in note 11. This includes discussion of relevant valuation
methods and reasons why book value is considered to approximate fair value for certain
instruments.

Other risks

Legal, operational and reputational risk often pose significant concerns to central
banks but accurate measurement of these risks is often difficult. However, central banks can
help financial statement users understand these risks by providing information on the nature
of the risks and describing how they relate to the central bank’s activities.

The RBNZ discusses operational risk in note 12. The discussion includes an overview
of the internal audit function. However, there is limited discussion of the other risk types
including the management of reputational risk.

C. Quantitative Disclosures for Financial Instruments

_ Quantitative information provides users with an understanding of the degree of risk
exposure within each major risk category. [AS 32 requires certain quantitative information
for interest rate risk, credit risk and fair values. IAS 30 requires quantitative information for

liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. This section now provides an overview of the
quantitative disclosures for the requirements of IAS 30 and IAS 32, excluding liquidity risk.
The requirements for liquidity risk disclosures have been outlined in an earlier chapter.'®

'® See Chapter ITI, “Applying IAS 1 and TAS 30 to Central Bank Reporting”.
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Interest rate risk

TAS 32 requires disclosure of information concerning the entity’s exposure to interest
rate risk. Financial statement users will want to understand the likely gains or losses that the
entity will be exposed to from a change in the level of interest rates.

TAS 32 expects the disclosure to include information on the maturity or interest rate
repricing dates for various financial instruments and information on effective interest rates.
Interest rate repricing dates are the dates at which the interest rate on variable financial assets
or liabilities will change. The basic idea is that the present value of financial assets and
liabilities will change when there is a change in interest rates. An increase in the level of
interest rates will result in a decrease in the present value of financial assets and liabilities,
and vice versa. The magnitude of this change will generally depend on the remaining time to
maturity of the financial instrument. All things being equal, financial instruments with longer
terms to maturity will be subject to greater present value changes because of a change in
interest rates. This logic evolves from the “time value of money” concept that underpins
modern financial markets and it is outside the scope of this chapter to consider this concept in
any further detail.

For banks, the TAS 32 disclosure is typically by way of an interest rate-repricing
table. Assets and liabilities are grouped into various maturity periods based on the maturity
or interest rate-repricing period. Interest rate risk increases if there is a mis-match between
the repricing of financial assets and liabilities. A mis-match arises where the maturity or
repricing dates for financial assets and liabilities are different. Where a mis-match exists, the
present value of the assets and liabilities will change by different amounts when interest rates
change.

For example, consider an asset with a remaining maturity of 5 years and a liability
with a maturity of 1 year. If interest rates change, the value of the asset will change by a
different amount to the value of the liability. The existence of this situation could be
highlighted in the following table:

Maturity 1 year 2 years 3years 4 years 5 years
Assets 100
Liabilities 100

Gap (Assets less  (100) 100
Liabilities)

A repricing schedule increases the understanding of interest rate risk because it
compares the maturity or repricing of assets and liabilities over future periods. This allows
users to identify any significant “gaps” in the repricing of financial assets and liabilities.
Hence, the financial statement users may obtain an understanding of how much the entity
would gain or lose because of a change in interest rates.
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The RBNZ provides a comprehensive interest rate-repricing schedule, using the asset
and liability categories presented on the face of the balance sheet (note 13). This has been
extended to provide repricing “gap” information by currency to further enhance
understanding of potential exposure to interest rate risk within specific currencies.

The balance sheet asset and liability categories have also been used to present the
quantitative risk disclosures for credit risk and foreign currency risk. The approach of using
the balance sheet asset and liability categories is intended to provide users with a
comprehensive presentation of the RBNZ’s assets and liabilities and the risk profile for each
category of assets and liabilities. This approach allows the financial statement user to
understand the reasons why the central bank holds different assets and liabilities and the
extent of the risk associated with each category of asset and liability.

As discussed in the section on qualitative disclosures, information can be provided on
the exposure to interest rate risk as measured by models such as “Value-at-Risk” (VAR).
VAR models predict the loss that would arise on financial assets because of changes in the
level of interest rates.

Note 13 provides the RBNZ “Funds-at-Risk” measures as calculated by an internal
model. This information includes the year-end “Funds-at-Risk™ position, internal limits and
peak exposure. The peak exposure is the maximum “Funds-at-Risk™ position that has arisen
during the financial year. Information on the peak exposure allows users t0 understand the
extent to which risk limits have been utilized during the period.

Credit risk

The main credit risk disclosures required by IAS 32 include the amount that best
represents the maximum credit risk exposure and any significant concentrations of credit
risk. The disclosures of significant concentrations of credit risk are similar to the
requirements [AS 30 (para. 40) to disclose significant concentrations of assets and liabilities
by geography and industry. From a credit risk perspective, this information assists users to
assess the degree of credit exposure a central bank may have to any specific sector. This is
important to understand the risks the central bank may face if a particular region/country or
industry experiences financial difficulties and was subsequently unable to meet debt
obligations. In addition, these disclosures can be used to demonstrate that a central bank has
very high credit quality. For example, if a central bank had significant levels of United States
government financial assets, disclosure of this concentration would allow the financial
statement users to be aware of the high credit quality of financial assets.

The RBNZ examples are provided in note 14 (b) which provides credit exposure by
industry and geography. Additional quantitative credit exposure information is provided
including:
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¢ Credit exposure by credit rating. This analysis of financial assets by the credit rating of
the issuers allows asers to assess the overall credit quality of the RBNZ’s financial assets.

e Credit exposure by counterparty. This includes the number of end-of-year and peak
credit exposure to individual counterparties in excess of 10% of the RBNZ’s equity. This
allows users to assess credit exposure to individual counterparties and obtain an
understanding of any large credit exposures. This is more important in a commercial
banking environment where users can understand the impact that a default of a single
large counterparty would have on the commercial bank’s equity.

Foreign currency risk

TAS 32 does not specifically require disclosure on information concerning foreign
currency risk. IAS 30 has a requirement to disclose significant net foreign currency
disclosures to provide information regarding the degree of foreign currency risk the entity
faces. A significant net foreign currency concentration exposes an entity to the risk arising
from changes in foreign currency rates.

The RBNZ provides this information in note 15 including the amount of foreign
currency held in each class of foreign financial assets and liability.

Fair values

IAS 32 requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. Fair
vaiues reflect the present value of financial instruments and are usually based on current
market prices. Hence, fair values can provide an indication of whether assets can be sold at
the value reported in the balance sheet.

RBNZ fair values are presented in note 11.

D. Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

Readers generally expect financial assets and liabilities to be presented on a gross
basis in the balance sheet, This means assets and liabilities should not be netted against each
other for reporting purposes. This approach ensures the balance sheet presents all the
obligations and resources of the entity—netting obligations may understate actual assets and
liabilities and mis-represent the underlying economic reality.

However, offsetting assets and liabilities is permitted under IAS 32 when the entity
has a legal right to set-off the recognized amounts and the entity intends to settle the
obligations on a net basis. A legal right of set-off will usually arise under either:

» contract law—where parties to the agreement explicitly acknowledge a right to set-off.
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¢ common law—through the traditional acceptance of a right of set-off and the practice of
doing so, or contact law.

To be recognized in the balance sheet, a legal right of set-off should be enforceable in
a liquidation or bankruptcy.

The RBNZ follows the strict practice of not setting off assets and liabilities in the
balance sheet unless a legal right of set-off exists.

E. Summary

This chapter has discussed issues for central banks in applying IAS 32. Central banks
have an important role in disclosures of financial instruments, as central banks will typically
hold financial instruments as part of their operations. Hence, users of central bank financial
statements will be concerned with the extent to which the central bank is using financial
instruments in appropriate circumstances and that the central banks are appropriately
managing the risks that arise from involvement in financial instruments.

Transparent qualitative and quantitative disclosure can demonstrate that the central
bank is aware of the risks associated with financial instruments and that these risks are being
appropriately managed.

In addition, many central banks have a responsibility for supervision of commercial
banks within their countries including the regulation of commercial bank disclosures. This
provides central banks with an opportunity to promote best practice in disclosure concerning
financial instruments.
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V. TAS 39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

(Effective 1% January 2001)"°

A. Introduction

IAS 39 establishes standards for recognizing and measuring information about an
organization’s financial assets and financial liabilities. IAS 39 together with IAS 32 are the
two main standards pertaining to financial instruments.

B. Recognition

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized by an organization on its
balance sheet when the organization becomes a party to a contract. The following are some
examples:

+ the organization has a legal right to receive, or a legal obligation to pay, cash; or
+ goods and services have been delivered or rendered; or

e a commitment has been made to purchase or sell a financial instrument or commodity on
a future date at a specified price.

Categories of financial assets

IAS 39 identifies four categories of financial assets. These are

1. Held-for-trading assets are assets acquired to generate a profit from short-term
fluctuations in price.

2. Held-to-maturity investments are assets with fixed payments and fixed maturity that
the organization intents to hold to maturity.

3. Loans and receivables are assets created by an organization by providing cash, goods
or services directly to another organization who has agreed to repay the loan or pay
the receivable.

4. Available-for-sale assets are assets that do not belong to the three other categories.

19 Prepared by Ms. Janet Cosier and Mr. Kenneth Sullivan.
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When classifying assets for valuation under IAS 39, central banks need to make
decisions reflecting the nature of the asset, the reason for holding it, the nature of any liability
it is offsetting, the nced to trade the asset against the intention to hold it to maturity and,
inevitably, the profit distribution framework for the bank. LAS 39 provides limited scope 1o
freely change assets between categorics, as the definitions have been tightened and the
available aiternative treatments reduced. The presumption now is for a move to fair vailue
accounting with limited exemptions. Fair value captures changes in the value of financial
assets in the period they occur, potentially creating a source of greater volatility in the
measurement of a bank’s income. Consequently, management of the income statement will
require more careful attention to the central bank’s balance sheet.

Trade date vs. settlement date

A “regular way” purchase of financial assets should be recognized in the accounting
records using trade date accounting or setttement date accounting. A “regular way” sale
of financial assets should be recognized using settlement date accounting,.

The trade date is the date an organization commits to purchase the asset. It is the
date the organization recognizes the asset to be received and the liability to pay in the future.
When the organization uses trade date accounting 1t will account for any change in the fair
value of the assets classed as held for trading and available for sale to be received during the
period between the trade date and the settlement date.

The settlement date is the date that the asset is delivered. It is the date that the asset
ts transferred to the organization.

C. Measurement

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset or financial liability is recognized initially by an organization at its
cost. The cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the fair value given for the asset or
the fair value received in the case of a liability.

The cost is determined by the transaction price and includes any transaction costs for
fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers.



Subsequent measurement of financial assets

After initial recognition, financial assets, held for trading and available for sale,
should be measured at their fair values. The following categories of financial assets should be
measured at amortized cost.

¢ loans and receivables;

e held-to-maturity investments; and
¢ any financial asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active market and the
fair value cannot be reliably measured.

The published price quotations in an active market are the best evidence of fair value.
As well, the fair value of a financial asset that an organization has decided to sell is the

amount that it expects to receive for the sale.

Gains and losses on financial assets carried at fair value

Held-for-trading and available-for-sale investments

A gain or loss on held-for-trading investments should be included in net profit or loss.

A gain or loss on available-for-sale assets can be; (i) included in net profit or loss; OR
(11) recognized directly in equity.

The following table summarizes the accounting treatment for measuring financial assets.

Held for trading Fair value (cost) Fair value
(published Net Profit or Loss
quotations)

Available for sale Fair value (cost) Fair value 1) Net Profit or Loss
(amount expected to | or
receive) 2) Equity

Held to maturity Fair value (cost) Amortized cost ¥
Loans and
receivables Fair value (cost) Amortized cost ¥
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(Gains or losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost
Held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivable

For financial assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost, a gain or 10ss 18
recognized in net profit or loss when the asset or liability is impaired.

The loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of expected future cash flows.

To recognize the loss, the carry value of the asset should be reduced to the estimated
recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount
of the loss should be reported in net profit or loss.

Financial assets remeasured to fair value

If a loss on a financial asset carried at fair value has been recognized directly in
equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative net loss in
equity should be removed from equity and recognized in net profit or loss. How does the
treatment differ from IAS 257

Each of the four asset classes offers different options for the treatment of valuation
changes. Note that the valuation changes referred to are price revalvations resulting from
changes in interest rates and do not include changes arising from movements in exchange
rates. These are addressed under TAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

After initial recognition, all financial liabilities should be measured at amortized cost
except for liabilities held for trading which should be measured at fair value.

D. Managing Income
Impact of change in standards

The move to fair value increases the possibility for volatility of reported income. The
following tabie compares the respective treatments of IAS 25 and IAS 39 and their impact on
the measurement of income.



Financial Asset
Category

Loans and
Receivables:

Held for Trading:

Held to Maturity:

Available for Sale:
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Accounting Standard

IAS 25

IAS 39

Only accrued interest is
recognized in the income
statement

Accrued interest goes to the

income statement as well as the

following valuation changes;

- any change in value of assets
valued at fair value

- decease in value for those held
at lower of cost or market

Only accrued interest is
recognized in the income
statement

Accrued interest and the following

valuation changes are recognized

in the income statement;

- any change in value of assets
valued at fair value

- decease in value for those held
at lower of cost or market

Both accrued interest and any
changes in value arising from an
impairment of the asset or its
reversal are recognized in
determining income.

Accrued interest goes to income

statement and the following

valuation changes;

- all changes in valuation as only
fair value accounting is
allowed for these assets.

Only accrued interest is recognized
in the income statement. No
change from IAS 25

Accrued interest must go to income
statement.

Only fair value valuation allowed.
Entity allowed to make once only,
entity wide, decision on whether to
take valuation changes to income
statement or to revaluation reserve
in equity until asset is sold or
matures.

Selecting appropriate asset classifications

One option to reduce income volatility is to classify assets, where appropriate, as
being Held to Maturity. This removes the need to record them at fair vatue (though fair value
will still be required in the notes to the accounts). This will reduce the size of unrealized
revaluation gains reported in the income statement and the related volatility. While the Held
to Maturity facility is designed to satisfy the needs of specific types of financial mstitutions
who hold assets to meet specific future liabilities, there is some rationale for central banks to
adopt this position for that portion of their portfolio that backs the currency in circulation
liability. As a zero rated liability, the currency in circulation liability has no offsetting
valuation movements when interest rates change.
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To comply with the Held to Maturity requirements central banks will need to be
careful to ensure the criteria of the category are complied with. This may require the division
of like securities in to trading and investing portfolios to enable differing valuations to be
applied to the same security type, that may be held for differing purposes

Any attempts to minimize the impact of fair value on the income statement by using
the Available for Sale {AFS) classification is likely to prove problematic. AFS, with its
choice of treatments of the changes in fair value, is a residual class. By definition, an asset
can only be classified as AFS after it has failed the tests for classification as one of the other
three classes.

Despite its existence as a residual class, the AFS classification poses interesting
questions for central banks as it could potentially significantly effect reported income. What
financial assets held by a central bank, except loans and receivables, would qualify for
classification as AFS? The definition of Held for Trading is designed to capture those assets
held “for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s
margin.”® As this is not a prime purpose for central banks, there is the need to find another
classification. The next test is to see if the assets meet the Held to Maturity criteria. Because
the central bank may deal in these securities as part of its normal operations, it is likely that
classes of assets do not meet these criteria. Having failed both tests, the assets become AFS.
Examples may include foreign securities held as part of the reserve management and assets
purchased as part of system liquidity management.

Impact of classifications on income and reserves

The decision to classify an asset as AFS will have no material impact if the bank
decides to take all revaluation changes to the income statement. However, the introduction of
the ability to assign unrealized revaluation gains and losses directly to equity raises
interesting questions of managing central bank income and the effect of unrealized losses on
the bank’s equity. Assuming that it is possible to establish the fair value for the assets, the
choice of how to treat the unrealized valuation gains and losses needs to be carefully thought
through. Taking the revaluations to reserves will reduce the volatility of reported profit. In
times of falling interest rates, this will result in a growth of reserves and an effective
understatement of accounting income. The effect will be to reduce the pool of dividends
payable to the government. Conversely, in a situation of rising interest rates the opposite
result will occur. The reserves will accumulate debit balances, eroding capital, while the
reported profit will be effectively overstated. The profit for distribution to the government
will not be reduced by the amount of the revaluation losses. The result, if the AFS quantity is
significant, could be a situation where the government is receiving large profit disbursements
from the central bank while it is showing a notional negative capital position. As entities are

0 1AS 39, para. 10. Definitions of Four Categories of Financial Assets.
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unable to switch between alternate treatments as circumstances change central banks will
need to think through the issues very carefully regarding, firstly what assets they classify as
Available for Sale and, second, how they decide to treat the fair value revaluation.

Traditionally accounting standards have avoided the maintenance of debit balances
within equity accounts. Prudence and the capital maintenance concept required that debit
balances should be accounted for through the income statement so to ensure that reductions
of capital were resolved before any distributions of dividends occurred. This is reflected in
the expectation that where revaluation accounts are maintained they may only exist if they
have a credit balance. In the event that the credit balance is written down, any further
revaluation losses were to be taken into the income statement.

Under IAS 39, it is now possible for the valuations of AFS assets to accumulate
unrealized valuation losses that will create a debit balance within the revaluation reserve
account. The chapter argues that best practices suggest that all fair value adjustments should,
where possible, be reported directly through the income statement and that the use of holding
unrealized revaluation gains and losses in reserves should be applied only in limited
circumstances and for assets of short duration. The exception to this rule would be the
sitnation where, as with foreign exchange revaluations, circumstances require the distribution
of large unrealized revaluation gains to the budget without the central bank having the
liquidity to fund it. This needs to be treated with care for such a policy could, as discussed,
also require the retention of large unrealized revaluation losses.

Bank capital is the residual value between assets and liabilities. The income statement
is the summary of changes in capital arising from Bank operations. Transparency suggests
that the more information that can be disclosed through the income statement then the greater
its value. This concept is supported by the work currently underway on a Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Consequently, the prime focus of good reporting must be to take
valuation adjustments through the income statement, which will enable a more effective
monitoring of the bank’s level of capital.

Financial assets held to maturity will always amortize away any valuation loss by the
time they mature. In contrast, AFS assets that are sold before maturity require any related
gain ot loss transferred out of the reserve and recognized in the income statement at the time
of the sale. Long dated asset, which has been accumulating revaluation losses over several
years, may have significant accumulated losses. Rather than recognizing the loss in value
over the life of the asset they are reported in one lump sum, which will distort reported
income levels. The argument may be made that the net effect on bank equity is the same as
the revaluation losses had been accumulating in the revaluation reserve. However, the
practice reduces the efficacy of the income statement and may result in questions regarding
the continued payment of dividends in a situation of negative or impaired capital. The ability
to accumulate debit balances in the revaluation reserve for AFS assets should ideally only
ever be a minor and transitional issue.
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An issue that emerges from this discussion is the importance that central banks should
place on an appropriate internal reporting framework to keep management informed of
changes in the structure of the bank’s balance sheet.

Impairment of assets

The requirement in TAS 39 to report Loans and Receivables at amortized cost less
provision for impairment will impact on income recognition. The standard discusses the need
to recognize impairment of asset values on an individual basis for significant items or on a
group basis for minor items.”" Banks are now required to recognize impairment of financial
assets either through direct write-downs to expenses or indirectly through provisions. Either
way they are required to report the changes in value arising from impairment through the
income statement. Besides the direct impact that this will have on income recognition there is
now an increased duty to ensure that the loan portfolio is properly managed, valued and
losses provided for. Compliance with IAS will now require the ability to demonstrate that
this management of the loan portfolio is happening.

This strengthened requirement for reporting impairment of loans will assist bank
supervisors develop an appropriate provisioning regime amongst commercial banks who
should be complying with IAS as a minimum.

This will pose some problems for a number of central banks because of their holdings
of non-performing government debt. A strict adherence to international standards requires the
continued accruai of interest on this debt until it is deemed non-performing. Once it is
deemed non-performing it is possible to stop accruing interest on it but the need then exists to
make provisions for its write-off. The problem with writing off government debt by the
central bank is that it is equivalent to publicly acknowledging government insolvency. While
this is politically inexpedient, the alternatives are limited if one wishes to remain in
compliance with IAS. If the debt is accounted for as a Held to Maturity instrument there is no
need to write down its capital value though IAS 32 still requires a best estimate of its fair
value to be given in the notes to the accounts. There are obvious incentives here to ensure
that governments maintain the integrity of their financial obligations.

The main impacts of IAS 39 on the income statement lie in the move to a wider
application of fair value valuation methodology and the consequential requirement to report
the majority of these valuation changes in the income staternent. Consequently, central banks
will need to pay close attention to the income effects of these changes. Held for Trading
financial assets must be valued at fair value and the valuation changes taken to income,
Holding large portfolios of tradable securities could result in potentially large valuation
impacts in the income statement. This will be problematic if the central bank 1s unable to

2L IAS 39, para. 111.



exclude unrealized revaluation gains from distribution as dividends. Even if it is able to
remove these unrealized gains from distribution they could introduce volatility to reported
income that could resuit in criticisms of the quality of central bank management. This is
particularly so given that central banks are amongst the architects of the very movements in
interest rates that cause the changes in values of the securities. The new standard removes the
discretion to hold securities for trading but value them at cost or lower of cost and market.
The challenge for central banks is to ensure that their balance sheet is appropriately classified
so that the volatility can be explained when it occurs.

E. Disclosure

An organization should disclose the following information in the notes to the
financial statements.

¢ the methods and signiﬁcant assumptions in estimating fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities for significant classes of financial assets.

o if gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale assets are
included in: net profit or loss OR are recognized directly in equity.

o for each of the four categories of financial assets whether “regular way” purchases are
accounted for at the trade date or settlement date.

» if a gain or loss from remeasuring available-for-sale assets to fair value has been

recognized directly in equity, through the statement of changes in equity, then the
organization should disclose:

- the amount that was recognized in equity during the current period; and
- the amount that was removed from equity and reported in net profit or loss.
¢ if the fair value for held-for-trading investments and available-for-sale assets cannot be
reliably measured and the organization is, therefore, measuring these assets at amortized
cost, then an explanation of why fair value cannot be used should be disclosed and, if
possible, the range of fair value estimates.

e disclose significant items of income, expense, and gains and losses.
F. Effective Date
IAS 39 comes into effect for financial statements beginning on or after January 1,

2001 though early application is permitted as of the beginning of the finrancial year that ends
after March 15, 1999. ’
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VI INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD 21 — THE EFFECT OF CHANGES IN
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES>

A. Introduction

This standard, while significant in determining the manner in which foreign currency
transactions are recorded and valued within the accounts of a central bank has relatively
limited effect on the disclosure requirements for a central bank. As the usual manager of
nation's foreign exchange reserves, IAS 21 is an important standard for central banks. This
chapter will summarize the significant accounting treatments prescribed by this standard for
central banks will discuss the often thorny issue of the treatment of foreign exchange
revaluation gains and losses before closing with a summary of the disclosure requirements
required under this standard.

B. Required Treatment under IAS 21

All foreign exchange transactions undertaken by the central bank should be recorded
at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.

Subsequent revaluations of the transactions at the end of the period depend on
whether the foreign currency item is classified as a monetary or non-monetary item.

Monetary items, defined as “money held and assets and liabilities to be received or
paid in fixed or determinable amounts of money”>, are to be revalued at balance sheet dates
using the exchange rates prevailing at that time. Non-monetary items, which are everything
else are not revalued and are reported at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of the
transaction.

C. Treatment of Revaluation (zains and Losses

IAS 21 requires all gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, to be reported in
the income statement.** Because of its special role in managing a country’s foreign reserves,
a central bank often carries significant open foreign exchange positions that can result in
large movements of unrealized revaluation gains and losses. Ideally, the central bank should

*2 Prepared by Mr. Kenneth Sullivan.
2 JAS 21, para. 7.

# IAS 21, para. 15.
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be able to recognize these revaluation movements in the income statement but exclude them
from considerations of taxable income or for distribution to the government as dividends as
discusses for price movements.

In the situation where this is not possible, and only in this situation, the IMF accepts
the coding of unrealized foreign currency revaluation gains to reserves. While it is contrary
to IAS 21, the concern is for the monetary policy implications of large unrealized revaluation
gains finding their way into the government’s budget by way of distribution of profits when
reported in the income statement. Equal, or greater, losses may match these gains in the
subsequent period as the exchange rate corrects. These fluctuations add volatility to the
monetary policy framework for a country that it would be helpful to avoid.

In the case of large revaluation gains, the central bank may not hold the liquidity to
fund the distribution to the government’s budget. This would result in a monetary emission to
the government if the bank was unable to gain the required liquidity from the market. The
monetary policy implications of this justify the decision not to report unrealized gains in the
income statement. However, there seems no reason preventing reporting realized profits and
making them available for distribution to the government. For realized profits and losses the
central bank has either gained or lost the funds associated with the transaction and so isin a
position to distribute them, or faces the need to be able to offset the loss against other
1ncome.

The issue of unrealized losses is a little more problematic. In the event that the bank
holds unrealized gains in a revaluation reserve, it should be able to offset losses against these
reserves. In the situation where the losses continue once the revaluation reserve has reached a
zero balance, the continued accumulation of losses in this reserve will create debit balances
which will have the effect of eroding the capitai of the bank. This raises a second issue of
concern.

Any charge from operations that has the effect of reducing the capital of the bank
should be included and disclosed through the income statement. This is very important as it
atlows the bank to offset losses against gains before it makes any distributions to the
government’s budget. The result is that the bank first applies its income to maintain its
capital value before deciding any distributions.

The automatic accumulation of losses in a revaluation reserve means that the financial
statements may not disclose them to bank management and may not gain attention until they
have totally eroded the bank’s statutory capital and other reserves. This practice will
accelerate the erosion of the bank’s capital because, at the same time that the debit balance is
accumulating in the revaluation reserve, the bank is undertaking distributions of income to
the government’s budget. This is the same concern as expressed when discussing available-
for-sale assets.

A common feature in transition economies is the accumulation of large foreign
currency denominated liabilities as the nation attempts to stabilize its balance of payments
situation. Pressures to devalue the currency usually accompany this. The combination of
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these two situations produces revaluation losses. To reduce the impact of this on the bank’s
capital they need to be reported in the income statement rather than assigned to a revaluation
reserve.

The provisions of TAS 39 and TAS 21 are different. IAS 39 allows the accumulation
of unrealized revaluation gains and losses in reserves without being reported through the
income statement while TAS 21 requires all revaluation movements to be reported. Not too
much should be made of the difference as the provision is a limited one, allowed, one
suspects as a concession to alternative international practices. Best practice remains the
adoption of fair value and recognition through the income statement at the time of
revaluation. The alternative treatment sanctioned by the chapter for central bank foreign
reserves revaluations is very much a specific second best situation, limited to those situations
where it is not possible to remove unrealized revaluation gains from the dividend calculation
pool.

D. Disclosure Requirements under IAS 21

The relevant disclosure requirements for central banks relating to holdings of foreign
exchange reserves are:

(a) the amount of exchange differences included in the net profit or loss for the period;
and

(b)  net exchange differences classified as equity as a separate component of equity, and a
reconciliation of the amount of such exchange differences at the beginning and end of
the period.

A significant disclosure requirement for a central bank that is not found in IAS 21 is
the requirement in IAS 30 that a “bank should also disclose the amount of significant net
foreign currency f:xposures”.25 This is as far as IAS goes in specifying disclosures of foreign
currency positions though it does encourage disclosure of an enterprise's foreign currency
risk management policy.26

Given that central banks usually carry significant levels of foreign currency assets and
liabilities the disclosure requirements of IAS are inadequate in specifying the fuli level of
disclosures that a reader of a central bank’s financial statements would find relevant. Readers
would be interested in information about currency composition, the types of assets and
liabilities and the nature and management of foreign currency risk faced by the central bank.
An example an additional disclosure could be a note reconciling the net foreign currency

¥ IAS 30, para 40.

% IAS 21, para. 47.
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position reported in the balance sheet with that reported to the IMF in the statement of Net
International Reserves or through the special data dissemination standard, SDDS. Such a
disclosure is found in the notes to the accounts of the National Bank of Ukraine 1999
financial statements. Other examples of foreign currency holding disclosures can be found in
the RBNZ 1999 financial statements included in Appendix II of this publication in the
statement of financial position and Notes 1, 13,14, 15, 16, 17,18, 19 and 25.

There are further disclosure requirements for those banks whoe hold investments in
foreign entities but these are not covered I this chapter as they are a minor issue for a
minority of central banks. Also, TAS 39 carries significant disclosure requirements for hedges
on foreign currency exposures.
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VII. INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD 7—STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSY

C. Introduction

This chapter outlines some of the issues to be considered in the preparation of the
statement of cash flows. International Accounting Standard 7: Cash Flow Statements (IAS 7)
requires the presentation of the statement of cash flows. Some of the issues that can arise for
a central bank include:

the purpose of the statement of cash flows;

how should cash be defined;

defining investing and financing cash flows;

presentation of gross or net cash flows; and

the direct or indirect method of presenting operating activities.

A. Purpese of the Statement of Cash Flows

The accounting standards state that the purpose of the statement of cash flows is to
“help users assess the entity’s ability to generate cash flows and 1o assess the entity’s
financial performance and financial position”.

The statement of cash flows is based on the concept that the purpose of a business is
to make a profit, realize it in cash and do this repeatedly. The entity’s cash flows are required
to be classified according to the activity that gave rise to them. These are:

» Investing activities: “those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of [non-
cash] current and non-current securities and advances ... and any other non-current
assets.”

. Financing activities: “those activities relating to changes in equity and debt capital
structure of the entity and those activities relating to the cost of servicing the entity’s
equity capital.”

. Operating activities: all activities that are not investing or financing activities.
These classifications can be thought of as an entity raises money (financing activity),

invests this money in non-current assets (investing activity) and obtains income and expenses
from operating those assets (operating activity). The statement of cash flows shows how the

*7 Prepared by Mr. Richard Perry.
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institution generates cash flows and presents information on changes in the institution’s
investing and financing structure.

The accounting literature notes that the statement of cash flows presents only limited
information for financial institutions. Due to the definition of cash in the accounting
standards, a statement of cash flows does not always represent the actual liquidity of
financial institutions. Moreover, a central bank will often be responsible for issuing
circulating currency and managing the liquidity of the domestic banking system. Some
commentators consider that these factors reduce the information value of the statement of
cash flows in the central bank circumstances. For example, the Reserve Bank of Australia
expresses presentation concerns in the opening introduction to their statement of cash flows:

“The following cash flow statement appears as a matter of record to meet the
requirements of AAS28; in the Bank’s view, it does not shed any additional light on the
Bank’s financiat results. For the purpose of this statement, cash includes the notes and
coin held at the Reserve Bank and overnight settlement system account balances with
other banks.”

In addition, some central banks do not present a statement of cash flows because they
do not think it is appropriate in central bank circumstances. Indeed, in the New Zealand
situation, the Reserve Bank of New Zealand’s (RBNZ'’s) 1996--97 published statement of
cash flows was described as “daft and misleading” internally and “hopelessly opaque™
externally. These comments have contributed to a substantial review of the RBNZ’s
statement of cash flows over the last two years to improve the presentation of the statement
of cash flows and to ensure the statement of cash flows provides an improved indicator of the
RBNZ’s liquidity.

In central bank circumstances, the RBNZ view is that the statement of cash flows and
related notes to the accounts can be used to provide information on:

¢ The extent to which operating income was generated in cash;

s The cash impact of the major changes in the RBNZ’s balance sheet structure during the
financial year. The 1998-99 statement of cash flows presents the net cash changes in the
major balance sheet categories. This approach is intended to assist the financial statement
users understand how cash has been generated and applied to change the RBNZ’s balance
sheet structure during the financial year.

¢ The “turnover” in currency in circulation during the financial year. This information is
presented gross and allows the financial statement users to understand the volume of
currency in circulation that passes between commercial banks and the RBNZ. This
information is not provided in any other part of the financial statements.
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* The liquidity of the RBNZ. This information is only possible following a revision in the
RBNZ’s definition of “cash”.

B. How Should Cash be Defined?

Cash is generally defined to include cash on hand, demand deposits and highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible cash. However, due to the high liquidity of most
central bank assets a wide definition of cash could lead to nearly all the central bank’s assets
being considered cash.

This would mean that the disclosures of cash flows in the investing (how cash has
been applied) and financing {(how cash has been generated) sections would be contained
entirely in the opening and closing cash positions. While this may be a better indicator of a
central bank’s liquidity it does reduces the ability of the SCF to provide information on how
cash is generated and applied.

The RBNZ approach has been to consider cash as those financial instruments that are
highly liquid and are used in the day-to-day cash management of the central bank. This
definition has included the highly liquid foreign reserve assets of the RBNZ and local
currency financial assets that arise from the RBNZ’s management of the New Zealand
Government account.

The definition of cash ensures that the RBNZ’s cash balances provide an indicator of
the actual liquidity of the RBNZ. Previously, the RBNZ defined cash in such a way that
resulted in a negative cash balance being reported. This approach was not considered to
provide a fair presentation of the actual liquidity of the RBNZ,

C. Defining Investing and Financing Cash Flows

TAS 7 suggest presentations of cash flows according (o the following categories:

. Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the enterprise
and other activities that are not investing or financing activities;

. Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other
investments not included in cash equivalents; and

. Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of
the entity capital and borrowings of the enterprise.

In a central bank, these definitions could be applied as follows:
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* Investing activities: these could include investing the proceeds of issuing circulating
currency, investment of the foreign reserves and sale and purchase of fixed assets.

. Financing activities: could include issue and repayment of circulating currency, loans
used to fund holdings of foreign reserves (including SDRs), disbursement of the
annual dividend.

. Operating activities: may include the main cash revenue and expense flows (such as
paying and receiving of coupons, fee income and operating expenses). Remaining
activities that have not been classified as investing or financing are usually included
ds operating activities.

The effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held or due in a
foreign currency is reported in the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash at the
beginning and the end of the period. This amount is presented separately and includes the
differences, if any, had those cash flows been reported at end of period exchange rates.

D. Presentation of Gross or Net Cash Flows

Statement of cash flows are generally expected to present gross flows of cash.
However, financial institutions often present net cash flows as the cash movements may arise
as a consequence of customer transactions or the gross number may be considered so large as
to be meaningless. This is supported by IAS - with paragraph 24 permitting the net reporting
of certain financial institution cash flows.

It is generally accepted that net cash flows are appropriate when the cash movements
arise through external factors such as a client depositing funds with a retail financial
wstitution. However, gross cash flows may be more useful to provide a scale of the risks
facing the entity either in terms of cash handling (i.e., the business has handled this volume
of cash) or in trading activities (i.e., the volume with which a portfolio is bought and sold).

E. The Direct and Indirect Method of Preparation

IAS 7 suggests that entities should report cash flows from operating activities using
either the direct or the indirect method. Under the direct method major classes of gross cash
receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed while using the indirect method the net profit
or loss is adjusted for the effects of non-cash transactions including balance date accruals and
unrealized gains and losses.

Entities are encouraged to use the direct method as this may provide information
useful in estimating future cash flows. New Zealand accounting standards require the use of
the direct method because this adds new information unavailable from the statement of
financial performance and statement of financial position. In addition, the direct method is
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considered to best reflect the gross inflows and outflows of cash from operating activities.
New Zealand also requires the notes to the financial statements to include reconciliation
between net cash from operating activities and net surpius after tax (which is effectively the
indirect method).

F. Summary

It is suggested that a statement of cash flows can provide useful information on
central bank activities that is not available in other sections of the financial statement. The
statement of cash flows can be used to assist the financial statement users understand how
cash has been generated and applied to change the central bank’s balance sheet structure
during the financial year and provide an indication of the liquidity of the central bank.
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VIII. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING PRINCIPLES IN THE
EUROPEAN SYSTEM OF CENTRAL BANKS (ESCB) AND THE INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (IAS)*

D. Imtroduction

The European System of Central Banks (ESCB) is represented by the European
Central Bank in Frankfurt, Germany, and the eleven National Central Banks (NCBs)
participating in the European Monetary Union. The statute of the ESCB defines the financial
reporting framework of the ESCB. For analytical and operational purposes the ECB must
produce a consolidated balance sheet which is an aggregation of the balance sheets of the
ECB and the participating NCBs. Furthermore, the ESCB publishes a consolidated weekly
financial statement every Tuesday reporting the data of the previous Friday.

The statute requires the Governing Council of the ECB to establish a set of standard
guidelines covering the accounting and reporting of operations undertaken by the
participating NCBs. These Guidelines, covering the accounting and reporting regimes, are a
legally binding instrument in the ESCB. The Guidelines are for the ESCB and therefore are
not binding on NCB’s national reports and accounts. However, in order to achieve
consistency and comparability it is recommended that NCBs adopt these rules, which almost
all of the participating NCBs have done since the beginning of the euro system either by legal
obligation or on a voluntary basis.

A. General Remarks

The ESCB Guidelines were drawn up by an ESCB working group representing
accounting experts from the 15 central banks of the European Union and the ECB. The
European Accounting Directives, the Intemational Accounting Standards and generally
accepted accounting principles formed the basis for the considerations. Close attention was
paid to the intention to formulate accounting standards that met both the specific needs of
central bank accounting and the financial information requirements of the euro system.

The ESCB accounting and reporting principles have a very high degree of compliance
with IAS. Those limited areas where the ESCB Guideline does not fully follow IAS are in
areas where it was considered that IAS did not meet specific central bank accounting and
reporting requirements. As the economic and financial environment 1s continually evolving

* Prepared by M. Freidrich Karrer.
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the ESCB has committed itself to monitor the development of accounting and reporting
standards and will review the present provisions in light of changing international standards

This chapter describes the areas where the ESCB accounting and reporting principles

are deviating from the IAS. There is no discussion when policies and accounting techniques
comply with IAS.

B. Accruals—Amortisation for Securities

Reference Guideline ESCB: Article 10, paragraphs 2 and 3

The ESCB gives detailed definitions about the method of calculation, date of
calculation and recording in the accounts. The Amortisation for securities purchased below
or above the nominal value is calculated by use of either the straight line or implicit rate of
return method, depending on the type and remaining duration of the securities.

Reference TAS 36, paragraph 5; TAS 38, paragraph 7, and IAS 39, paragraph 10

IAS specifies only terms in accordance with Amortisation and the basic meanings.

C. Recognition of Incomne—Treatment of Unrealized Gains and Losses at Balance
Sheet Date

Reference Guideline ESCB: Article 10, paragraph 1

Unrealized gains from price or currency revaluation, for each class of security, are
posted directly to a revaluation account shown on the liability side of the balance sheet.
These entries are therefore not recognized as income.

Unrealized losses are recorded to the profit and loss account when market price falls
below average acquisition cost for each class of security. Unrealized losses transferred to the
P&L account are not reversed in following vears against new vnrealized gains.

The rationale for this asymmetric treatment is based on the consideration that central
banks should not record unrealized gains in the profit and loss account as they are not seen as
distributable until they are realized. Paying dividends by central banks increases liquidity in
the financial sector by enlarging the monetary base. Therefore, it is considered mappropriate
. to distribute unrealized gains unless as they are not based on a reliable and sustainable
increase in the asset side of the central bank’s balance sheet.

Reference TAS; Framework, paragraphs 74 to 77 (income), 78 to 80 (expense), 81
(Capital Maintenance Adjustment), 102 to 110 Concepts of Capital and Capital Maintenance
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Unrealized gains: follows concept of capital maintenance:

Under this concept, a profit is earned only if the financial amount of the net assets at
the end of the period exceeds the financial amount of net assets at the beginning of the period
(Framework 92 and 94a).

Unrealized losses: Recognition of expenses occurs simultaneously with the
recognition of an increase in liabilities or a decrease in assets (Framework 94).

IAS 21, paragraphs13--16 require all exchange rate revaluation gains and losses to be
reported in the P&L.

IAS 39 provides a range of valuation options depending on the reason for holding the
security.

D. Accounting Rules for Off-Balance-Sheet Instruments

Reference Guideline ESCB: Article 12 (general rules), article 13 (forward exchange
transactions), article 14 (foreign exchange swaps), article 15 (interest futures), article 16
(interest rate swaps), article 17 (forward rate agreements), and article 18 (forward rate
transactions in securities).

For all these transactions the ESCB has specified rules how to record the instruments,
how to recognize revaluation differences and the treatment of income. All the rules follow
the general accounting principles of the ESCB (e.g., revatuation at market values, treatment
of realized and unrealized gains and losses, accrual principle, etc.).

Reference 1AS 39

IAS is far more detailed than ESCB standards.

The different treatment arises as the ESCB standards had to be finalized before the
beginning of the European monetary union. IAS 39 was not yet an international standard.
However, the ESCB standards will be reviewed in light of the new standard, IAS 39.

E. Trade Date versus Settlement Date Accounting

Reference Guideline ESCB: Article 5

Under the ESCB standards presently allows both trade date or settlement date
approaches but, after a definite period of time, alt NCBs have to change their accounting
systems to trade date recording (economic approach).

Reference 1AS: Article 39
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IAS 39, paragraphs 30-34, discusses this issue but accepts recording a transaction on
the trade date or settlement date basis.

F. Reporting Obligations-Format of Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account

Reference Guideline ECB: Article 19

Weekly balance sheet of the NCB (published by NCB; Guideline ECB Annex 4).
‘Weekly consolidated balance sheet of the Eurosystem (published by ECB; Guidetine
ECB Annex 6).

Annual balance sheet of the NCB (published by NCB; Guideline ECB Annex 9).

Annual consolidated balance sheet of the Eurosystem (published by ECB; Guideline ECB
Annex 8).

¢ Profit and loss account {Guideline ECB Annex 10).

Reference IAS:

Weekly balance sheet —not specified in IAS

Weekly consolidated balance sheet — not specified in IAS

Annual balance sheet — format completely different to IAS 30
Annual consolidated balance sheet — completely different to IAS 30
Profit and loss account — similar to IAS 30

* & & & @

The format of the weekly and the annual balance sheet for the ESCB was created to
provide the user with a clear picture of the euro system related to the monetary policy
decisions of the ESCB. The format is structured according to the monetary policy
instruments established by the ESCB as well as to identify the items denominated in foreign
currency or in euro. Also included is a split between assets and liabilities that are held against
residents or non-residents of the euro area.

G. Reporting Obligations—Other Financial Reporting Formats

» Statement of changes in equity
¢ (Cash flow statement

These reports are not required under the ESCB rules tough they are required under the
annual financial statements according to the IAS framework (IAS1). The ESCB is of the
opinion that these two reports do not give any significant or useful additional information to
the other existing financial and statistical information within the euro system.
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H. Disclosure Notes to the Annunal Accounts

Reference Guideline ESCB: none

No guidelines exist covering the content of notes to the annual accounts. This means
that the NCBs have to follow their own legal requirements that in any case are based on the
EC directives.

Most [AS contain detailed instructions on what information needs to be disclosed
either as accounting policies or within the notes to the annual accounts.

This is a significant, but not irreconcilable, area of divergence between ESCB and
1AS reporting requirements.

1. Recognition of Banknotes and Coins

Reference Guideline ESCB: Article 9

This provision gives detailed rules for the calculation and presentation of the bank
note in circulation item in the balance sheet as well as for the recognition of coins. The
accounting policies are referring to those banknotes and coins that are legal tender in the
member states of the European Monetary Union.

Reference IAS: no specific regulation

Sources:

» ESCB: Guideline of the European Central Bank of December 1, 1998 on the Legal
Framework for Accounting and Reporting in the European System of Central Banks as
amended on December 15, 1999 (ECB/1999/9),

¢ IAS: International Accounting Standards 1999.
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SUMMARY OF INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
IAS 1, IAS 7, IAS 21, IAS 30, IAS 32, aAND IAS 397

A. Introduction

This chapter provides a summary of the detailed International Accounting Standard
disclosure requirements for:

¢ International Accounting Standard 1—Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1);
International Accounting Standard 7—Cash Flow Statements (IAS 7);

o International Accounting Standard 30—Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks
and Similar Financial Institutions (IAS 30); and

» International Accounting Standard 32—Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation {IAS 32). IAS 32 specifies the main disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. '

+ International Accounting Standard 39—Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (IAS 39)—effective 1 January 2001.

This chapter has been designed to assist central bank accountants prepare financial
statements in accordance with the requirements of IAS 1, IAS 7, TAS 21, 1AS 30, IAS 32,
and TAS 39 and sets out the disclosure requirements of each standard as at January 1, 2000
The chapter has been set out in the form of a “check-list” to allow central bank accountants
to review the components of their financial statements against the disclosures required by
TAS 1, TIAS 7, TIAS 21, TAS 30, IAS 32, and IAS 39.

The Reserve Bank of New Zealand’s (RBNZ’s) 199899 financial statements are used as a
case study for various disclosures. However, 1t should be noted that:

¢ The RBNZ’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of
New Zealand accounting standards. New Zealand accounting standards and disclosures
reflect requirements considered appropriate to the New Zealand legal and economic
situation and are not necessarily the same as the requirements of International Accounting
Standards.

¢ New Zealand accounting standards have generally followed the developments of the
Anglo-American standards with their strict standards of disclosures to provide relevant
information for financial statement users. As such, they provide less room for discretion
on the part of the preparer of financial statements than International Accounting

» Prepared by Mr. Richard Perry.

* Early application of TAS 39 is permitted for financial years that end after March 15, 1999.
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Standards. New Zealand is an active participant in the development of International
Accounting Standards through membership of the G4+1 group of standard setters and
involvement in various working groups of the International Accounting Standards
Committee.*

o The New Zealand disclosures have been developed to reflect the specific economic
circumstances of the RBNZ operating under New Zealand laws. Laws and circumstances
may be different for other central banks and different methods of disclosure may be
appropriate. The objective should be to represent the underlying legal and economic
substance of the central bank within the local faws and circumstances.

The disclosure examples are referenced as follows:

AP - Accounting Policies

BS — Balance Sheet or Statement of Financial Position

IS -— Income Statements or Statement of Financial Performance
CS — Statement of Cost of Services

ME — Statement of Movements in Equity

CFS — Cash Flow Statement

N/A — Not Applicable.

3! The G4+1 consists of standard-setters from Austratia, Canada, New Zealand, the United
Kingdom, the United States and the IASC. The G4+1 is actively involved in seeking and
developing common solutions to financial reporting issues.
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B. Contents of Financial Statements
IAS Para | Requirements RBNZ Example
IAS1 |7 A complete set of financial statements includes the
following components:
e) Accounting Policies AP
7(a) Balance Sheet BS
7(b) Income Statement IS, CS
7(c) A statement showing either: ME
(1) All changes in equity; or
(1) Changes in equity other than those arising from
capital transactions with owners and distributions to
owners
T(d) Cash flow statement CFS
7 (e) | Explanatory Notes Notes to
Accounts
IAS1 |44 Financial Statements should be clearty identified and See RBNZ
distinguished from other information in the same table of
published document. contents
IAS1 |46 Each component of the financial statements should be In each
clearly identified. In addition, the following information | statement
should be prominently displayed, and repeated when it
is necessary for a proper understandmg of the
information presenied:
IAS1 |49 Financial statements should be presented at least N/A
annually. When in exceptional circumstances, an
enterprises balance sheet date changes and annual
financial statements are presented for a period longer or
shorter than one year, an enterprise should disclose, in
addition to the period covered by the financial
statements:
(a) The reason for a period other than one year being N/A
used; and
(b) The fact that comparative amounts for the income N/A

statement, changes in equity, cash flows and related
notes are not comparable.
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C. Accounting Policies

APPENDIX I

IAS

Para

Requirements

RBNZ Example

IAS 1

20

Management should select and apply an enterprise’s
accounting policies so that the financial statements
comply with all the requirements of each applicable
International Accounting Standard and Interpretation of
the Standing Interpretations Committee. Where there is
no specific requirement, management should develop
policies to ensure that the financial statements provide
information that is:

(a) Relevant to the decision-making needs of users; and

(b) Reliable in that they:

(1) represent faithfully the resuits and
financial position of the enterprise;

(ii) reflect the economic substance of
events and transactions and not merely the
legal form;

(iii) are neutral, that is free from bias;

(iv) are prudent; and

(v) are complete in all material
respects.

AP

IAS 1

91

The notes to the financial statements of an enterprise
should:

(a) Present information about the basis of preparation
of the financial statements and the specific
accounting policies selected and applied for
significant transactions and events.

AP {c)
Financial
instrument
measurement

IAS 1

11

An enterprise whose financial statements comply with
International Accounting Standards shouid disclose that
fact. Financial statements should not be described as
complying with International Accounting Standards
unless they comply with all the requirements of each
applicable Standard and each applicable Interpretation
of the Standing Interpretations Committee.

N/A

32 See also SIC — 8, First-Time Application of IASs as the Primary Basis of Accounting.
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IAS Para | Reguirements RBNZ Example
IAS 1 13 In the extremely rare circumstances when management | N/A
concludes that compliance with a requirement in a
Standard would be misleading, and therefore that
departure from a requirement is necessary to achieve a
fair presentation, an enterprise should disclose certain
information as outlined in paragraph 13.
IAS1 |97 The accounting policies of the notes to the financial
statements should describe the following:
(a) The measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing | AP
the financial statements; and
(b) Each specific accounting policy required for a AP
proper understanding of the financial statements.
JAS1 [99 The accounting policies that an enterprise might
consider presenting include, but are not restricted to, the
following:
(a) Revenue recognition; AP
(b) Consolidation principles, including subsidiaries and | AP (a)
associates;
(c) Business combinations; N/A
(d) Joint ventures; N/A
(e) Recognition and depreciation/Amortisation of AP (g)
tangible and intangible assets;
(f) Capitalized borrowing costs and other expenditure; | AP (d)
(g) Construction contracts; N/A
(h) Investment properties; AP (D
(i) Financial instruments and investments; AP (b)
(j) Leases; AP (h)
(k) Research and development costs; N/A
(1) Inventores; - AP (1)
(m) Taxes, including deferred taxes; AP (m)
{n) Provisions; Note 8
{0) Employee benefit costs; AP (1)
(p) Foreign currency translation and hedging; AP (b)
(@) Definition of business, geographical segments and | AP (q)
the basis for allocation of costs between segments;
(r) Definition of cash and cash equivalents; AP (0)
(s) Inflation accounting; and N/A
(t) Government grants. N/A
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APPENDIX I

IAS

Para

Reguirements

RBNZ Example

IAS 30

Banks use differing methods for the recognition and
measurement of items in their financial statements. The
accounting policies of a bank should include:

(a) The recognition of the principal types of income
{see paragraphs 10 and 11);

(b) The valuation of investment and dealing securities
(see paragraphs 24 and 25);

(c) The distinction between those transactions and
other events that result in the recognition of assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet and those
transactions and other events that only give rise to
contingencies and commitments (see paragraphs 26
to 29);

(d) The basis for the determination of losses on loans
and advances and for writing off uncollectable
loans and advances (see paragraphs 43 to 49); and

(e) The basis for the determination of charges for
general banking risks and the accounting treatment
of such charges (see paragraphs 50 to 52).

AP (¢)
AP (c)

N/A

N/A

N/A

TAS 1

102

An Enterprise should disclose the following if not
disclosed elsewhere in information published with the
financial statements:

(a) The domicile and legal form of the enterprise, its
country of incorporation and the address of the
registered office (or principal place of business, if
different from the registered office);

(b) A description of the nature of the enterprise’s
operations and its principal activities;

(c) The name of the parent enterprise and the ultimate
parent enterprise of the group; and

(d) Either the number of employees at the end of the
period or the average for the period.

Disclosed in
body of annual
report

Note 1

N/A

Disclosed in
annual report

TAS 30

43

A bank should disclose:

(a) The accounting policy which describes the basis on
which uncollectable loans and advances are
recognized as an expense and written off.

N/A
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IAS 32

47(b)

For each class of financial asset, financial liability and
equity instrument, both recognized and unrecognized, an
enterprise should disclose the accounting policies and
methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition
and the basis of measurement applied.

Interpretation of this requirement should include
consideration of disclosure of the hedge accounting
policies.

AP (c)

IAS 39

167

The following should be included in the disclosures of
the enterprise’s accounting policies as part of the
disclosure required by IAS 32 paragraph 47(b):

(a) the methods and significant assumptions in
estimating fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities for significant classes of
financial assets.

(b) whether gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of those available-for-sale assets are included
in: net profit or loss OR are recognized directly in
equity until the financial asset is disposed of; and.

(c) for each of the four categories of financial assets
whether 'regular way' purchases of financial assets
are accounted for at the trade date or settlement
date.

AP (¢)

AP (¢)

AP (¢)

B. Balance Sheet

IAS1

33

Each enterprise should determine, based on the nature of
its operations, whether or not to present current and non-
current assets and current and non-current liabilities as
separate classifications on the face of the balance sheet.
When an enterprise chooses not to make this
classification, assets and liabilities should be presented
broadly in order of their liquidity.

RBNZ uses
broad order of
liquidity




- 66 -

APPENDIX I

IAS

Para

Requirements

RBNZ Example

TAS 30

18

A bank should present a balance sheet that groups assets
and liabilities by nature and lists them in an order that
reflects their refative liquidity.

Current and non-current distinctions are outlined in
IAS1 paragraphs 57 to 63.

RBNZ uses
broad order of
liquidity

IAS 30

23

The amount at which any asset or liability is stated in
the balance sheet should not be offset by the deduction
of another Liability or asset unless a legal right of set-off
exists and the offsetting represents the expectation as to
the realization or settlement of the asset or liability.

This requirement means assets and liabilities should not
be netted against each other unless a legal right of set-
off exists and the net amount represents the expected
settlement.

N/A

IAS 32

33

A financial asset and a financial liability should be
offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet
when an enterprise:

(a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts; and

(b) Intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

N/A
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IAS1 |66 As a minimum, the face of the balance sheet should
include line items which present the following amounts:
(a) Property, plant and equipment; BS
(b) Intangible assets; N/A
(¢) Financial assets (excluding amounts shown under BS
(d), (f) and (g));
(d) Investments accounted for using the equity method; | N/A
(e) Inventories; BS
(f) Trade and other receivabies; BS
(g) Cash and cash equivalents; BS
{h) Trade and other payables; Note 7
(i) Tax liabilities and assets as required by IAS12, BS
Income Taxes;
(1) Provisions; Note 8
(k) Non-current interest-bearing liabilities; N/A
() Minority interest; and N/A
(m) Tssued capital and reserves. BS & Note 10
IAS 30 | 19 In addition to the requirements of other International
Accounting Standards, the disclosures in the balance
sheet or the notes to the financial statements should
include, but are not limited to, the following assets and
liabilities:
Assets
Cash and balances with the central bank; BS
Treasury bills and other bills eligible for rediscounting | N/A
with the central bank;
Government and other securities held for dealing BS
purposes; '
Placements with, and loans and advances to, other BS
banks;
Other money market placements; BS
Loans and advances to customers; and Note 3

Investment securities.

BS




- 68 - APPENDIX [

IAS Para | Requirements RBNZ Example

IAS 30 | 19 Liabilities

BS
Deposits from other banks; BS
Other money market deposits; BS
Amount: ed to other depositors;

ounts owed to posi N/A

Certificates of deposits;

N/A
Promissory notes and other liabilities, and BS
Other borrowed funds.

JAS1 |72 An enterprise should disclose, either on the face of the | Notes to
balance sheet or in the notes to the balance sheet, further | accounts
sub-classifications of the line items presented, classified | present sub-
in a manner appropriate to the enterprise’s operations. classifications.
Each item should be sub-classified, when appropriate by
its nature and, amounts payable to and receivable from
the parent enterprise, fellow subsidiaries and associates
and other related parties should be disclosed separately.

This section highlights that further disclosure and sub-
classification of balance sheet items should be made in a
manner appropriate to the enterprises operations. These
should include disclosures that distinguish between
external customers, other members of the accounting
group and related parties.

IAS 1 72 An enterprise should disclose, either on the face of the | Notes to
balance sheet or in the notes to the balance sheet, further { accounts
sub-classifications of the line items presented, classified | present sub-
in a manner appropriate to the enterprise’s operations. classifications.

Each item should be sub-classified, when appropriate by
its nature and, amounts payable to and receivable from
the parent enterprise, fellow subsidiaries and associates.
and other retated parties should be disclosed separately.

This section highlights that further disclosure and sub-
classification of balance sheet items should be made in a
manner appropriate to the enterprises operations. These
should include disclosures that distinguish between
external customers, other members of the accounting

| group and related parties.
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IAS 1 | 74(a) | Details information to be disclosed for each class of N/A
share capital.
The balance sheet should include:
IAS1 |74(b) | A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve | Note 10
within owners equity.
IAS1 | 74(c) | When dividends have been proposed but not formaily Note 9
approved for payment, the amounts included (or not
included) in liabilities.
YAS 1 | 74(d) | The amount of any cumulative preference dividends not | N/A
recognized.
E. Income Statement
TAS1 75 As a minimum, the face of the income statement should
include line items which present the following amounts:
(a) Revenue; IS
(b) The results of operating activities; CS
(¢c) Finance costs; IS
(d) Share of profits and losses of associates and joint N/A
ventures accounted for using the equity method;
(¢} Tax expense; 1S
(f) Profit or loss from ordinary activities; IS
(g) Extraordinary items; N/A
(h) Minority interest; and N/A
(i) Net profit or loss for the period. IS
Additional line items, headings and sub-totals should be | IS and
presented on the face of the income statement when CS

required by an International Accounting Standard, or
when such presentation is necessary to present fairly the
enterprise’s financial performance.
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IAS 30 |9 A bank should present an income statement which Note 17 and 18
groups income and expenses by nature and discloses the
amounts of the principal types of income and expenses.
IAS 30 | 10 In addition to the requirements of other International
Accounting Standards, the disclosures in the income
statement or the notes to the financial statements should
include, but are not limited to, the following items of
income and expenses:
Interest and similar income; Note 17
Interest expense and simifar charges; Note 18
Dividend income; N/A
Fee and commission income; Note 20
Fee and commission expense; Note 22
Gains less losses arising from dealing securities; N/A
Gains less losses arising from investment securities; Note 17
Gains less losses arising from dealing in foreign Note 17
currencies;
Other operating income; Note 20
Losses on loans and advances; N/A
General administrative expenses; and IS
Other operating expenses. Note 22
IAS1T |77 An enterprise should present, either on the face of the CS
income statement or in the notes to the income
statement, an analysis of expenses using a classification
based on either the nature of expenses or their function
within the enterprise.
This requires expenses to be sub-classified in a manor
appropriate to the enterprise (see paragraph 80 and 82
for examples).
IAS1 |83 Enterprises classifying expenses by function should IS, Note 21

disclose additional information on the nature of
expenses, including depreciation and Amortisation
expense and staff costs.
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IAS 1

85

An enterprise should disclose, either on the face of the
income statement, or in the notes, the amount of
dividends per share declared, or proposed, for the period
covered by the financial statements.

N/A

IAS 30

13

Income and expense items should not be offset except
for those relating to hedges and to assets and liabilities
which have been offset in accordance with paragraph
23.

This requirement should be interpreted by reference to
TAS39 for hedge accounting principles.

N/A

IAS 39

170(c)

Financial statements should disclose significant items of
income, expense, and gains and losses resulting from
financial assets and financial liabilities, whether
included in net profit of as a separate component of
equity. For this purpose:

(a) total interest income and total interest expense
should be disclosed separately

(b) with respect to available-for-sale financial assets
that are adjusted for fair value after initial
recognition, total gains and losses of such financial
assets included in net profit or loss for the period
should be reported separately from total gains and
losses for fair value adjustments of recognized
assets and liabilities included in net profit or 1oss
the period;

(c) the enterprise should disclose the amount of interest
income that has been accrued on impaired loans ...
and that has not yet been received in cash

1S
Notes 17 -22

Notes 17 & 18

N/A

N/A

170¢f)

Disclose the nature and amount of any impairment loss
or reversal of an impairment loss recognized for a
financial asset, separately for each significant class of
financial asset.

N/A

T1AS 21

42

An enterprise should disclose:
(a) the amount of exchange differences included in the
net profit or loss for the period;

IS, Note 19
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IAS 1

86

An enterprise should present, as a separate component
of its financial statement, a statement showing:

(a) The net profit or loss for the period;

(b) Each item of income and expense, gain or loss
which, as required by other Standards, is recognized
directly in equity, and the total of these items; and

(c) The cumulative effect of changes in accounting
policy and the correction of fundamental errors
dealt with under the Benchmark treatments in IASS8.

In addition, an enterprise should present, either within
this statement or in the notes:

(a) Capital transactions with owners and distributions
to owners;

(b) The balance of accumulated profit or loss at the
begimning of the period and at the balance sheet
date, and the movements for the period; and

(¢) A reconciliation between the carrying amount of
each class of equity capital, share premium and
each reserve at the beginning and the end of the
period, separately disclosing each movement.

ME

ME

N/A

N/A

N/A

Note 10

Note 10

IAS 39

170(a)

If a gain or loss from remeasuring available-for-sale
assets to fair value )other than assets relating to hedges)
has been recognized directly in equity, through the
statement of changes in equity, disclose:

(a) the amount that was recognized in equity during the
current period; and

(b) the amount that was removed from equity and
reported in net profit or loss.

N/A

IAS 21

42

An enterprise should disclose:

(b) net exchange differences classified as equity as a
separate component of equity, and a reconciliation
of the amount of such exchange differences at the
beginning and end of the period;

N/A




~73 -

. Cash Flow Statement

APPENDIX 1

IAS

Para

Requirements

RBNZ Example

IAS 7

1

An enterprise should prepare a cash flow statement in
accordance with the requirements of this Standard and
should present it as an integral part of its financial
statements for each period for which financial
statements are presented.

CFS

IAS7

10

The cash flow statement should report cash flows,
during the period classified by operating, investing and
financing activities.

CIS

IAS 7

18

An enterprise should report cash flows from operating
activities using either:

(a) The direct method, whereby major classes of gross
cash receipts and gross cash payments are
disclosed; or

{b) The indirect method, whereby net profit or loss is
adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non-cash
nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future
operating cash receipts or payments, and items of
income or expense associated with investing or
financing cash flows.

CFS

CES

Note 24

IAS 7

21

An enterprise should report separately major classes of
gross cash receipts and gross cash payments arising
from investing and financing activities, except to the
extent that cash flows described in paragraph 22 and 24
are reported on a net basis.

CES

TIAS 7

22

Cash flows arising from the following operating,
investing or financing activities may be reported on a
net basis:

(a) Cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers
when the cash flows reflect the activities of the
customer rather than those of the enterprise; and

(b) Cash receipts and payments for items in which the
turnover is quick, the amounts are large, and the
maturities are short.

CIS
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IAS 7

24

Cash flows arising from each of the following activities
of a financial institution may be reported on a net basis:

(a) Cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and
repayment of deposits with a fixed maturity date;

(b) The placement of deposits with and withdrawal of
deposits from other financial institutions; and

(c) Cash advances and loans made to customers and the
repayment of those advances and loans.

CES

IAS7

29

The cash flows associated with extraordinary items
should be classified as arising from operating, investing
or financing activities as appropriate and separately
disclosed.

N/A

IAS7

31

Cash flows from interest and dividends received and
paid should each be disclosed separately. Each should
be classified in a consistent manner from period to
period as either operating, investing or financing
activities.

CFS

[AS7

39

The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and
from disposals of subsidiaries or other business units
should be presented separately and classitied as
investing activities.

N/A

IAS7

35

Cash flows arising from taxes on income should be
separately disclosed and should be classified as cash
flows from operating activities unless they can be
specifically identified with financing and investing
activities.

CES

IAS7

45

An enterprise should disclose the components of cash
and cash equivalents and should present a reconciliation
of the amounts in its cash flow statement with the
equivalent items reported in the balance sheet.

Note 25

IAS7

48

An enterprise shouid disclose, together with a
commentary by management, the amount of significant
cash and cash equivalent balances held by the enterprise
that are not available for use by the group.

N/A
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IAS Para | Requirements RBNZ Example

IAS1 |91 The notes to the financial stateroents should:

91(b) | Disclose the information required by International Each note
Accounting Standards that is not presented elsewhere in | reflects
the financial statements. requirements
of various
standards
91(c) ! Provide additional information that is not presenied on | Note 2 is an
the face of the financials statements but that is necessary | example.
for a fair presentation.

IAS1 |92 Notes to the financial statements should be presented in | Each note is
a systematic manner. Each item on the face of the referenced to
balance sheet, income statement and cash flow the financial
statement should be cross-referenced to any related statements
information in the notes.

IAS1 |13 In the extremely rare circumstances when management | N/A
concludes that compliance with a requirement in a
Standard would be misleading, and therefore that
departure from a requirement is necessary to achieve a
fair presentation, an enterprise should disclose in
accordance with TAS1 Paragraph 13.

IAS 30 | 26 A bank should disclose the following contingencies and
commitments required by IAS10, Contingencies and
Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date:

(a) The nature and amount of commitments to extend N/A
credit that are irrevocable because they cannot be
withdrawn at the discretion of the bank without the
risk of incurring significant penalty or expense; and

(b) The nature and amount of contingencies and
commitments arising from off balance sheet items | N/A

including those relating to:
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(1} Direct credit substitutes including general N/A
guarantees of indebtedness, bank acceptance
guarantees and standby letters of credit serving
as financial guarantees for loans and securities.
(ii) Certain transaction-related contingencies N/A
including performance bonds, bid bonds,
warranties and standby letters of credit related
to particular transactions;
(iii)Short-term self-liquidating trade-related N/A
contingencies arising from the movement of
goods, such as documentary credits where the
underlying shipment is used as security.
(iv)Those sale and repurchase agreements not N/A —Repos
recognized in the balance sheet; are recognized
(v) Interest and foreign exchange rate related items | on balance
including swaps, options and futures; and sheet
{vi)Other commitments, note issuance facilities N/A
and revolving underwriting facilities.
IAS 21 | 47 Disclosure 18 also encouraged of an enterprise's foreign | Notes 12, 13,
currency risk management policy. 15& 16
IAS 30 | 30 A bank should disclose an analysis of assets and Not complied
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the | with. See Note
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the 16
contractual maturity date.
IAS 32 | 43(a) | An enterprise should describe its financiat risk Notes 12, 13,
management objectives and policies, including its policy | 14, 15, 16
for hedging each major type of forecasted transaction
for which hedge accounting is used.
IAS 32 | 47(a) | Information about the extent and nature of the financial | Note 1

instruments, including significant terms and conditions
that may affect the amount, timing and certainty of
future cash flows.
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IAS 32

36

For each class of financial asset and financial hiability,
both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should
disclose information about its exposure to mterest rate
risk, including:

(a) contractual repricing or maturity dates, whichever
dates are earlier; and
(b) Effective interest rates, when applicabie.

Note 13

IAS 32

66

For each class of financial asset, both recognized and
unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information
about its exposure to credit risk, including:

(a) The amount that best represents its maximum credit
risk exposure at the balance sheet date, without
taking account of the fair value of any collateral, in
the event other parties fail to perform their
obligations under financial instruments; and

(b) Significant concentrations of credit risk.

Note 14 (c)

Note 14 (b)

IAS 30

40

A bank should disclose any significant concentrations of
its assets, liabilitics and off balance sheet items. Such
disclosures should be made in terms of geographical
arcas, customer or industry groups or other
concentrations of risk. A bank should also disclose the
amount of significant net foreign currency exposures.

Note 14 (b)

Note 15

IAS 30

43(b)

43(c)

A bank should disclose:

Details of the movements in the provision for losses on
loans and advances during the period. It should disclose
separately the amount recognized as an expense in the
period for losses on uncollectable loans and advances,
the amount charged in the period for loans and advances
written off and the amount credited in the period for
loans and advances previously written off that have been
recovered.

The aggregate amount of the provision for losses on
loans and advances at the balance sheet date.

N/A

N/A
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43(d)

The aggregate amount included in the balance sheet for
loans and advances on which interest is not being
accrued and the basis used to determine the carrying
amount of such loans and advances.

N/A

IAS 30

44

Any amounts set aside in respect of losses on loans and
advances in addition to those losses that have been
specifically identified or potential losses which
experience indicates are present in the portfolio of loans
and advances should be accounted for as appropriations
of retained earnings. Any credits resulting from the
reduction of such amounts result in an increase in
retained earnings and are not included in the
determination of net profit or loss for the period.

N/A

1AS 30

50

Any amounts set aside in respect of general banking
risks, including future losses and other unforeseeable
risks or contingencies in addition to those for which
accrual must be made in accordance with IAS10.
Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance
Sheet Date, should be separately disclosed as
appropriations of retained earnings. Any credits
resulting from the reduction of such amounts result in an
increase in retained eamings and are not included in the
determination of net profit or loss for the period.

N/A

IAS 30

53

A bank should disclose the aggregate amount of secured
liabilities and the nature and carrying amount of the
assets pledged as security.

Note 1 (g)

IAS 32

77

For each class of financial asset and financial liability,
both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should
disclose information about fair value. When it is not
practicable within constraints of timeliness or cost to
determine the fair value of a financial asset or financial
liability with sufficient reliability, that fact should be
disclosed together with information about the principal
characteristics of the underlying financial instrument
that are pertinent to its fair value.

Note 11
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1AS 32

88

When an enterprise carries one or more financial assets
at an amount in excess of their fair value, the enterprise
should disclose:

(a) The carrying amount and the fair value of either the
individual assets or appropriate groupings of those
individual assets; and

(b) The reasons for not reducing the carrying amount,
including the nature of the evidence that provides
the basis for management’s belief that the carrying
amount will be recovered.

N/A

IAS 32

91

When an enterprise has accounted for a financial
instrument as a hedge of risks associated with
anticipated future transactions, it should disclose:

(a) A description of the anticipated transactions,
including the period of time until they are expected
to occur;

(b) A description of the hedging instruments; and
(¢) The amount of any deferred or unrecognized gain or

loss and the expected timing of recognition as
income or expense.

N/A

IAS 39

169

Financial Statements should include all the following
disclosures relating to hedging:

(a) Describe the enterprise’s financial risk management
objectives and policies, including its policy for
hedging each major type of forecasted transaction

N/A
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IAS 39

169

(a) Describe the enterprise’s financial risk management
objectives and policies, including its policy for
hedging each major type of forecasted transaction

(b) Disclose the following separately for designated fair
value hedges, cash flow hedges, and hedges for a net
investment in a foreign entity”

(i) a description of the hedge;

(i1) a description of the financial instruments
designated as hedging instruments for the hedge
and their fair values at the balance sheet date;

(iii) the nature of the risks being hedged; and

(iv) for hedges of forecasted transactions, the
periods in which the forecasted transactions are
expected to occur, when they are expected to
enter into the determination of net profit or loss,
and a description of any forecasted transaction
for which hedge accounting had previously been
used but that is no longer expected to occur; and

(c) if a gain or loss on derivative and non-derivative
financial assets and liabilities designated as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges has been recognized
directly in equity, through the statement of changes
in equity, disclose:

(i) the amount that was so recognized in equity
during the current period;

(i1) the amount that was removed from equity and
reported in net profit or loss for the period; and

(1i1) the amount that was removed from equity and
added to the initial measurement of the
acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the
asset or liability in a hedged forecasted
transaction during the current period (see
paragraph 160).

Note 12

N/A

N/A
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170(b) | If the fair value for held-for-trading investments and N/A
available-for-sale assets cannot be reliably measured
and the organization is, therefore, measuring these
assets at amortized cost, then an explanation of why fair
value cannot be used should be disclosed and, if
possible, the range of fair value estimates.

170(d) | If the enterprise has entered into a securitisation or N/A
repurchase agreement, disclose, separately for such
transactions occurring in the curresnt financial reporting
period and for remaining retained interests from
transactions occurring in prior financial reporting
periods:

(i) the nature and extent of such transactions,
including a description of any collateral and
quantitative information about the key
assumptions used in calculating the fair values
of new and retained interests;

(i1) whether the financial assets have been
derecognised;

170(e) | If the enterprise has reclassified a financial assets as one | N/A
required to be reported at amortized cost rather than fair
value, disclose the reason for that classification
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Guide to the Main Functions of the Reserve Bank

The Reserve Bank’s outputs are classified according 1o the major functions of the Bank. Definitions of each output are
provided below and where necessary further explanation is provided to enhance the reader's understanding.

Monetary Policy Formulation

Formulating and publicly presenting an ongoing monetary policy strategy to enable the Bank to maintain price stability,
in the most efficient manner possible.

Market Operations

Trading, liaising with and monitoring financial markets, for effective implementation of monetary policy, and
maintenance of the Bank’s capacity to intervene in financial markets in support of the orderly and compaetitive
functioning of those financial markets.

Financial System Oversight

Registering and supervising banks, premoting the efficiency and soundness of the New Zealand financial system and
avoiding the significant damage to the financial system that could arise from a bank failure or other financial system
distress.

Currency Operations

Maintaining the supply and integrity of legal tender currency in order to facilitate cash transactions in the community.
Registered banks pay the Reserve Bark the face value of the currency being issued to them. These funds ara
invested in New Zealand government securities, which are included in local currency financial assets on the Reserve
Bank’s balance sheet to offset the ltability on currency in circulation. Currency in girculation is a non-interest bearing
liability. However, the New Zealand government securities investment portfolio asset is interest-bearing. The income
direcily associated with the issue of currency is referred to as seigniorage and provides the Bank with its main source
of income.

Foreign Reserves Management

Maintaining the capability to counter circumstances of severe illiquidity in our foreign exchange market and
maintaining the Bank’s foreign reserves at a level and in a form suitable for foreign exchange market intervention.

The Crown has advanced foreign currency funds to the Reserve Bank. The Bank has invested these funds in foreign
currency assets that are held as foreign reserves. These assets and liabilities are closely matched by currency,
duration, and value. As a result the Banrk limits its exposure 1o interest and exchange rate movemenis in these
overseas markets.

Banking Services

Providing banking services to the government, setflement banks and approgriate overseas institutions to meet their
banking needs and to facilitate effective implementation of monetary policy.

Overseas Investment Commission Secretariat

Providing the secretariat of the Overseas Investment Commission. The Commission administers New Zsaland’s
legislative controls on major inward foreign investment.

Registry Services

Providing high quality depository, registry and seitlement services to the securities market, in order to contribute to an
efficient and sound financial sector.

The Bank’s registry services are provided through a wholly-owned subsidiary company, RBNZ Registry Limited. The
function is required, under the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989, to be self-funding.

Other Outputs

Producing other outputs which cannot be classified under our main functions. These include sundry economic policy
advice and overseas representation and liaison that relates to the general purposes of the Bank rather than to a
particular function.
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Five Year Financial Summary

1985 1966 1997 1998 1999;

June June June June June;
Financial Position as at: ($m) {3m) {8m) ($m) ($m)|
Assets:
Foreign Currency Financial 4,002 4,474 5,255 6,353 5,8853
Local Gurrency Financial 3,545 3,915 4,029 4413 5321
Gther Assets 65 66 62 61 60
Total Assels 7,612 8,455 9,346 10,827 11 ,zssi:
Liabilities and Equity: :
Foreign Currency Financial 4,002 4,473 5,254 6,350 5,879%
Local Currency Financial 1,571 1,818 1,880 2176 2,926%
Currency in Circulation 1,516 1,599 1,665 1,733 1,885%
Other Liabilities 142 174 151 164 171
Equity a3 391 396 404 405
Total Liabilites and Equity 7,612 8,455 9,346 10,827 11,266}

1995 1996 1997 1998 1998 2000

June June June June June:  June
Consolidated Income and Expenditure | Budget
Financial Year Ending: ($m) (Sm) (8m) ($m) ($m). __ (5m)
Net Investment Incorne 159.1 171.7 170.4 187.4]  186.1 171.2
Other Income 10.4 34.4 10.7 107 17 129
Total Income 169.5 206.1 181.1 198.1| 1978 1841
QOperating Expenses 39.7 38.6 378 37.0 44.2; 43.0
Tax for Current Year 0.6 0.8 0.9 0.8 06 0.3
Surplus for Appropriation 129.2 166.8 142.5 160.3 153.05 140.8
Transfers to Equity 22.8 5.3 6.4 B.4 22 3.1
Payment to Government 106.4 181.4 136.0 151.9 150.85 137.7
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1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

June Jung June June June June
Cost of Services™ :  Budget
Financial Year Ending: ($m) (Sm) (Sm) {$m) ($m); ($m)
Monetary Policy Formulation 6.2 6.5 6.1 6.7 72 7.4
Market Operations 3.0 2.9 2.8 2.8 28 2.9
Financial System Oversight 3.2 3.2 2.8 2.8 2.7} 3.1
Currency Operations 17.6 16.7 16.8 14.0 19.65 18.0
Foreign Reserves Management 3.8 35 37 3.7 40 3.6
Banking Services 0.3 0.4 0.8 0.8 11 1.2
Overseas Investment Commission Secretariat 0.8 06 0.7 0.9 07 0.6
Other Outputs 05 0.5 0.7 0.6 13| 1.0
Total for Fun¢tions within Funding Agreement 351 34.3 33.4 323 39.451 37.8
Registry Services * 5.2 49 55 57 5.9§ 5.8
Less Intercompany Transactions (0.2) 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.3
Tolal Expenditure 40.3 39.4 38.7 37.8 44.9% 43.3

The Statement of Cost of Services shows the total cost of providing each function, including internal transfers between

functions. 1t includes fees charged by the Registry Servicas function o other functions, which are netted off against

Registry income in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance.

3
Figures in this section have been rounded. Totals bave not been adiusted for roumding erzor,

34
Includes tax payable.
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1999/2000 Budget Information

The Reserve Bank's budget has been prepared for a 12 month period and is consistent with the Bank's accounting
policies.

The 1999/2000 budget has been prepared using April 1999 interest rates. No allowance has been made for future
changes in interest and exchange rates.

Budget Assumptions
The major assumptions underlying the preparation of the 1999/2000 budget are that:

1. The Bank performs the functions prescribed in the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989, and existing functions
not direclly specified in the legislation.

2. The levels of activity in the Foreign Reserves Management and Market Operations functions in 1999/2000 will be
similar to the 1998/29 levels.
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The Bank has budgeted to provide the following functions in 1999/2000.

Operating; Operating

APPENDIX I

Operating: Operating

Operating Operating

5
The 1998/1999 actual operating income for Foreign Reserves Management includes $8.900,000 arising from the Bank’s role as holder of

Income; Income| Expensesi Expenses| Surplus Surplus
g | (Deficit)  (Deficit)
Budget: Actua! Budget: Actual Budget Actual
2000 1999 2000: 1999 2000 1999
For the year ended 30 June $000 $000 $000: $000 $000 $000
Function
Monetary Policy Formulation a1 26 7,366/ 72300 (7,325)] (7,204)
Market Operations 8421 17,667 2941, 2,761 5480, 14,906
 Financial System Oversight 5; 8 3,072 2,695 (3,087) (2,687)
Currency Operations 155,642) 145517| 17,960 19.636| 137,682} 125881
Foreign Reserves Management *° 13,5055 26,952 3,6065 3,955 9,8995 22,997
Banking Services 1,590! 1,853 1,212, 1,102 378, 751
Overseas Investment Commission Secretariat 7115 764 643@ 723 68§ 4
Other Outputs . 231 1,011 1,252 (1,011)  (1,021)
Total for Functions within Funding Agreement 179,915} 193,018 37,811 39,354 142,104% 153,664
Registry Services 6,465, 7175 5770 5,368 695 1,307
Less Intercompany Transactions % 2,2455 2,382 2455 362 2,0005 2,000
Total tor Bank 184,135! 197,831 43,336)  44,860| 140,799 152,971
3

international Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights (SDR), During 1998/1999, the SDR assets and liabilities ( and agscciated income streams)
were transferred to the Treasury. Hence, the 199972000 budgeted income for Foreign Reserves Management has declined.

6 .
Intercompany transactions for 1999/2000 includes a budgered dividend from the Registry Services function to other Bank functions. Other

intercompany transactions are matnly for the purchase of Registry Services by other bank functions.



-80- APPENDIX 1T

Consolidated Budgeted Statement of Financial Performance

Budget; Actual
2000: 1999
For the year ended 30 June $000. $000
Operating Income:
Net Investment Income 171,263, 186,114
Other Income 12,8725 11,717
Total Operating Income 184,1 355 197,831
Operating Expenses: ;
Persornel _ 19,624% 21,391
Asset Managernent 6,37955 6,041
New Currency |ssued ) 8,1595 8,323
Administration 1,7895 1,602
Other 7,042 6,858
Total Operating Expenses 42,993% 44,215
Operating Surplus 141,142; 153,616
Taxation 343; 645
Surplus Available for Appropriation 140,799, 152,971
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19 August 1999

MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
Pursuant W section 163 of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989, we hersby certfy that:

1. We have heen responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgements
uscd in them.

2. We have been responsible [or establishing and maintaining a system of internal controls designed to
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the Bank’s financial reporting.

k3 Ln our opinion, the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 1999 fairly reflect the
financial position and operations of the Bank.

Governor F‘
Deputy Chief Executive

/

I~

Dgputy Governor

Ref #35167 v1 2 The Terrace, PC Box 2498, Wellnctor, Mew Zealand
Telephone €4 4 472 2029 Fax 64 4 473 8554



Audit report

To the Readers of the Financial Statements of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand

We have audited (he financial staterments on pages 41 to 79 The financial statements provide information aboul the past
financial performance of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand and group aned its financial position as at 30 June 1999, This
inforration 1= stated in aceordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 41 o 45,

Governoers’ responsibilities

I'he Govemaors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financral
position of the Reserve Bank of Mew Zealand and group as wr 30 June 1999 and ine results of its operarions and cash flows
for the vear ended om that date.

Auditors” responsibilities

[t is our responsibifity 1o express an independent opinion on the financial staternents presented by the Governors and
FEPOTE U Dpnion th you.

Basis of opinion

Arn audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant 1o the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.,
It also includes assessing:

m the significant estimates and judgements made by the Governars in the preparation of the financial stalemenls; and

w  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Reserve Bank of New Zealund and group cincumsianges,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed,

We conducted our audil in accordance with New Zealand Auditing Standards. We planned and parformed our audit so as

to obtain all the information and explanations which we considercd necessary in order to provide us with sutficienr

evidence 1o obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matcrial misstatements, whether caused

by fraud or error. In forming our epinfon we also cvaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the

financial statements,

Cur firm carries oul other assigiuments for the Rescrve Bank of New Zealand and group in the area of wxation advice and
special consultancy projects. The tiom has no other interest in the Reserve Bank of New Zealand and group.

Unqualitied opinion
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have reguired.
1t our opinton:

m proper accounting records have been kept by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand as far us appears from our
cxamination of those records; and

B the finuncial sratements on pages 41 10 79
—  cumply with generally accepled accounting practice; and
—  give atrue and fair view of the finuncial position of the Reserve Bank of New Zeatand and group as at 30 June

1999 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the vear ended on that dale.

Our audit was completed on 19 August 1999 and oor unqualified opinion is expressed as at that date.
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Reserve Bank of New Zealand 1999 Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

These are the consolidated financial statements of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand, a body corporate under the
Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989. These statements apply 1o the financial year ended 30 June 1999. They have
been prepared in accordance with part V1 of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1889. Unless otherwise stated, the
measurement base is historic cost.

in these financial statements the Reserve Bank of New Zealand is also referred to as the “Reserve Bank” or the “Bank”.
(a) Basis of Consolidation

The Reserve Bank accounts for its Registry Services function through a wholly-owned subsidiary company (RBNZ
Registry Limited). The consolidated financial staternents include this subsidiary company. The purchase method of
consolidation is used. All material inter-company balances and transactions have been efiminated. (Separate financial
statements for RBNZ Registry Limited appear in note 30.) Parent financial staternents are not produced because the
difference between the parent and group accounts is not material.

(b} Foreign Currency Conversions

- Transactions in foreign currencies have been translated to New Zealand currency using exchange rates applying on the
settlement dates of transactions. Foreign currency financial assets and financial liabilities have been translated 1o New
Zealand currency using mid-market exchange rates applying at balance date. The following New Zeatand dollar closing
exchange rates for major currencies were used to convert foreign currency assets and liabilities to New Zealand dollars
for reporting purposes.

1999 1998
Euro 0.51385 -
German marks 0.9265
Japanese yen 64.05; 72.11
United States dolfars 0.531! 0.5125

(c) Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Bank presents financial assets and financial liahilities, and the associated income and expense streams, by
distinguishing between foreign currency and local currency activities. Foreign currency activities mainly arise from the
Bank’s foreign reserves management function. Local currency activities mainly reflect the assets and liabilities
associated with monetary policy implementation, investment of the proceeds of issuing circulating currency and
banking activities.

The separate reporting of these activities is considered to provide a better presentation of the Bank’s financial position,
financial performance and risk profile. The Bank considers that the combined reporting of foreign and local currency
. activilies would weaken the informational value of the finangial statements.

All financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Poesition on a trade date basis. This
means that purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised from the date at which the purchase or sale is
agreed.
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Faoreign Currency Marketable Securities

Foreign currency marketable securities are valued at quoted market prices. Changes in market value are recognised
as an increase or decrease in the value of the Marketable Securities asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Gains and losses on marketable securities are recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance as
Unrealised Price Revaluation Income (where the revaluation gains or losses have not been realised) and as Realised
Gains (Losses) from Price Changes where the gains or losses have been realised by selling the securily.

Foreign Currency Term Liabilities

Foreign currency term liabilities are reported at market or fair value. The funds from these liabilities are invested in
fereign currency marketable securities. Hence, this valuation policy ensures consistency with the policy adopted for the
corresponding assets. Market or fair value is imputed by deriving the fair value rate from the relevant market vield curve
of similar liabilities and discounting the future cash flows of the liabilities at this rate. Changes in the value of these
liabilities are recognised as an increase or decrease in the value of the Term Liabilities in the Statement of Financial
Paosition.

Gains and losses on foreign currency term liabilities are recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial
Perfcrmance as Unrealised Price Revaluation expenses (where the revaluation gains or losses have not been
realised) and as Realised Gains (Losses) from Price Changes where the gains or losses have been realised through
repayment of the ligbility.

Repurchase and Reverse-Repurchase Transactions

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are retained as Marketable Securities in the Stalement of Financial
Position. The obligation to repurchase (Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase) is disclosed as a liability.
The difference between the sale and repurchase price represents an expense and is amortised over the term of the
contract and reported in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Securilies held under reverse-repurchase agreements are recorded as an asset {(Securities Purchasad Under
Agreemants to Re-sell). The difference between the purchase price and sale price represents income and is
amartised over the term of the contract and reported in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Both repurchase and reverse-repurchase transactions are reported' at the original transaction value.
Securities Lending Programme

Securities lent out under the securities lending programme are accounted for on the same basis as repurchase and
reverse-repurchase transactions.

Derivative Instrumenis

The Bank’s involvement in derivatives comprises forward foraign exchange swap transactions and a cross currency
interest rate swap.

Foreign exchange swap contracts are used as part of hedged foreign exchange transactions for bath monetary policy
implementation and foreign reservas management. The unrealised foreign exchange gain (Ioss) on unsettied swap
forward transactions are offset by the foreign exchange revaluation on the associated money market instruments.
These are both included within the balance of Short-Term Advances. Premiums and discounts relating to the forward
comiracts are amortised over the term of the contract.

The cross currency interest rate swap is part of a series of hedged transactions that enhance the vield on foreign
currency marketable securities. The market value of the principal components of the swap is derived by discounting
the future cashflows based on the appropriate market yield curves. Changes in the market value of the principal
components are recognised immediately as an increase or decrease in the value of Marketable Securities in the
Statement of Financial Position. Gains and losses are recoghised immediately in the Statement of Financial
Performance as Unrealised Price Revaluation Income (as the gains and losses are not realised). Net interest income
on the principal amounts is reporied as Interest Income from Marketable Securities. The accrued interest on the
principal amounts is reported within the balance of Foreign Currency Accrued Interest.
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Short Sales of Securlties

A short sale is a sale of a security that we do not own. Securities which are sold short are recorded at gquoted market
prices and reported as Short Sales within the balance of Marketable Securities. Any gains or losses are recognised
immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance on the same basis as foreign currency marketable securities.

Unsettied Transactions

Amounts due from unsettled sales of securities {transactions not yet due for settlement) are reported as assets under
the title Receivable from Unsettied Sales of Securities. Amounts payable for unsettled purchases of securities are
reported as liabilities under the title Payable for Unsettled Purchases of Securities.

Unsettled transactions are reported at the contract amounts.

Investment Portfolio - NZ Government Securities

The Bank's investment portfolio is accounted for on a yield to maturity basis. This reflects the intention to hold the
portfolio until maturity as these assets represent the invesiment of the proceeds from issuing currency and the Bank’s
equity. Any premium or discount on purchase is capitalised and amortised over the term of the security.

Market Test Activities

From time to time, the Bank may hold small trading positions in local currency securities as part of market test activities.
These are valued at quoted market prices. Changes in market value are recognised as an increase or decrease in the
value of Other Local Currency Financial Assets. Gains or losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of
Financial Performance as Gain (Loss) from Market Test Activities.

Transaction Value

The following financial assets and liabilities are valued at fransaction date value:
a) local and fareign currency cash;

b) shor-term advances; and

c) current account deposits.

{d) Currency in Circulation

Currency issued by the Reserve Bank represents a ¢lairm on the Bank in favour of the holder. The liability for Currency in
Circulation is recorded at face value in the Statement of Financial Position.

{e) Commemorative and Demonetised Currency

The Reserve Bank has a liability for the face value of commemorative currency. However, it is most unlikely that
significant amounts of commemorative currency will be returned for redemption. The face value of commemorative
currency is therefore recognised as a contingent liability.

The Bank has a liability for the face value of demonetised currency still in circulation. Except for a portion retained in the
Staterment of Financial Position to cover expecied future redemption, this is also recognised as a contingent Liability.
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(f) Land and Buildings

Land is carried at market value. Property intended for sale is valued at the lower of book value or market value.

Buildings are valued at market value excepli for the specialised basements and ground floors occupied by the Reserve
Bank, which are valued at adjusted replacement cost when the properiy is intended to be held for the jonger term.
Surpluses of book value over historic cost for this class of asset are recorded in the Properties Revaluation Account.
Where the book value of this class of asset falls below historic cost, previous revaluations are reversed and the remaining
balance is charged as an expense in the financial year it occurs. Independent valuations of this class of asset are
obtained triennially. Because of this policy of regutar valuation, buildings are not depreciated.

{q) Other Fixed Assets

Other Fixed Assets are carried at cost, less depreciation. The foliowing assets held by the Reserve Bank of New
Zealand are depreciated on a straight line basis over the given terms:

Computer Hardware 4 years
Computer Software 5years
Plant and Equipment Syears

Motor vehicles are depreciated on a diminishing value basis al a raie of 26 percent per annum. Other assets are
depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives. Computer software is capitalised when total costs
exceed $100,000.

(h) Operating Leases

Lease rentals payable on operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Financial Perfermance over the term of the
lease.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis.
Unissued currency stocks are recorded as inventory at the cost of acquisition and expensed when issued.

(i) Accounis Receivable

Accounts Receivable are carried at expected realisable value after making due allowance for doubtfui debts.

{k) Currency and Artwork Collections and Archives

iterns held in the Reserve Bank's currency and artwork collections and archives that have a material commercial value
are valued at estimated market values. Nominal values have been placed on items with no material commercial
value.Collections are not depreciated. Additions are held at cost until subsequent revaluations.

() Personnel Expenses

Perscnnel expenses include the full cost of all staff benefits, including any applicabie Fringe Benefit Tax. Salaries and
leave accrued at year end are reported as Accrued Employee Entitlements.

(m) Taxation
Only RBNZ Registry Limited is liable for income tax.

The taxation charged against profit includes both current and deferred taxation calculated under the comprehensive
method.

Deferred taxation arises from items of income and expenditure being included in taxation computations in periods
different from those in which they are recorded in the financial statements.
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(n) income Allocated Between Functions

Each function receives income and incurs expenses relating directly to the assets and liabilities used exclusively by that
funciion. Notional balance sheets are calculated for each of the Bank’s functions as though each function cperated
autonornously. Income and expense flows are also attached 1o the notional funding for each function. This structure
enables each function to more accurately report the financial outcome of the services provided.

The income earmed from the assets funded by the Bank’s net equity is allocated equally to the Foreign Reserve
Management and Market Operations functions.

{0) Cash Flows

Cash is defined as those items that are convertible to cash within two working days and are used in the day-to-day
cash management of the Bank.

Investing activities include the cash movements, including realised gains and losses, in the Reserve Bank's financial
asset portfolios. Also included are cash flows arising from movements in fixed assets, and loans to staff.

Financing activities are those arising from the issue of circulating currency, borrowing from the Treasury, and paymeni of
the net operating surplus to the Crown.

Qperating activities include income and expenditure cash flows not included as investing or financing activities.
(p) Custodial Activities

Securities held by the Reserve Bank through a subsidiary company under custodial arrangements are not included in
these financial statements (see note 32).

(1) Segmental Reporting

The Bank presents financial assets and financial liabilities, and the associated income and expense streams, by
distinguishing between foreign currency and local currency activities. In addition, the Bank provides operating results by
function. The Bank considers that these reporting approaches provide appropriate segmental reporling of the Bank's
activities.

{r) Comparative Amounts

To ensure congistency with the current year, comparative figures have been restated where appropriate. The material
change is in Foreign Currency Financial Assets, where $242,732,000 of Short-Term Advances were re-classified as
Cash Balances with Cther Central Banks.

{s) Changes in Accounting Policies

There has been no change in the Reserve Bank's accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 1998,
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

1999; 1998
As at 30 June Note $000: $000
Assels: :
Foreign Currency Financial Assets .
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 3811 18 250,513
Marketable Securities 2 3,539,726'5 4,419,325
Short-Term Advances - 84,778
Receivable from Unsettled Sales of Securities 41 ,435% 93,031
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sell 1,860,245% 1,431,814
Accrued Inierest 62,6405 71,610
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights . 2172
Total Foreign Currency Financial Assets 5,885,164 6,353,243
Local Currency Financial Assets !
Cash on Hand 78 94
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sell 3,063,64B§ 1,058,000
Advances to Government . 1,194,982
Investment Portiolio - NZ Government Securities 2,205,7123 2,098,051
Accrued Interest 50,5793 61,020
Other Local Currency Financial Assets 3 1,2653 547
Total Local Currency Financial Assets 5,321 ,282% 4,412 694
Total Financial Assets 11,206,446, 10,765,937
Non-Financial Assets ;
Accounts Receivable 2,180% 1,952
Inventories 4 7,122; 6,330
Deferred Taxaticn 605 76
Currency & Artwork Collection 7675 767
Fixed Assets 5 49,372; 52,393
Total Non-Financial Assets 59,501 £1,518
Total Assets 11,265,947, 10,827,455
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1999: 1998
Note 5000: $000
Liabilities: :
Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities .
Short-Term Deposits 30,509
Payable for Unsettled Purchases of Securities 283,221 22,082
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase 1,190,600? 1,213,666
Term Liabilities 4,313,042E 4,601,986
Accrued Interest N ,949; 114,516
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights * 367,070
Total Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities 5,878,812% 6,349,829
Local Currency Financial Liabilities ;
Government Deposits 2,880,976 956,473
Other Deposits 6 451 69 16,148
Reserve Bank Bills * 1,208,586
Accrued Interest 40813 344
Total Local Currency Financial Liabilities 2,926,553 2,176,551
Total Financial Liabllities 8,805,365§ 8,526,380
Non-Financial Liabilities |
Currency in Circulation 1,884,8163 1,733,306
Provision for Transfer of Surpius 9 150,81 8 151,890
Other Liabilities 7 20,058§ 11,637
Total Non-Financial Liabilities 2,055,692 1,896,833
Total Liabilitieé ’ 10,861 ,057% 10,423,213
Equity 10 404,890 404,242
Total Liabilities and Equity 11,265,947 10,827,455

The above staternent is to be read in conjunctions with the notes on pages 105 to 131.

3 Since New Zealand joined the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in the 1960s. the Reserve Bank has been the agent responsible for holding
New Zealand’s allocation of TMF Special Drawing Rights (SDRs). New Zealand's allocation of SDR assets represented a liability on the Reserve
Bank balance sheet, while holdings of SDRs provided the counterpart asset. During 1998/1999, the SDR assets and liabilities were transferred to
the Treasury. SDR's are now directly accounted for on the crown balance sheet (see note 1.(c) (ii}).

38 The Bank ceased issuing Reserve bank bills on 3 February 1999. All Reserve Bank bills and the related Advances to Government were repaid
by 9 April 1999 (see note 1.(()).
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance

Actual Budget; Actual
1999 1999 1998
For the year ended 30 June Note 5000 $000: $000
Operating Income: |
Income from Financial Assets 17 455,909 633,992
Expenses on Financial Liabilities 18 (268,894) (457,656)
Net Foreign Exchange Revaluation Gain (Loss) 19 (901) : 11,035
Net Investment Income 186,114 158,720/ 187,371
{Other Income 20 11,717 11,425; 10,683
Totat Operating Income 197,831 170,1 455 198,054
Operating Expenses: _ ;
Personnel™ 21,391 19,277§ 18,435
Asset Management 21 6,041 8,803 6,268
New Currency lssued “ 23 8,323 6,1735 4,214
Administration 1,602 1,776} 1943
Other 22 6,858 6,668; 6,140
Total Operating Expenses 44215 40,697 37,000
Operating Surplus 153,616 1 29,448% 161,054
Taxation 31 645 330; 750
Surplus Available for Appropriation 9 152,971 1291 185 160,304

The above statement is to be read in conjunctions with the notes on pages 105 to 131.

9
The increase in Personnel expenses in the 1998/1999 year mainly reflects the expense arising from the provision for restructuring the currency
Operations function over the next 12 to 18 months {(see note 8).

40
New Currency Issued expenses were above budget due to a higher than expected demand for the new $20 polymer bank notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cost of Services

Operating Operating Operating Operating: Operating

Income Expenses Surplus  Surplus;  Surplus

(Deficit)  (Deficit),  (Deficit)

Actual Actual  Actual  Budget! Actual

1999 1999 1999 1999: 1998

For the year ended 30 June Note $000 $000 $000 $000; $000
Functions: :

Monetary Policy Formuiation 26 7,230 (7,204) U,‘ITO)} (6,681)

Market Operations 17,667 2,761 14,906 9,599§ 11,946

Financial System Oversight 8 2,695 (2,687} (2,713)§ (2,765)

Currency Operations 23 145,517 19,636 125,881 118,448§ 132,453

Foreign Reserves Management 26,952 3,955 22,997 10,554§ 24,616

Banking Services 1,853 1,102 751 633, 123

Overseas Investment Commission Secretariat 764 723 41 3_2§ (279)

Other Outputs 231 1,252 (1,021) (934) (629)

Total for Functions within Funding Agreement 193,018 39,354 153,664 128,4493 158,784

Registry Services 30 7,175 5,868 1,307 669, 1,520

Less Intercompany Transactions *' 2,362 362 2,000 - -

Surplus Available for Appropriation 197,831 44,860 152,971 129,11 B 160,304

The Consolidated Statement of Cost of Services shows the total cost of providing each function, including internal

transfers between functions.

The above statement is t0 be read in conjunction with the notes on pages 10510 131.

41
Intercompany transactions include $2,000,000 dividend paid from the Registry Services function. Other intercompany transactions are mainly

for the purchase of Registry Services by other Bank Functions
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
1999! 1998
For the year ended 30 June Note $000: $000
Cash Flows From Operating Activities: i
Source:
Interest Received ;
Foreign Currency 190,0163; 243,758
Local Currency -Investment Portfolio 162,646? 157,396
Local Currency -Other 109,5405 125,170
Fees, Commissicn and Other Income Received 6,9755 16,380
469,177, 542,699
Disbursements: .
Interest Paid :
Foreign Currency 21 8,577% 198,406
Local Currency 70,009; 126,916
Payments to Suppliers and Employees 32,569 40,034
Income Tax Paid 6935 810
GST Paid (Received) 77 (29)
321,925/ 366,137
Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities 24 147,252 176,562
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Source: ;
Net Decrease in Foreign Currency Marketable Securities 931,0193 116,216
Net Decrease in Other Foreign Currency Financial Assels 118,690% 124,312
Net Repayment of Advance to Government 141 94,982% 33,646
Net Decrease in Other Local Currency Financial Assets 2773 586
Net Increase in Other Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities 199,681 331,148
Sale of Fixed Assets 772 39
2,444,726 605,947
Disbursements:
Net Increase in Foreign Currency Securities Purchased under Agreements to Re-sell 428,431 547,240
Net Purchases of NZ Government Securities for Investment Portfelio 116,8435 91,980
Purchase of Fixed Assets 1,931 2,837
547,2055 642,067
Net Cash Flow From Investing Activities 1,807,521 (36,120)
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1999! 1998
Note $000; $000

Cash Flows From Financing Activities: |

Source: :
Issue of Girculating Currency 11,61 8,8345 11,174,840
Withdrawal of Circulating Currency 11,467,4545 11,106,848
Net Issue of Circulating Currency 151 ,430; 67,992

Disbursements: :
Net Repayment of Foreign Currency Term Liabilities 301,?385 (107,589)
Transfer of SDRs to Treasury 367,0705 -
Net Repayment of Reserve Bank Bills 1,21 3,000% : 30,000
Payment of Surplus to Government 151,890% 136,015
2,033,6985 58,426
Net Cash Flow From Financing Activities { ,382,268)5 9,566
Cash Flows from All Activites 162,505 150,008
Plus Exchange Rate Effect 23,168; 328,758
Net Cash Flows from All Activites 185,673? 478,766
Opening Cash Balance 3,543,9093 3,070,143
Closing Cash Balance 25 3,734,582§ 3,548,909

The above statement is to be read in conjuncticn with the notes on pages 105 to 131.

Cash is defined in the Statement of Cash Flows as those items that could be liquidated in two working days and are
used in the day to day cash management of the Bank. This definition includes local currency securities purchased
under agreements to re-sell and a substantial portion of the Bank’s foreign reserves portfolio (see note 2).

Previously, cash was defined as those items that were convertible “at call”. The change in definition resulted in an
increase in reported cash balances of $6,638,100,000 (1998 $4,513,655,000) and an increase in investing cash flows
of $2,124,445,000 (1998 $526,739,000).

Cash movements in some portfolios have been presented net as this is considered to provide a fairer presentation of
the moverments in the Bank's cash profile.

For further information on the management of the Bank’s liquidity, see Note 16 Liquidity Risk.
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Consolidated Statement of Movements in Equity

1999; 1998
For the year ended 30 June Note $000 $000
Equity at Start of Year 404,242} 396,408
Net Surplus for the Year 152,971 160,304
Movement in Properties Revaluation Account 10 (1,505)5 (580)
Total Recognised Revenues and Expenses for the Year 151 ,4663 159,724
Provision for Transfer of Surplus to Government 9 (1 50,818)§ (151,890)
Equity at End of Year 404,890 404,242

The above staternent is to be read in conjunclion with the notes on pages 105 1o 131.
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Notes to be read as part of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

1.

&)

(b)

(c}

Nature and Extent of Activities

The Reserve Bank's role as a central bank determines the nature and extent of its activities with respect to financial
instruments. This role is defined by the Aeserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989,

Foreign Currency Activities

Foreign currency activities regult mainly from the Reserve Bank’s holdings of foreign currency assets under its
foreign reserves management funclion. These assets are held in various currencies. The majority are
denominated in United States dollars, Japanese yen and euros. The overall level of these asseis is determined by
the Treasurer on advice from the Bank.

The financial instruments held within these foreign currency portiolios consist mainly of sovereign securities,
securities held under reverse-repurchase transactions or balances held with other central banks, commercial banks
and setttement institutions. Liquidity and credit risk are key ctiteria in determining the type of instruments held.

The funding for these assets is provided by foreign currency loans from the Treasury. These loans incur interest at
market rates. The overall currency compoesition of the assets and liabilities is determined in consuitation with the
Treasury. Generally these loans are held 1o maturity, though from time to time the opportunity to repay early
may be taken at the instigation of either the Bank or the Treasury where this is expected to reduce the cost of
funding.

Subject to liquidity and credit risk constraints being safisfied, the Bank defines benchmark portfolios that
reprasent 8 ‘neutral” asset structure in terms of market risk relative to the funding structure. The neutral position
is established to minimise the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk arising from
changes in the yield curve. In general, liquidity and credit risk constraints dictate that the retum on the neutral
asset structure will be tess than the cost of funding.

The Reserve Bank also hoids, from time to time, foreign currency assets and liabilities that arise from the
implementation of domestic monetary pelicy. Any foreign currency exposures related to domestic menetary policy
implementation activity are fully hedged through the use of foreign currency swaps.

The Bank also participates in the foreign exchange dealing markets on its own account and to meet the foreign
currency needs of public sector customers.

Departures from Neutral Positions

Departures of the asset portfolio from the neutral assel structure are undertaken where there is an expected
increase in returns, within defined risk boundaries. Expcsures are also incurred by short sales of assets, again
for expected return enhancement within defined risk boundaries.

Decision-making for departures from neutral asset positions typically involves delegated discretion fo specialist
staff or trading strategies pre-agreed with the Bank’s senior management.

For further information on the risk management policies relating to financial instrurments, see noies 12 to 16,
Events during 1998/1999

{i)y On1 January 1999, the new euro currency was launched. This currency replaced a number of European
currencies for financial transactions, including the German mark. All the financial assets and liabilities held
by the Bank that were denominated in these currencies were redenominated into euro currency during the
first week of January 1999.

{i) During 1998/99, the Bank's role as holder of Internationatl Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights {(SDRs)
was transterred from the Bank to the Treasury. This reflecied the increased efficiency of cne organisation
managing the Crown’s net SDR position. The foreign currency assets and liabilities transferred to the
Treasury were of equal value.
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Derivatives

The Bank’s involvement in derivatives comprises forward foreign exchange swap transactions and a cross
currency interest rate swap.

The Bank uses forward foreign exchange swap contracts as part of hedged foreign exchange transactions for
both monetary policy implementation and foreign reserves management. The Bank did not have any forward
foreign exchange swap transactions at 30 June 1993 (1998 US $55 million).

In Novemnber 1997 the Bank entered into a cross currancy interest rate swayp (exchanging principal of US $110
million) as part of a series of hedged transactions to enhance the yield on the US dollar fixed rate porifolio.

Securities Lending Programme

As part of its foreign reserves operations, the Reserve Bank participates in a securities lending programme
managed by The Chase Manhattan Bank. Under the programme, The Chase Manhattan Bank lends out securnities
owned by the Bank in exchange for cash or alternative securities. The range of financial assets that can be
acquired under the programme is constrained by guidelines compatible with those that apply to the Bank’s own
foreign currency asset portfolios.

The total market value of securities which have been made available to participate in this programme is limited to
US $700 million. As at 30 June 1999, the market value of securities lent out under the programme was US $400.8
million (1998 US $389.5 million).

Local Currency Activities
Local currency activities arise on two main counts:
() Liguidity management operations.

Liguidity management largely involves the Reserve Bank offsetting the daily net flows through Government
Deposits by advancing funds to or withdrawing funds from the banking system. Most of this business is
undertaken through daily open market operations, but arrangements for handling the residual liquidity flows
have changed during the year. Under the Official Cash Rate scheme (OCR) (introduced on 17 March
1949), the Bank advances or withdraws ¢ash at a margin to the QCR. Before the OCR, the Bank soid
Reserve Bank bills to the market and undertook to buy these bills from the market when additional liquidity
was needed. Proceeds from the sale of Reserve Bank bills were advanced to the government. Thesa
were recorded as liabilities (Reserve Bank Bills) and assets (Advances to Government). The Bank ceased
issuing Reserve Bank bills on 5 February 1999. All Reserve Bank bills and advances to government were
repaid by @ April 1999

(i) Holding assets representing the investment of the Reserve Bank's net equity and supporting the liability for
currency in circulation. This investment portfolio comprises holdings of New Zealand government bonds.
The Bank's policy is to hold these investments until maturity.

From time to time, the Bank may also hold small trading positions in Crown or registered bank securities as part of
market tast activities,

Restrictions on Title fo Asseis

As part of the active management of its foreign currency operations, the Reserve Bank enters into security
repurchase transactions. The securities sold by the Bank under repurchase agreements continue to be recorded as
Marketable Securities in the Bank’s Statement of Financial Position. At balance date, securities with a book value
of $1,191 million (1998 $1,214 million) had been sold to counterparties under repurchase agreements. These
transaclions are also recognised as a liability for Securities Sold under Agreements to Repurchase in the Bank's
Statement of Financial Position.

The Bank aiso purchases securities under reverse-repurchase agreements in both its foreign currency and local
currency operations. These transactions are recognised as Securilies Purchased under Agreements to Re-sall in
the Bank's Statement of Financial Position.

Concentrations of Funding
The Bank has a concentration of funding from the New Zealand governmertt. The funding for foreign currency

assets is provided by foreign currency loans from the Treasury. Funding for local currency assets is from
govarnment deposits, bank deposits and the issue of circulating currency.
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Asset Notes

Marketable Securities 1999 1998
$000§ $000

Marketable Securities
- Liguifiable within two days (considered cash equivalent) 321 5,8835 3,212,923
- Liquifiable outside two days (not considered cash equivalent) 719,7935 1,158,586
Short Sales (599,588). (168,789)
Cross Currency Swap position 203,6385 216,605
3,539,726, 4,419,325

Cross Currency Swap position comprises
- Swap derivative components (35,531)‘3 596
- Government securities 239,169, 216,009

3.

The change in the value of the Cross Currency Swap positicn is [argely offset by changes in the value of the
Bank's liabilities. This is consistent with the Bark's risk management practice of matching assets and liabilities.

Other Local Currency Financial Assets 1999| 1998

$000 $000
Receivable from Unsettled Foreign Exchange Transactions 1,000 -
Agvances to Staff 1741 334
Term Loans 91 213

1,265, 547
Inventories 1999 1998

$000; $000
Bank Notes for Circulation 4,087 2,880
Coin for Girculation 2,716/ 3,157
Commemarative Currency 319’ 290
Office Supplies - 3
Total Inventories 7.1 22§ 8,330
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Fixed Assets

1999 1999 1999 1998 1998 1998
Historic Accumulated Book; Historic Accumulated Book
Cost Depreciation Value; Cost Depreciation Value
$000 $000 $000! $000 $000 $c00
Freehold Land 8,080 14,510
Buiidings 17,835/ 25,910
Property Intended for Sale 13,000? -
38,915 40,420
Computer Hardware 4,538 3,116 1,422 4,583 3,970 613
Plant 5,643 5,343 300; 5,627 5,303 324
Office Equipment 6,543 5,481 1062 7.044 5,391 1653
Software 7,747 5,266 2,481 7,131 4,568 2,563
Currency Processing Equipment 5,018 3,294 1,725! 5019 2,667 2,352
Motor Vehicles 186 116 70! 296 138 158
Building Improvements 5,155 2,660 2,495; 4,039 2,004 2,035
Tenancy Inducements 1,658 1,116 543 1,761 1,020 741
Work in Progress 359 - 358! 1,534 - 1534
10,457 11,973
Total Fixed Assets 49,372, 52,393

The book values for land and buildings are market values based on existing use with the exception of the Wellington
specialised basement and ground floors occupied by the Bank, which are valued at adjusted replacement cost. The
market value of the Wellington Head Office fo a purchaser not requiring the Bank's specialised facilities is $22,600,000

(1998 $22,600,000).
Valuation Date Registered Valuer Last Valuation
$000
Auckland Property June 1898 Jones Lang Wooton Limited 13,000
Wellington Head Office June 1988 Jones Lang Wooton Limited 24,350
Wellington Carparks June 1999 Darroch Limited 1,565

38,915
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Liability and Equity Notes
6. Other Deposits

1999! 1998
$000: $000
Settlement Bank Deposits 1,141 ! 1,652
Central Bank Deposits 2,030; 2,564
Staff Deposits 4,81 8 7.660
International Monetary Fund Deposits 37,1 80 4,272
45,169 16,148

7. Qther Liabilities :
1999 1998
Note $000§ $000
Accounts Payable 14,925; 7.024
Accrued Employee Entitlements 2,021 2,540
Cther Current Liabilities 401 750
Provision for Restructuring 8 1,4665 -
Demonetised Currency 1,245% 1,323
20,058! 11,637

Demonetised currency is recognised as a contingent liability (see note 29(¢)) except for $1,245,000 (1998
$1,323,000), which has been retained to cover future expecied redemption.

Pre-decimal-currency coin was issuec by the Treasury and is included in the Bank's contingent fiabilities (see note
29(b)).

8. Provision for Restructuring

1999/ 1998
$000 $000
Balance at Start - -
Provision Made _ 1,466{ -
Balance at End 1,4ssé .

The Bank has made a provision for the restructuring of its currency operations. This has resulted in an increase
in personnel expenses for the year ended 30 June 1999, This provision includes payments to currency staif who
will become redundant over the next year or sQ, as the volume of bank note processing diminishes. The decline
in bank note processing arises from the introduction of the more durable polymer notes that will enable the Bank
to become less directly involved in the circulation of cash in the community. The precise timing of these
payments will depend on the pace with which the banks are able to set up alternative distribution systems, but is
expected to occur during the next twelve to eighteen months.

9. Transfers to Retained Earnings and Provision for Transfer of Surplus

Under section 162 of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1088, the Bank's surplus, after any transfers to or from
Equity, is paid to the government.
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Transfers to or from the Reserve Bank's Equity reflect the ditference between actual operating expenses and the
level of expenditure specified under the Bank's Funding Agreement with government plus the RBNZ Registry net
surplus. Under-spending by the Bank in relation to the Funding Agreement results in a transfer 1o Equity. Over-
spending by the Bank results in a transfer from Equity. In the current year, under-expenditure by the Bank of
$846,000 (1998 $6,894,000) has consequently been transferred to the Bank's Equity. |n addition, the RBNZ

Registry net surplus of $1,307,000 (1998 $1,520,000) forms part of the Bank’s consolidated equity.

The Bank’s subsidiary, RBNZ Registry Limited, proposes to pay the Bank a dividend of $2,000,000 (1998

$2,000,000) in respect of the year ended 30 June 1999,

The Treasurer may authorise additionat transfers to Equity. In the current year, no additional transfers have been
made and the Bank's consolidated surplus, net of the fransfers noted above, has been recorded in the Provision for

Transfer of Surplus.

1999 1998

$000§ $000
Allowable Expenditure under Funding Agreement 40,200§ 39,195
Operating Expenses for Functions Covered by the Funding Agreement 39,354% 32,301
Under-expenditure Transferred to Equity 846% 6,894
Surplus Available for Appropriation 152,971 160,304
Less Transfers to Equity: ‘
Under-expenditure under Funding Agreement 845% 6,894
RBNZ Registry Limited Surpius 1,307§ 1,520
Total Transfer to Equity 2,153% 8,414
Provision for Transfer of Surplus 150,818, 151,890
Equity

1999, 1998

$000: $000
Retained Earnings :
Opening Balance 395,510? 387,096
Add Transfers to Retained Eamings:
Reserve Bank of New Zealand 8465 6,394
RBNZ Registry Limited 1,307, 1,520
Closing Balance 397,663 395,510
Properties Revaluation Account !
Opening Balance 8,0525 8,632
Decrease in Value of Auckland Property (1,500); (645)
Increase {Decrease) in Value of Wellington Property (5)5 65
Closing Balance 6,5475 8,052
Collections Revaluation Account ;
Closing Balance 680/ 680
Total Equity 404,890 404,242

The Properties Revaluation Account recognises the surplus of book value over cost of the Bank's properties in

Auckland and Wellington.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arms-length transaction.

When a financiat instrument is traded in an organised and liquid market that is able to abserb a significant
transaction without moving the price against the trader, quoted market values represent fair value.

Derivatives

The fair value of derivatives is calculated using discounted cash flow models based on current interest rales for the
type and maturity of the underlying instrument.

The Bank had no forward foreign exchange swap coniracts at 30 June 1999. Hence, there was no unrealised
fareign exchange gain {loss) at 30 Jure 1999 (1998 $564,000).

The fair value of the derivative companents of the cross currency swap at 30 June 1999 was -$35.5 million (1998
+$0.6 million). The swap is part of a series of hedged transactions that enhance the yield on the US dollar portfolio.

The total value of the Cross Currency Swap position was $203,638,000 (1998 216,605,000) (see note 2),
Financial Assets and Liabilities

All other financial assets and liabilities are valued at either guoted market prices or prices derived irom market yield
curves, as described in the Bank’s accounting policies, except as detailed beiow.

Repurchase and Reverse-Repurchase Agreements

The reported value of repurchase and reverse-repurchase agreements is considered to approximate their fair
vaiue due to the short term nature of the agreemenis.

Unsettied Transactions

The reported value of unsettied sales and purchases is considered tc approximate their fair value due to the very
short term until settlement occurs.

Investment Porifolio - NZ Government Securities

The Bank's holdings of NZ government securities have a fair value of $2,298,421,000 (1998 $2,187,366,000). This

. has been calculated by discounting the current holdings of NZ government securities at 30 June 1999 market rates.

Short-Term Advances and Current Account Deposils

The carrying values of the above instruments are considered to approximate their fair value as they are shott term
in nature or are receivable on demand.

Currency in Circulation

The fair value of currency in circulation is considered to be its face value as reported in the accounts.
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Risk Management Notes

12

13.

Risk Management

In its financial activities, the Bank is subject to interest rate, credit, foreign currency, liquidity and operating risk. The
policies for managing interest rate, credit, foreign currency and liquidity risk are outlined in notes 13 to 16. A Risk
Management Committee comprised of senier management is responsible for advising the Governgr on the
monitoring and management of alt risks to which the Bank is exposed.

Comprehensive guidelines control the manrner in which the Reserve Bank conducts its local currency, foreign
currency reserves management, and foreign exchange dealing cperations. These guidelines contain specific
provisions designed to minimise the risk associated with each operation.

Operating risk is the risk of logs arising from the breakdown of internal controls. These risks are managed as part of
the day-to-day running of all business operations.

A separate Risk Unit maintains the Bank’s financial risk management framework. This is outlined in notes 13 10 16.
The Risk Unit and Accounting Services Department are responsible for the daily monitoring of the Bank's financial
risk exposures.

The Risk Assessment and Assurance Department (which includes Audit Services) repors to the Govemnors and the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. A risk-based framework which evaluates key business risks and internal
controls is used to determine the extent and frequency of audits conducted. All Bank departiments are subject to
review and audit.

An Audit Committee, comprised of three non-executive members of the Board of Directors, monitors the accounting
practices and policies and internai control systems cf the Bank on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Commitiee
also reviews the internal audit function and has direct access to the exiernal auditor.

interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in interest rates.
Foreign Currency Interest Rate Risk

Because the Bank's foreign currency assets are funded by foreign currency liabilities whose interest rate
characteristics cannot be exactly replicated, even "neutral” asset portfolios involve interest rate risk. The interest
rate characteristics of the liabilities are similar to those of high rated bank and corporate instruments, but liquidity
considerations require that most investments are in United States, Japanese and German domestic government
instruments, The Bank accepts the associated spread risk as inevitable, but seeks to closely limit additionai
(mainly duration-related) interest rate mismatches. As at 30 June 1989, the calculated potential annual income
variance inherent in the neutral assetAiability structure was approximately pius or minus $53 million (1998 plus or
minus $40 miltion) at a 95% probability. Recent annual variances have been substantially smaller.

Interest rate risk arising from depariures from the neutral pesition is managed in three ways (and monitored
daily). Discretionary positions adopted by specialist statf are conirolled by “Funds at Risk” limits. Funds at Risk
measures the potential daily income variance from mast movements in market interest rates. The Funds at Risk
limits are set to constrain daily income variance to remain under 3 basis points on 19 out of 20 days. Given the
Funds at Risk positions on 30 June 1999, the likely {19 days out of 20 probability} loss from any adverse interest
rate movements would have been less than plus or minus $0.2 million {1998 plus or minus $0.4 millicn).

Secondly, interest rate risk arising from trading strategies or positions pre-agreed with the Bank's senior
management are consirained by limits on position size. The scale of income variance from interest rate risk
arising from these strategies was plus or minus $0.7 million as at 30 June 1999 (1998 plus or minus $0.6 million)
at the same probability as used for Funds at Risk.

Thirdly, stop-loss limits are set for the various departures from the neutral position. Separate stop-loss limits of
$2 million in any calendar month are applied to both discretionary and strategic departures from the neutral
position. Therefore, in the worst case, the maximum total loss before stop loss-limits would be triggered is $4
million in any calendar month.
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Funds at Risk limits for the foreign currency asset portiolios, actual Funds at Risk as at 30 June 1999 and the pegk
Funds at Risk values over the period were:

United States Dollar Euro  Japanese Yen 1999; 1998

Peorttalio Portfolio Porifolio Total: Total

Funds at Risk Basis Points _ Basis Points Basis Points Basis Points: Basis Points
Limit 3.00 2.50 2.50 f

As at 30 June 1999 0.32 0.42 0.72 0.46! 0.78

Peak over period 1.92 2.47 2.44 1.?95 1.20

Locaf Currency interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk on the Investment Portfolio - New Zealand Government Securities is not actively managed as a
matter of policy. This decision recognises two factors:

{a) That active risk management could require the Bank to carry out transactions that may seem in conflict with
the Bank's monetary policy stance.

(b) That the investment porifolio held by the Bank is exactly matched by liabilities held by the Crown, so from a
consclidated Crown position the interest rate risk is eliminated.

The Reserve Bank's exposure to interest rate risk that arises from liquidity management operations is minimal due
to the very short-term nature of the exposures created and because the exposures are offset by other interest-
bearing assets and liabilities.
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Assets and liabilities will mature or re-price within the foliowing periods:

Weighted : Non-
Average 1988  Interest & Months 8012 {to2 2t05 Qver 5
Intarest Total, Sensitive orLess Months Years Yoears Years
As 2t 30 June 1999 Rate 5000 $oac $000 $000 3000 3000 $000
Foreign Currency Financial Assets
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 4.78% 381,1183 - 381,118 - - - -
Marketable Securities 3.50% 3,539,7263 - 354,681 468,652 386,448 896,552 1,393,303
Short-Term Advances - - - - - - - -
Receivable from Unsettled Sales of Securities 0% 41,4353 - 41,435 - - - -
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sal 1.48% 1,560,2453 - 1,860,245 - - - -
Accrued Interest 0% 62,640§ - 62,640 - - - -
Intemational Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights - - - - - - - -
Total Foreign Currency Financial Assets 2.88% 5,885,164; - 2,740,119 468,852 386,448 808,652 1,393,393
Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities
Short-Term Deposilé - - - - - ~ - -
Payable for Uinsettled Purchaszes of Securities 0% 283221 - 283,221 - - - -
Securities Sold Under Agreements 1o Repurchase 1.03% 1,190,600;: - 1,180,600 - - - -
Term Liabilities 3.44% 4,313,0421* - 1,135,374 283,878 702,425 173,688 1,417,677
Acerued Interest 0% 91949 - 91949 - - - .
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights - - - - - - - -
Total Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities 273% 5,6878.81 2 - 2701144 283,878 702,425 773,688 1,417,677
Fereign Currency Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap 6,3523 - 38,975 184,774 {315,977) 122,864 {24,284)
Local Currency Financlal Agsets
Cash on Hand 0.14% 78! - 78 - - . -
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-selt 4.49% 3,063,64B§ - 3,083,648 - - - -
Advances to Government - - - - - - - -
investment Portfolio - NZ Government Securities 7.568% 2,205,712§ - - 446,758 503,304 452,163 803,487
Accrued Interast 0% 50,5793 - 50,579 - - - -
Other Local Currency Financial Assets 1.25% 1,2653 - 1,000 86 37 142 -
Mon-Financial Assets 0% 59,501 58,501 - - - - -
Taotal Local Currency Assets 5.66% 5,380,7833 53,501 3,115,305 446,844 503,341 452,305 803,487
Lacal Currency Financial Liabliities
Government Deposits 450% 2,880,976 - 2,880,076 - - . -
Cther Deposits 0.57% 45.1691 - 45,169 - - - - -
Resarve Bank Bills ) - - . - - - - -
Accrued Interest 0% 4081 - 408 - - - -
Neon-Financlal Liabilities 0% 2,055,6921 2,055,892 - - - - -
Equity 0% 404,890 404890 - - . . .
Total Local Currency Liabilitles and Equity 2.41% 5.387,1353 2,460,582 2,925,553 - - - -
Local Currency interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (6,352)3 (2,401,081) 188,752 446,844 503,341 452,305 803,487
Total interest Rate Sensitivity Gap ‘
All Currencies - {2.401,081 227,727 631,618 187,354 575,169 779,203
New Zealand (6,352); (2,401,081} 188,752 446,844 503,341 452,305 803,487
United States 3,21 9 - 165812 (57.628) {189,670} 71,039 13,664
Euro 1 .400; - (215,286) 242,400 (126,307} 88,285 12,308
Japan 1,5005 - 88,216 - - (36,460) {50,256)
Cther 2335 - 233 - - - -
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Comparative figures as at 30 June 1998 were:
Weighted : Noh-

Average 1998. Imterest & Months 61012 o2 2105 Over §

Interest Total;  Sensitive or Less Months Years Years Years
As at 30 June 1998 Rate $000: $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Foreign Currency Financlal Assets :
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 5.80% 250,5135 - 250,513 - - - -
Marketable Securities 4.03% 4,419,3255 - 752,140 307,897 728,249 1,154,747 1,475,292
Short-Term Advances . 5.21% 84.7785 - 84,778 - - - -
Receivable from Unsetiled Sales of Securities 0% 93,031 - 93,031 - - - -
Securities Purchased Under Agreements io Re-sell 1.76% 1,431.8142 - 1431814 - - - -
Accrued Interest 0% 71 .6105 - 71,610 - - - -
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Righis 4.28% 2.172; - 2,172 - - - -
Total Foreign Currency Financial Assets 3.51% 6,353,243§ - 2,686,058 307,897 729,249 1,154,747 1,475,282
Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities
Short-Term Deposits 0.55% 30,509; - 30,509 - - - -
Payable for Unsettled Purchases of Securities 0% 22,032% - 22,082 - - -
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase 0.28% 1,21 3,666‘: - 1,213,666 - - -
Term Lizbilities 4.05% 4,601 ,936; - 821,566 156,877 726,809 1,457,064 1,439,880
Acorued Inlerest 0% 114,518 - 114516 - - -
Intemational Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights 4.28% 357,070; - 367.070 - - -
Total Foreign Currency Finanecial Liabilities 3.24% 6,349.829; - 2,569,409 156,877 726,609 1,457,054 1,439,880
Foreign Currency Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap 3,414: - 118,649 151,020 2,640 -302,307 35.412
Local Currency Financial Assets
Cash on Hand 0% 945 - 94 - - - -
Securities Purchased Under Agreements tc Re-sell B.83% 1,053,000; - 1,058,000 - - - -
Advances to Govemment B.74% 1,194,9825 1,194,982 - - - -
investment Perifolio - NZ Govemment Securities 7.85% 2,098,051 - 148,962 - 441,951 659,589 B45,539
Accrued Interest 0% 81 ,0205 61,020 - - - -
Other Local Currency Financial Assets 8.32% 547; - 94 56 107 255 35
Non-Financial Assets 0% 51,5135 61518 . - . - -
Total Local Currency Assets 8.10% 4,474,21 2 81,518 2,464,152 56 442,058 659,854 846 574
Local Currency Financial Liabilities
Govarnment Deposits B.40% 956,4735 - 956,473 - - - -
QOther Deposits 4.33% 16,143 - 16,148 - - - -
Reserve Bank Bills 8.74% 1,203,5365 - 1,203,586 - - - -
Accrued Interest 0% 3445 - 344 - - - -
Non-Financial Liabilities 0% 1,896,333; 1,896,833 - - - - -
Equity 0% 404,242@ 404,242 - - - - .
Total Loeal Currency Llabllities and Equity 415% 4,47?,626§ 2,201,075 2,176,551 - - - -
Local Currency Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (3,4‘14)5 (2.239,557) 287,601 56 442 058 659,854 846,574
Total Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap |
All Currencies - (2,239,557) 404,250 151,076 444,698 357,547 881,986
New Zeaiand (3,414)5 (2,239,557) 287,801 56 442,058 659,854 B46,574
United States 163,182; - 34,960 - 187,402 [98,852) 38,802
Germany 69,241 - 219,897 142,351 (164,927) (105,383) {22,697}
Japan 53,173 143,974 8,669  (19,83)5 (97,942) 18,307
Other 282,182)| - (282.182) - - .
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing to discharge its obligations.
Credit Risk Management

Credit risk in the foreign currency portfolios is monitored and managed daily. End-of-day exposures are controlled
through comprehensive individual counterparty and issuer credit imits. These limits are measured in credit-
equivalent terms depending on the nature of the exposure. Exposures to particular classes of counterparty are
constrained by aggregate credit limits. Counterparties are allocated to a particuiar class based mainly on their
credit rating. Geographical exposures are controlled by couniry limits. Limits are updated as necessary when new
market information emerges, with all limits formally reviewed on an annual basis.

Credit risk in the Jocal currency portfolios is alsc monitored and managed daily. Intra-day and inier-day exposures
are controlled through comprehensive individual counterparty and issuer limits. Exposures to the New Zealand
government are not included in this credit framework. Most exposures arise under intra-day reverse-repurchase
agreements entered into with settlement account holders under the real time gross setttement system. Securities
that the Bank accepts under intra-day reverse-repurchage agreements include New Zealand government bonds,
Treasury bills, and short term paper issued by registered banks and highly rated corporates. The securities are
held in the Bank's name for the duration of the exposure and there is no charge for this intra-day liquidity. The
exposures 1o the counterparty from whom secutilies are purchased under reverse-repurchase agreements are
menitored but are not subject o formal limits. The Bank usually onty accepts New Zealand government paper in its
inter-day liquidity management operations. However, as part of the year 2000 contingency plan, the Bank has
advised financial market participants that it will accept (two name) bank paper in open market operations and
cvernight reverse-repurchase transactions from around the start of December until mid January 2000.

The maximum [oss that the Bank would suffer as a result of a security issuer defaulting is the value reported in the
accounts.

Concentrations of Credit Exposure

The Bank's significant end-of-year concentrations of credit exposure by industry type were as follows:

1999 1998

$000; $000
New Zealand Govemment 5,286,108 4,406,003
Other Sovereign Issuers {excluding New Zealand Government) 5,237,0063 5,335,114
Supranational Financial Institutions 182,1973 250,572
Foreign Banks 436,705§ 578,348
Other 64,430 195,800
Total Financial Assets 11,206,446 10,765,937

Credit exposures arising from securities purchased under agreements to re-sell (reverse-repurchase
agreements) are classified according to the issuer of the security for credit exposure concentration purposes.
This is consistent with the Bank's view of the substance of the credit exposure and internal risk management
purposes. An alternative approach is to classify credit exposures arising from securities purchased under
agreemenis to re-seil according to the counterparty to the transaction. Using this approach would result in credit
exposures of $1.86 billion (1998 $1.43 billion) being reported against securities trading firms and $3.06 billion
(1998 31.06 hillicn) reported against New Zealand banks instead of against Other Sovereign Issuers and the
New Zeazland Govemment respectively.

The Bank's maximum credit risk exposure in relation to derivatives is the cost of re-establishing the derivative
contracts in the market in the event of the failure of the counterparty to fulfil their obligations. This cost is the fair
value of the derivatives as reported in Note 11, Fair Value of Financial Instruments.
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The Bank's significant end-of-year concentrations of cradit exposure by geographical area (based on the entity’s
country of ownership) were as follows:

(c)

1999 1998

$000: $000
New Zealand 5,286,357; 4,406,341
USA 2,140,192) 2,353,916
Japan 1,745722) 1,723,654
Germany 1,659,983 1,685,226
Supranational Financial Institutions 182,197% 250,572
Other 191,985 346,228
Total Financial Assets 11,206,446; 10,765,937

Credit Exposure by Credit Rating

The following table presents the Bank's financial assets based on Standard and Poor's credit rating of the issuer.
AAA is the highest quality rating possible and indicates the entity has an extremely strong capacity to pay interest
and principal. AAis a high grade rating indicating a very strong capacity and A is an upper medium grade indicating
a strong capacity. BBB is the lowest investment grade rating indicating a medium capacity to pay interest and
principal. Ratings lower than AAA can be modified by + or —signs to indicate relative standing within the major
categories. N/R indicates the entity has not been rated by Standard and Poor's.

% ot 1999/ % of 1998
Credit 1999 financial, 1998  financial
Rating $000 assets 3000 assets

Foreign Currency Financial Assets ;
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks AAA 380,953 3.4%§ 250,326 2.3%
AA+ 165 0%, 187 0%
Marketable Securities AAA 3,196,488 28.5%E 3,877,292 36.0%
AA+ 63,793 0.6% 221,354 2.1%
AA 81,820 0.7%; 219,368 2.0%
AA- 197,625 1.8% 101,311 0.9%
Short-Term Advarices AA+ - 4 es778  08%
Receivable from Unsettled Sales of Securities AAA 41,435 0.4%? 93,031 0.9%
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sell  |AAA 1,860,245 1 6.6%5 760,162 7.1%
AA - - 381,470 3.5%
N/R - - 200,182 2.7%
Accrued Interest Various 62,640 0.5%; 71,610 0.7%
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights  |AAA - 2,172 0%

5,885,164 52.5%: 6,353,243 59.0%
Local Currency Financial Assets:
Cash on Hand AA 78 0% 94 0%

Advances to Government AA+ " - 1,194,982 11.1%
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sell  [AA+ 3,063,648 27.3%5 1,058,000 9.8%
Investment Portiolio - NZ Government Securities AA+ 2,205,712 19.?%@ 2,098,051 19.5%
Accrued Interest Various 50,579 0.5%; 61,020 0.6%
Other Local Currency Financial Assets AA 1,000 0%5 - -

N/R 265 0%| 547 0%

5,321,282 47.5% 4,412,694 41.0%
Total Financial Assets 11,206,446 1 00.0%5 10,765,937 100.0%
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{d) Credit Exposure by Counterparty

The table below shows the number of issuers where the Bank’s credit exposures42 equalled or exceeded 10% of

equity for:

. End-of-year actual credit exposure;

. Peak end-of-day credit exposure (on the basis of limits);

. Peak local currency intra-day credit exposures (on the basis of limits). These exposures arise through
intra-day reverse- repurchase agreements entered into with settlement account hoiders under the real time
gross setttement system.

E Peak locali  Peak local
; Peak: Peak currency; currency
% of equity End-of-year: End-of-year| end-of-day: end-of-day intra-day: Intra-day
1999; 1998 1999; 1998 1999 1998
10% 10 19.9% 7! 6 28; 31 21 23
20% to 29.9% 1; 5 1i 1 1 1
30% to 39.9% 1 16; 14 1
40% to 49.9% - 2| 6 10 14
50% t0 59.9% - - - -
60% t0 69.9% - 19! 17 - .
70% 10 79.9% - 1i - . -
80% to 89.9% - 1 - .
90% to 99.9% - 16} 30 - -
100% 10 109.9% - - - -
110%t0 119.9% - 3; 2 - -
120% to 129.9% - 3! 2 - ;
140% 10 149.9% - 2! - - -
150% to 159.9% : { - .
160% 10 169.9% - - - -
9| 9 - ]
200% 10 209.9% - ; ] .
240% to 249.9% - 1 . - .
310% to 319.9% 1 - - -
320% to 329.9% - - - .
350% 10 359.9% 1i - - - -
420% 10 429.9% 1 - ] .
430% 1o 439.9% 1 ; ] - )
490% 10 499.9% 1| : 2 2 - -
510% 10 519.9% 1 . - .
590% 10 599.9% - 1 - -
610% to 619.9% - 1i : - ]
740% 10 749.9% - 1, . . )
770%10 779.9% - 1 - -

Peak-end-of-day exposures greater than 100% are to foreign banks, supranational financial institutions and
sovereign issuers. End-of-year exposures grealer than 100% are to highly-rated sovereign issuers.

42
Excludes exposures to the New Zealand government,
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Foreign Currency Risk

APPENDIX 1T

Fareign currency risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in exchange rates. The Reserve Bank is not exposed
to any significant foreign currency risk. The assets held in foreign currency portfolios are matched by foreign
currency liabilities of approximately equal vaiue. All foreign exchange trading exposures are constrained by low
intra-day and ovemight position limits and stop-loss limits (menitored on a daily basis). Foreign currency assets and
liabilities arising from domestic monetary policy implementation activity are fully hedged using foreign currency

sSwaps.

As at 30 June, the Reserve Bank's net exposure to major cusrencies, including forward foreign exchange swap

contracts and foreign currency swaps, was:

Currency of Denomination

United : Total

States Japanese Other: All

Doilar Euro Yen Currencies: Currencies
As at 30 June 1999 $000 $000 $000 $000; $000
Foreign Currency Financlal Assets
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 363,734 357 16,794 2335 381,118
Marketable Securities 1,482,458 889,345 1,167,923 E 3,539,726
Short-Term Advances - - - - -
Receivable from Unsettled Sales of Securities - 41,435 - - 41,435
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-seil 829,965 721,385 308,895 - 1,860,245
Accrued Interest 24,927 26,656 11,057 - 62,640
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights - - - - -
Total Foreign Currency Financial Assets 2,701,084 1,679,178 1,504,669 233; 5,885,164
Forelgn Currency Finangcial Liabilities |
Short-Term Deposits - - - - -
Payable for Unsettled Purchases of Securities - 283,221 - - 283,221
Securities Soid Under Agreements o Repurchase 754,830 204,127 231,643 -1 1,190,600
Term Liabilities 1,803,804 1,154,599 1,254,639 4,313,042
Accrued Interest 39,231 35,831 16,887 91,949
Intemational Monetary Fund Special Drawirg Rights - - - -
Total Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities 2,697,865 1,677,778 1,503,169 -1 5,878,812
Off Balance Sheet Instruments ) i ;
Net Currency Exposure 3219 1,400 1,500 233; 6,352
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Currency of Denomination

United : Total
States Japanese Other; All
Dollar Euro Yen Currencies! Currencies
As at 30 June 1998% $000 8000 $000 $000! $000
Foreign Currency Financial Assets
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 247,870 1,882 54 907, 250,513
Marketahle Securities 1,895,800 1,464,051 1,053,474 4,419,325
Short-Term Advances 2,698 - (2,135) 84,215 84,778
Receivable from Unsettled Sales of Securities - - 93,031 - 93,031
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sel! 910,030 140,313 381,471 -+ 1,431,814
Accrued Interest 29,643 32,380 8,374 213 71,610
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights 950 403 315 504! 2,172
Total Foreign Currency Financial Assets 3,086,791 1,639,029 1,541,584 85,8395 6,353,243
Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities i
Short-Term Deposits - - 30,509 - 30,509
Payable for Unsettled Purchases of Securities - - 22,082 - 22,082
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase 791,849 31,366 390,451 - 1,213,666
Term Liabilities 1,968,773 1,492,365 1,140,848 - 4,601,986
Accrued Interest 52,380 46,139 15,388 609, 114,516
International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Rights 160,486 68,031 53,310 85,243 367,070
Total Foreign Currency Financial Liabilities 2,973,488 1,637,901 1,652,588 85,8523 6,349,829
Off Balance Sheet Instruments {110,805) - 110,805 - -
Net Currency Exposure 2,498 1,128 {199) (13) 3.414

16. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds at short notice t0 meet commitments
associated with finangiat instruments. Liquidity risk is also the risk that an entity will have to sell a financial asset

quickiy at much less than its fair value.

Foreign Currency Activities

Liquidity is a key criterion in determining the composition of the Bank’s foreign currency assets. This reflects the
potential requirement to liquefy fareign resarves for intervention purposes should the need arise. Accordingly,
there is an array of interacting controls aimed at ensuring quick access to funds. These controls include liquid
asset ratios based on the liquidity ¢characteristics of securities held and limits on the minimum and maximum
preportion of reserves that may be held in any one currency. These limits are monitored on a daily basis.

The Bank has additional liquidity arrangements for foreign currency assets including:

(a) Repurchase agreements with other central banks that provide for the Bank to sell securities in exchange for
foreign currency, while simultaneously agreeing to repurchase those same securities at a specified later date for an
agreed amount. In essence, the arrangement allows the Bank to enhange the liquidity of its foreign reserves

portfolio with minimurm additional risks; and

(b) Maintaining a standby credit facility (US $100 million) to augment the amount of foreign currency that can

be accessed.

Local Currency Activities

The Bank is responsible for managing the daily liquidity of the banking system. This includes advancing and
withdrawing funds from the banking system in order to smooth out the daily peaks and froughs. The nature of
these activities, which mostly involve offsetting the flow of funds from one Bank customer (the Crown) to cther
Bank customers (settlement banks on behalf of their clients), is such that the Bank is not subject to the liquidity

constraints that impact on other organisations.

43 . . . . . .
SDRs have been disaggregated into their composite currencies for net currency exposure, see note 1(c) (ii).
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Income from Financial Assets
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Performance Notes

1999 1998
$000 | $000
income from Foreign Currency Assets i
Interest Income: |
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 11,811 9,725
Marketable Securities 154,760 191,828
Short-Term Advances 2,130 7,726
sel Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re- 19,862 11,517
Securities Lending 737 796
International Monetary Fund 8,783 8,252
Total Interest Income 198,083 229,844
Unrealised Price Revaluations (26,045) 51,555
Reaiised Gains from Price Changes 34,598 54,726
Gains from Foreign Exchange Trading 191 132
Other Income (4,202) | 139
Total income from Foreign Currency Assets 202,625 336,396
Income from Local Currency Assets
Interest Income: :
He—s:‘lecurmes Purchased Under Agreements to 42,544 34,924
Advances to Government 44.837 ; 99,348
Seculr?t\if:;tment Portfolio - NZ Government 164,079 161,007
Government Bank Accounts 1,027 851
Advances to Staff 24 55
Term Loans 5 10
Other Securities 46 171
Total Interest Income 252,562 296,454
Gain from Liquidity Management Swaps 697 1,136
Gain from Market Test Activities 25 8
Total Income from Local Currency Assets 253,284 297,596
Total Income from Financial Assets 455,909 633,992
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18. Expenses on Financial Liabilities
1999 ! 1996
$000 : $000
Expenses on Foreign Currency Liabilities '
Interest Expense: :
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase 11,132 | 10,744
Term Liabilities 178,205 | 205,119
IMF Special Drawing Rights 6,672 14,103
Total Interest Expense 196,009 249,966
Unrealised Price Revaluations 3,238 | 48,858
Realised (Gain) Loss from Price Changes (10,206) 33,213
Other Expenses 375 384
Total Expenses on Foreign Currency Liabilities 189,416 332,421
Expenses on Local Currency Liahilities
Interest Expense: ;
Government Deposits 33,326 26,212
Other Deposits 1,950 | 938
Reserve Bank Bills 44,202 | 98,085
Total Expenses on Local Currency Liabilities 79,478 125,235
Total Expenses on Financial Liabilities 268,894 457,656
19. Net Foreign Exchange Revaluation Gain (Loss)
1999 ; 1998
$000 $000
Foreign Exchange Revaluations: |
Gain (Loss) on Financial Assets 26,746 1,046,179
Gain (Loss) on Financial Liabilities (27.6847) (1,035,144
Net Foreign Exchange Revaluation Gain (Lass) (901) | 11,035
20. Other Income
Agtual Budget! Actual
1999 1999 1998
$000 $000§ $000
Fees for Registry Services 6,225 6,1 14% 6,084
Sales of Commemorative Currency 1,539 1,458§ 1,380
Rental Income from Properties 1,74 1,699% 1,810
Registered Bank Fees 5 a 3
Currency Distribution Income 499 488% 491
Overseas Investment Commission Fees 763 824% 581
Miscellanecus 955 8343 334
Total Other Income 11,717 11,425 10,683
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Asset Management Expenses
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Asset Management Expenses include depreciation charged against assets of $3,372,000 (1938 $3,144,000).

The following depreciation methods and/or rates have changed from those used in 1998:

1989 1998
Method Rate: Method Rate
Compuler Hardware Straight Line 4 yearsé Diminishing Value 50%
Computer Software Straight Line 5 yearsg Straight Line 3 years
Plant and Equipment Straight Line 5 years‘i Diminishing Value 30%
Motor Vehicles Diminishing Value 26%3 Diminishing Value 30%

The Bank considers the new depreciation methods result in a more appropriate allocation of depreciation

expenses.

Using the previous methods/rates, the Bank's depreciation expense would have been approximately $4,528,000

far the 1999 year.

Other Operating Expenses

Actual Budget; Actual

1999 1999. 1998

$000 $000' $000

Other Professional Fees 1,722 1 ,8975 1,976
Computer Expenses 1,732 1 ,6365 1,461
Information 940 878 841
Operational Travel 667 6325 549
Rental 254 229; 251
Printing 306 261/ 214
Agency and Commissions 293 434; 243
Audit Fees 235 2325 214
Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration 100 88 88
Miscellaneous 609 391/ 303
6,858 6,668, 6,140

Total Other Operating Expenses

Other Operating Expenses include $117,000 (1998 $155,000) paid to the Bank’s auditors for work undertaken

outside their capacity as auditors of the Bank.



-124 - APPENDIX I

Other Notes
23. Currency Operations

The Reserve Bank owns properties in Auckland and Wellington. The Bank’s buildings are primarily designed for
secure currency operations, so their operating costs are reported as past of the Currency Operations function.

The buildings also provide office accommodation for ather Bank functions. These functions pay market rentals via
internal costing systems. Surplus office space is rented to other parties on market terms.

As part of the Currency Operations function, the Bank issuas commemeorative currency. The net loss for this activity
in 1999 was $44,000 (1998 $359,000 profit). The 1999 result includes redundancy expenses of $305,000 arising
from praviding for restructuring Collectors' Currency Operations during the next financial year (see note 8).

Packaging and handling fees are charged to banks for the provision of currency distribution services.

1999; 1998

$000§ $000

Seigniorage 141,705 142,731
Commemorative Currency Sales 1,538; 1,380
Rental Income from Properties : 1,731 1,810
Packaging and Handling Fees 499; 491
Other Income 44; 32
Operating Income 145,517, 146,444
New Note Issue Expenses 6,180 2,179
New Coin Issus Expenses 1.4 0 1,409
Commemorative Currency Issue Expenses 733; 626
Total Currency Issue Expenses 8,323 4,214
Currency Processing Expenses 11,6055 10,217
Net Property Management Expenses (Income) (292); (440)
Operating Expenses 19,5365 13,991
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Reconciliation of Operating Cash Flows with Reported Operating Surplus

1989; 1998
$000 $000
Reported Operating Surplus 152,971 ! 160,304

Add (Subtract) Non-Cash ltems:
Depreciation 3.3723 3,144
Capital Accretion 1,557 19,675
Revaluations 29,283% 45,675
Net Change in Foreign Currency Balance™ (117,280)3 223,129
(83,068). 292,623

Add (Subtract) Movements in Other Working Capital ltems:
Increase in Accounts Receivable (228)§ 1,351
increase in Accounts Payable 8,499 (3,389)
increase in Inventories (792) (880)
Decrease in Interest Payable (22,503)§ 52,162
Decrease in Interest Receivable 19,411 {23,137)
Decrease in Deferred Taxation 16/ -
4,403, 26,107

Add (Subtract) Investing and Financing Activities:
Realised (Gains) Losses 72,946, (302,472)
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 147,252 178,562

25. Consolidated Cash Balances

1999, 1998
$0003 $000

Foreign Currency Assets: §
Cash Balances with Other Central Banks 381,1183 250,513
Marketable Securities ~ Liquifiable Within Two Working Days 3,215,8831 3,212,923

Local Currency Assets:
Cash on Hand 78 94
Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Re-sell 3,063,6483 1,058,000
6,660,727 4,521,530

Demand Liabilities: |
Government Deposits 2,880,9763 956,473
Settiement Bank Deposits 1,141 1,652
Central Bank Deposits 2,030; 2,564
Staf Deposits 4,818! 7,660
International Monetary Fund Depaosit 37,1805 4,272
2,926,145; 972,621
Closing Cash Balances 3,734,582 3,548,909

The net change in the foreign currency balance represents the unrealised effect of exchange rate movements on the Bank’s foreign currency

assets and liabilities, The net effect of the Bank’s overall results, after allowing for realised exchange rate gains and losses, is a net loss of
$901,000 (1998 $11,035,000 gain).
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26. Statemant of Commitments

The Reserve Bank’s commitments in relation to cutstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at balance date
were as follows:

Foreign Exchange Transactions
1999 1998
$000; $000
The Bank will receive - 110,805
The Bank will pay 110,805

The Bank leases office and storage space in Christchurch, and is committed to pay an annual rental of $232,595
until 30 June 2000.

27. Free Services
The Reserve Bank of New Zeatand Act 1989 empowers the Bank to charge directly for some of its functions.
Some services are provided free of charge. These include services such as providing information to Ministers and
Parliament, contributing to policy and briefing papers, providing information to the public, storing official documents
securely, and providing information and library facilities to parties such as government departments and economic
research crganisations.

The Reserve Bank receives some free services from other organisations. In general these relate to the provision of
irformation necessary to perform the Bank's fungtions.

The Bank liaises closely with other central banks and international agencies. information and staff training are
exchanged free of charge with these institutions.

28. Related Parties

In the normal course of its operaticns, the Bank enters into transactions with related parties. Related parties include
the Crown, as ultimate owner of the Reserve Bank, various government departments and Crown entities.

Transactions entered into include:

(a) banking services;

{b) short-term advances;

{c) agency transactions {at no charge);

(dy foreign exchange transactions; and

(e) funding from the Treasury as part of the foreign reserves management operations.

The Bank does not present the values of fransactions and outstanding balances with Crown-related parties due to
the large volume of transactions and the large number of related parties. Unless otherwise stated, all transactions

take place with reference to market rates. Theretore, disclosure of the values of fransactions and outstanding
balances with Crown entities is not expected to provide useful or material additional information.
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29. Contingent Liabilities

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

In terms of a Trust Deed dated 16 May 1980, the Reserve Bank has a contingent liability to maintain the
actuarial soundness of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Staff Superannuation and Provident Fund, following
each triennial review of the Fund.

On 2 February 1995 the Bank ceased making contributions to the defined benefit division of the Fund on the
advice of the Fund's Actuary that such contributions were nc longer necessary. The position is re-examined
as part of each triennial review.

The Actuary investigated the financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 1999 and reported on 22 July 1999
that, based on the Fund's annual accounts:

(i) the assets of the Fund would have been sufficient at 31 March 1999 to provide for the benefits payable
to or in respect of all members, including existing pensioners, in the event of the Fund being wound up at
that time;

(i} the assets of the Fund would have been sufficient at 31 March 1999 to provide for benefits toc members,
including existing pensioners, that are attributable to membership prior to 1 April 1899; and

(i} totheir knowledge, there have been no circumstances between 31 March 1899 and 30 June 1999 that
would cause them to form a different opinion as at 30 June 1999,

Coin issued by the Treasury prior to July 1889 is not recorded by the Reserve Bank within the total of currency
in circulation. The Bank has accepted liability for ail coin in the first instance, whether issued by the Treasury
or the Bank. However, shoulc coin returned 10 the Bank exceed that issued by the Reserve Bank, the liability
for the excess would revert 1o the Treasury. The face value of coin issued by the Treasury is $37,702,000.

The Bank has a contingent liability for currency in circulation that has been demanetised but not returned to
the Bank.

The Bank has a liability for the face value of commemorative currency. However, it is most unlikely that
significant amounts of commemorative currency will be retumed for redemption at face value. The face value
of alt commemorative currency issued by the Bank to date is 57,399,000 (1998 $6,792,000).

Commemorative coin was issued by the Treasury prior to July 1983. Particular specimens of series issued
both before and after 1989 are not generally distinguishable. The Bank has in practice accepted a contingent
liability for all commemerative coin, but part of this liahility could revert to the Treasury should large quantities
of coin be returned.

The Bank has indemnified the statutory managers of DFC New Zealand Limited against liability arising from
the statutory management of DFC New Zealand Limited, which essentially ended on 15 October 1997,
However, these indemnities continue and were given under sections 5 and 39 of the Reserve Bank of New
Zealand Act 1989, on substantially the same terms as those provided by the Crown under Pari V of the
Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989.

Previous Year's Contingent Liabilities

The above five contingent liabilities were recorded in the Reserve Bank’s 1998 Annual Report. The only
liabilities to arise during the year were:

(i) demonetised currency with & face value of $77,918 was returned to the Bank for redemption at face
value; and

(i) commemorative currency with a face value of $6,629 was returned to the Bank for redempiion at face
value,
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RBNZ Registry Limited Notes

30. RBNZ Registry Limited

The Reserve Bank operates registry services through a wholly-owned subsidiary company, RBNZ Registry Limited.
The Bank provides various support services to RBNZ Registry Limited and charges for these services at their cost

to the Bank.
@) RBNZ Registry Limited Statement of Financial Position
1999 1998
As at 50 June $000: $000
Assets: |
Current Assets: !
Bank Accounts 9,939 9,130
Accounts Receivable 1,3683 1,288
Prepayments : 49 19
Deferred Taxation 60 76
Fixed Assets 586? 752
Total Assets 12,002 11,265
Liabilities
Current Liabilities: !
Accounts Payable 874, 813
Funds held in Trust for Stockholders 638; 225
Withholding Tax 4,3965 1,561
Funds Received in Advance from Issuers 151 872
Funds Due to the Treasury 514; 1,718
Fees Received in Advance 23 194
Goods and Services Tax Payable 245 15
Provision for Dividend 2,000; 2,000
Equity: .
Issued Capital 3,000; 3,000
Retained Earnings 1 74? 867
Total Liabilities and Equity 12,0025 11,265
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(b} RBNZ Registry Limited Statement of Financial Performance

1999 1998
For the year ended 30 June $000; $000
Operating Income: i
Fees for Registry Services 6,4245 6,171
Interest 544 889
Foreign Exchange Gain 2 18
Other income 205; 125
Total Operating income 7,175, 7,203
Operating Expenses: .
Personnel 2,132§ 1,881
Administration 1,2725 1,253
Computer Expenses 985; 910
Asset Management 312; 400
Depreciation 3 350
Audit Fees 30; 25
Other % 151 114
Total Operating Expenses 5,223% 4,933
Net Operating Profit Before Tax 1,952% 2,270
Taxation 6453 750
Net Profit After Tax 1,307 1,520

45
Other expenses include $35,000 (1998 $74,000) paid to RBNZ Registry Limited's auditors for work undertaken outside their capacity as
auditors.



(c)
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RBNZ Registry Limited Statement of Movements in Equity

APPENDIX I

1999; 1998
For the year ended 30 June $000§ $000
Equity at Start of Year 3,867 4,347
Net Surplus for the Year 1,307! 1,520
Less Dividend provided for 2,000; 2,000
Equity at End of Year 3,174; 3,867




An.

32.
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Taxatlon

Section 180 of the Reserve Bank of New Zeatand Act 1989 exempts the Reserve Bank from income tax. The Bank
incurs and meets liabilities for goods and services tax and fringe benefit tax.

The Bank's subsidiary company, RBNZ Registry Limited, is liable for income tax. The table below relates only to
RBNZ Registry Limited.

1999: 1998
For the year ended 30 June $000§ $000
Income Tax Expense: :
Net Profi{ Before Tax 1,952? 2,270
Add Back Permanent Difference 3 2
1,955% 2,272
income Tax Expense at 33% 645, 750
Current Tax Charge:
Tax Effect of Timing Differences (15)5 {7
Current Tax Charge 6305 743
Deferred Taxation: !
Opening Balance ' (76)] (93)
Deferred Fortion of Current Tax Charge 165 6
1997/98 IRD Tax Assessment Adjustrnent - 11
Deferred Taxation Liability (Asset) (GO)E (76)

Custodial Activities

The Reserve Bank of New Zealand operates the Austraclear New Zealand System, which is a securities clearing
and setllement system. [t holds assets on behalf of the participants in the name of New Zealand Central
Securities Depository Limited (NZCSD), which it has appointed as custodian trustee in terms of the Trustee Act
1956.

NZC8D is a whoily-owned subsidiary of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand, which in terms of a Deed of
Appeintment between the Reserve Bank of New Zealand and NZCSD dated 19 May 1995 is incorporated solely
for the purpose of acting as a custodian trustee. With the exception of the local currency securities owned by the
Bank and held through NZCSD, the Reserve Bank has no beneficial interest in the securities which it hoids, or
any management obligations apart from safe keeping.

The total of securities held by NZCSD at 30 June 1999 was $83.0 billion (1998 $84.2 billion).



	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

